
                                

AGENDA

CABINET
THURSDAY, 20 DECEMBER 2018

2.00 PM

SHEKINAH, JUBILEE CHURCH LIFE CENTRE, LONDON ROAD, 
GRANTHAM, NG31 6EY

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

The Leader Councillor Matthew Lee, Cabinet Member for Cultural Services 
(Chairman)

The Deputy Leader Councillor Kelham Cooke, Cabinet Member for Business 
Transformation & Commissioning

Cabinet Members: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications 
Councillor Nick Neilson, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Retail & Visitor 
Economy
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health, Wellbeing & Skills
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Cabinet Support 
Officer:

Jo Toomey Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Cabinet are invited to attend this meeting to consider the items 
of business listed below.

1  APOLOGIES 

2  MINUTES FROM 1 NOVEMBER 2018 (Pages 3 - 12)

3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

4  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 2018/19: MID-YEAR UPDATE 
(RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL) (Pages 13 - 25)

To recommend in-year proposals to Council.



5  COUNCIL TAX BASE 2019/20 (RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL) (Pages 
27 - 32)

To determine the Council Tax Base to form the basis of the 2019/20 budget 
proposals to be recommended to Council.

6  JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR 
LINCOLNSHIRE (KEY DECISION) (Pages 33 - 136)

To agree to sign-up to the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for 
Lincolnshire.

7  MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES (Pages 137 - 146)

8  ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 
(Pages 147 - 238)

9  REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS (Pages 
239 - 241)

10  CABINET FORWARD PLAN (Pages 243 - 252)

11  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 1 NOVEMBER 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Brenda Sumner
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie Muddimer)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Governance (Ben Bix)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

3

Agenda Item 2



CO45. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

(1) Minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record subject to clarification that the Directors of DeliverSK were the Leader, the 
Deputy Leader and the Chief Executive, which differed from the membership 
described in report DSK002.

(2) Minutes of the meeting held on 4 October 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 October 2018 were agreed as a correct record.

CO46. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO47. ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION, STAMFORD

Decision:

The Cabinet recommends that Council 

1. Confirms the Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area as 
drafted and attached as Appendix 1 to report number DM15 and to 
cancel the existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction, both effective 
from 1 December 2018

2. The introduction of a fee of £206 for each planning application arising 
from the Direction

3. That any income surplus generated from the designation of this Article 4 
Direction is ringfenced for future investment within the area covered by 
the Direction.

Reasons for decision

1. Report number DM15 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
including the draft Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area (attached 
as Appendix 1 to the report)

2. The decision made by Cabinet on 12 April 2018 to approve the 
commencement of a formal process to remove permitted development rights 
for specific types of development within the Stamford Conservation Area

3. The increasing number of alterations being carried out under permitted 
development rights that may be harmful to the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area

4. Feedback from a period of public consultation on the proposed introduction of 
an Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area including written 
representations and feedback from drop-in sessions

5. Comments submitted by Stamford Town Council and Stamford Civic Society

4



6. The proposed £206 fee was the same as the fee payable by householders for 
an application for works that are not permitted development

7. The proposed application fee was intended to cover the cost of processing an 
application 

8. Comments made by Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17 October 
2018

9. The equality analysis attached as Appendix 3 to report number DM15 

Other options considered and rejected

To not designate an Article 4 Direction or for the Direction to apply to a smaller area. 
However, there has been no area-wide control over permitted development across 
the Stamford Conservation Area since it was first designated in 1967 and there has 
since been a gradual erosion of the architectural details and of historic fabric to a 
significant number of unlisted buildings to the detriment of the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area as a whole.

* * *

Report number DM15 was introduced by the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications, who explained that the report was being presented to Cabinet 
following a period of public consultation and discussions by the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. Together with support for this Direction, members of the Cabinet 
considered how similar Directions could be made in other areas of the district. 

Support for the introduction of an Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation area 
was articulated by a non-Cabinet Member from Stamford, while the support of the 
Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee was conveyed by its Chairman.

In introducing the Direction, work would be undertaken to support residents living in 
the Conservation Area to understand how the changes would affect them and what 
would be acceptable. Any lessons from the implementation of the Direction in 
Stamford Conservation Area would inform the rollout of other Directions across the 
district. It was noted that the cost of processing applications made as a result of the 
Article 4 Direction would need monitoring.

Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in the report, together with an 
additional recommendation that any surplus income generated through planning fees 
arising from the Article 4 Direction should be ringfenced for future investment in the 
area covered by the Direction.

CO48. *PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Decision:

Cabinet 

1. Approves the draft South Kesteven District Council Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy 

5



2. Delegates authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing to make minor 
amendments to the policy that may be required to support its continued 
effectiveness

Reasons for decisions

1. Report number ENV708 of the Cabinet Member for Housing and the draft 
policy attached as Appendix 1 to the report

2. The number of homes in the private rented sector in South Kesteven totalled 
approximately 12,700

3. The priority theme within the Housing Strategy 2017-2021 to encourage, 
support and regulate the private sector to provide well managed, safe homes

4. New legislation that introduced a range of measures to target the small 
minority of landlords and agents who rent out substandard accommodation 
and harass their tenants

5. Provisions within the Housing Act 2004 that allow the Council to recover 
reasonable expenses related to certain functions

6. The summary of responses received as a result of consultation on the draft 
policy

7. The initial equality analysis attached as Appendix 2 to report number ENV708

Other options considered and rejected

The Council is not obliged to introduce civil penalties as an alternative to prosecution 
and could continue with the current enforcement options. However, the enforcement 
policy will still require updating to reflect the recent changes to legislation.

* * *

In introducing report number ENV708 the Cabinet Member for Housing referred to 
the proportion of homes within the district that fell within the private rented sector. He 
also explained legislative changes designed to protect people living in the private 
rented sector and drew Members’ attention to the table of proposed penalties, which 
was included within the draft policy.

The introduction of civil penalties provided an alternative to criminal proceedings. In 
discussing the proposed penalties, Members were interested in whether there was 
any way to ensure certainty of payment, for example, whether a local land charge 
could be applied to a property should any landlord refuse to pay. While the Council 
could not impose a local land charge, it could enforce payment through the County 
Court. Members wanted the level of penalty and the surety of enforcement for non-
payment to send a message to any landlords attempting to let poor quality 
accommodation that the cheapest route for them was to maintain the property and 
keep it in good order.

Reference was also made to measures that were in place and being introduced to 
help insulate homes and reduce heating costs.

Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in report number ENV708.

6



CO49. *WARD MEMBER GRANT SCHEME

Decision:

Cabinet:

1. Notes the performance of the Ward Member grant scheme pilot during 
the first 6 months as set out in report number CFM476, together with 
details of organisations that have benefited from grants

2. Agrees that any unspent monies at the end of the year be transferred to 
the main Community Fund

3. Recommends to Council that an allocation be made for 2019/20 as part 
of the budget framework proposals in February 2019 and if agreed this 
should include a further review of the scheme after 6 months, i.e. as at 
30 September 2019

4. Approves the amendments to enable the streamlining of the approval 
process as set out in paragraph 1.11 of report number CFM476

Reasons for decision

1. Report number CFM476 of the Cabinet Members for Finance and 
Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills

2. Recommendations made by the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 23 January 2018 prior to the introduction 
of the pilot scheme

3. The pilot scheme approved by Cabinet on 8 March 2018, together with 
approval by Council of a one-year budget allocation of £56,000

4. An update on performance of the pilot scheme which was considered by the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 9 October 
2018

5. Overview information on the take-up of the scheme and grants issued, 
including the organisations that had benefited from the scheme

6. Recommendations made by the Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee relating to the approval process for grants, which was considered 
to be disproportionate given the scale of the sums involved

7. The application form used for the pilot scheme during 2018/19 (attached as 
Appendix A to report CFM476)

Other options considered and rejected

To not renew the Ward Member grant scheme following the 2018/19 pilot.

* * *

The Cabinet Members for Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills and Finance 
introduced report number CFM476 and explained the premise behind the pilot Ward 
Member grant scheme. 

7



It was noted that the pilot had received the support of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which had also made suggestions 
about streamlining the grant approval process and the fields within the application 
form, together with arrangements for submitting “joint forms where more than one 
Councillor wished to make a grant to the same body. 
 
A number of Members said that they had received positive feedback about the 
scheme. Reference was made to the first SK Lottery draw, (which had recently taken 
place) and the benefits it also provided for local good causes.

Members noted that a number of causes that had benefited from Ward Member 
grants had been incorrectly categorised and it was suggested future reports should 
list beneficiaries without categories to avoid this.

The recommendations in the report were agreed with the full support of all Cabinet 
members.

CO50. HOUSING STRATEGY 1 YEAR DELIVERY PLAN

Decision:

Cabinet notes the content of the six-month progress update against the year 
one delivery plan as attached at Appendix A of report number HS07

Reasons for decision

1. Report number HS07 of the Cabinet Member for Housing
2. Appendix A to report HS07, showing the status of the agreed actions within 

the year one delivery plan of the Council’s Housing Strategy and comments 
thereon

3. Outcomes in the Housing Strategy which were designed to improve the 
delivery of affordable housing, provide choice to enable people to live 
independently, ensure quality housing in the private rented sector and support 
housing need

Other options considered and rejected

Not applicable  

* * *

Report number HS07 gave an overview of progress against the Housing Strategy’s 
year-one action plan. Members spoke about the strategy’s focus on housing delivery. 
Specific reference was made to opportunities for using Council-owned plots of land to 
deliver additional houses, with an emphasis on single occupancy units. The Cabinet 
Member for Housing added that he would welcome any suggestions of Council-
owned land that may be suitable for development, both from other Councillors or 
members of the public.

8



Cabinet agreed the recommendations in report HS07.

CO51. TENANTS SURVEY RESULTS

Decision

Cabinet notes the outcome of the Survey of Tenants and Residents as set out 
in Appendix A to report number HS8

Reasons for decision

1. Report number HS8 of the Cabinet Member for Housing
2. The summary of findings from the Survey of Tenants and Residents included 

Appendix A of report HS8
3. The overview of proposed actions listed in report HS8

Other options considered and rejected

That the costs and efforts to improve satisfaction levels outweigh potential benefits 
and that 83% satisfaction is an acceptable position.

* * *

In presenting the results of the 2018 Survey of Tenants and Residents, which were 
attached as Appendix A to report HS8, the Cabinet Member for Housing explained 
the structure of the survey and highlighted the headline findings and actions that had 
arisen as a result of the responses received.

Anti-social behaviour was identified by 29% of respondents as the element of service 
that was most important to them. Members felt that it was important to understand 
respondents’ interpretation of that question and whether they had experienced anti-
social behaviour or whether they were grateful the service was available in the event 
that they should experience anti-social behaviour. If issues of anti-social behaviour 
were identified, then the Council should look at opportunities for services to join up to 
address that behaviour and use of tools such as the community trigger.

Questions were asked about the frequency with which the survey was conducted; 
ordinarily there would be five years between each survey, but SKDC had decided to 
re-survey residents within the next two to three years to gain feedback on the actions 
the Council was taking as a result of this survey.

The Cabinet Member for housing was asked about the demographics of survey 
respondents and what action could be taken to capture feedback from younger 
tenants; a majority of responses were received from tenants who were over 60 years 
of age.

The recommendations in report HS8 were agreed by the Cabinet.

14:55 – Councillor Robins left the meeting

9



CO52. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS324 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to Cabinet on 
4 October 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
stated that its next meeting, scheduled for 27 November 2018 had been cancelled. 
He added that a workshop on health and wellbeing which was scheduled to take 
place on 12 November 2018, was being postponed until January 2019.

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Reference was made to the meeting that was scheduled for 15 November 2018 and 
whether there was a possibility that updates on culture and arts projects would be 
available. 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny had nothing to add to the 
update that was included in the agenda.

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee summarised the 
items that had been considered at its last meeting. He added that the agenda for the 
Committee’s next meeting would include the quarter 2 outturn report for 2018/19.

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee had passed given his 
apologies for the meeting; in doing so he confirmed that the Committee had not met 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet and that consequently there were no 
recommendations to bring to the Cabinet’s attention.

CO53. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS326 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet that no 
non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to make representations prior to the 
publication of the agenda for this meeting. Since the agenda was published, two non-
Cabinet Members had indicated that they wished to make representations. 

The first representation was made by Councillor Ray Wootten, who referred to a 
meeting held between members of the Grantham Charter Trustees and a 
representative from the Belvoir hunt. He referred to comments that had been made 
on social media by anti-hunt protesters, which included threats and intimidation. He 
stated that Councillors had a responsibility to represent the whole community and 

10



listen to all sides of an argument and should be able to carry out their duties without 
fear and intimidation. A comment was added that it was the responsibility of all 
Councillors to challenge anti-social behaviour and threats.

Councillor Baxter, who made the second representation, posed three questions. The 
first question related to land at Tattershall Drive and the plans that were in place to 
discourage unauthorised vehicle access to the site. Following a previous 
representation from local residents, a fence had been erected however this had been 
damaged when travellers arrived on the site. A further meeting with residents had 
been scheduled to discuss how best to address the issues around the land to the 
benefit and satisfaction of local residents.

The second question related to the likely impact of the national Budget on SKDC’s 
medium and long-term financial forecasts, particularly in relation to changes in 
respect of business rates. The Cabinet Member for Finance stated that he welcomed 
the announcement that business rates would be cut by one-third for two years for 
shops, cafes and restaurants with a rateable value below £51,000. It was hoped that 
an initial assessment of the impact of the Budget would be incorporated into the 
quarter 2 outturn report that would be presented at the next meeting of the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The wider outcome would be better understood 
next year following completion of the Government’s spending review and the fairer 
funding review.

Councillor Baxter’s final question related to the proposed disposal strategy of the 
existing Deepings Leisure Centre when a new replacement facility had been put in 
place. The Leader as the relevant Cabinet Member stated that as part of ongoing 
work, a briefing would be made available for all Councillors and the local community.

CO54. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS327 of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet over the following 12-month period. The report 
also included items that were scheduled to be considered at Council meetings during 
the municipal year. 

Brief comments were made about work being undertaken by the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on street lighting and a review that was being 
undertaken by Lincolnshire County Council. Reassurance was given that lights for 
which SKDC was responsible remained switched on and that there were no plans to 
turn those lights off.

CO55. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON 
KEY AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS.

Report number LDS325 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet of 
decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last meeting of the 
Cabinet was held on 4 October 2018.

Appendix A: Purchase of land in Grantham

11



CO56. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:23.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

Decisions CO48 and CO49 (2) and (4) as made on Thursday, 1 November 2018 can 
be implemented on Monday 12 November 2018, unless subject to call-in by the 
Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members of 
the Council from any political group.

The recommendations made at item CO47 stand referred to Council on 22 November 
2018 while recommendation CO49(3) will be captured as part of the 2019/20 Budget-
setting process.

12



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20 December 2018

Financial Management 2018/19: Mid-Year Update 
(CFM480)

Decision
Proposal:

Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Cllr Adam Stokes- Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources
Tel: 01476 406210
Email: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 5 December 2018 

Gill Goddard – Senior Accountant
Tel: 01476 406208
Email: g.goddard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 5 December 2018

Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director - Resources
Tel: 01476 406301
Email: debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 5 December 2018 

Cllr Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
E-mail: adam.stokes@southeksteven.gov.uk 
Date: 5 December 2018  

13

Agenda Item 4

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:g.goddard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:adam.stokes@southeksteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY 
This report updates Cabinet on the full year forecast position for 2018/19 as at the end 
of Quarter 2 (30 September 2018).  The report covers the following areas:

 General Fund Revenue Budget (Section 2)
 Housing Revenue Account Budget (Section 3)
 Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA (Section 4)
 An update on the national financial context, including announcements in the 

Budget Statement and the latest position with the Business Rates Pilot 
(Section 5) along with recommendations in respect of amendments to the 
2018/19 General Fund Revenue Budget.

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is asked to:
 

1. Note the forecast 2018/19 revenue and capital outturn position for both the 
General Fund and HRA, as at the end of Quarter 2. 

2. Recommend to Council the allocation of the projected business rate financial 
growth as set out at paragraph 5.9.

3. Recommend to Council the changes to earmarked reserves as set out at 
paragraph 5.13.

4. Recommend to Council that approval to utilise Invest to Save reserve be 
delegated to the Cabinet member for Finance and the s151 officer.

5. Recommend to Council that approval to utilise the property maintenance reserve 
and the ICT reserve be delegated to the Deputy Leader of the Council and the 
s151 Officer.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council, having set a balanced budget at the start of the financial year, 
needs to ensure the delivery of this budget is achieved. Consequently, there 
is a requirement to regularly monitor progress so corrective action can be 
taken when required. 

2. GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET

2.1 The 2018/19 original general revenue budget approved by Council on 1 
March 2018 was set at £17.161m, this budget has been amended during the 
year to allow for budget adjustments. The budget as at 30 September 2018 is 
£18.785m as a result of the following amendments being approved during the 
year:

Revenue Budget amendment £’000
2017/18 Budget Carry forward and set asides 694
Environment SK 40
Deliver SK 100
One off costs arising from the Senior Management Restructure 710

14



2.2 The following table summarises the general fund budget position by 
Directorate as at 30 September 2018.  

Quarter 2
2018/19

 

Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast
Outturn                           

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
Priority Focus    
Commercial 6,051 6,172 6,244 72
Growth 6,773 6,689 7,211 522
Resources 4,337 5,844 5,994 150
Net Cost of Service 17,161 18,705 19,449 744
    
Interest and investment Income (250) (250) (287) (37)
Interest Payable 52 52 52 0
Minimum Revenue Provision 247 247 154 (93)
Depreciation (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) 0
Local Council Tax Support Scheme Grant 22 22 22 0
Reserves & Grants (1,960) (3,504) (3,437) 67
Total Net Cost of Service 11,872 11,872 12,553 681
    
Business Rates (4,400) (4,400) (4,400) 0
Business Rates Growth and S31 grants (250) (250) (2,200) (1,950)
Transfer from Business Rates volatility 
reserve (397) (397) (397) 0
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit 321 321 321 0
Council Tax (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) 0
Total Funding (11,872) (11,872) (13,822) (1,950)
(Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 (1,269) (1,269)*
     

*see the table on page 9 for the proposed allocation of the business rate growth

2.3 The most significant variances which have impacted on the deficit position are 
as follows:

2.4 Commercial

 Fuel prices have increased during 2018/19 which has resulted in an 
estimated overspend of £80k which is being funded from the Waste and 
Recycling initiatives reserve.  

 There is a forecast overspend of £45k on the vehicle repairs budget due 
to the number of external repairs that have been undertaken. The 
workshop does not have the equipment or expertise to be able to 
complete the specialist works that are required.

15



 Garden Waste income has exceeded the budget by £40k following 28,029 
households renewing their subscription and 891 new households signing 
up to the service.  

2.5 Growth

 The Council allocated £3.9m of Capital budget for property investment 
acquisition opportunities which have not yet been identified. This has 
resulted in a variance of £93k in the investment strategy income budget.

 The markets income budget has a shortfall of £42k due to reduced levels 
of income from Grantham market and the proposed increase in the 
number of market stalls in Stamford has not yet been implemented 
following consultation.

 There has been a reduction in the level of rental income received from 
third parties for the rental of Council Office accommodation which has 
resulted in a loss of income of £42k. This office space is currently being 
occupied by Council officers whilst the St Peter’s Hill Public Realm and 
Office remodelling work is completed.

 Car park income has a forecast variance of £250k following a reduction in 
the forecast compared with the budgets. There has been a modest 
increase in income from the additional spaces created in Stamford 
Cattlemarket.

 The 2018/19 budget included £100k income relating to the transfer of non-
dwelling HRA assets to the General Fund. The identified sites are in the 
process of being assessed for their suitability for housing development 
resulting in a forecast variance of £75k.

 There has been a significant increase in the demand for emergency 
accommodation which has resulted in a forecast overspend of £43k. Work 
is currently being undertaken to mitigate future costs.

2.6 Resources

 There is a forecast underspend of £219k of one-off from staffing budgets 
due to a number of vacant posts in Revenues and Benefits, ICT, 
Transformation, Legal and Customer Services.

 The HRA is recharged annually for the use of general fund support 
services. The basis for this recharge calculation has been reviewed which 
has resulted in £263k additional income to the general fund from the HRA 
for services provided.

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1 The original budget for 2018/19 was set at a surplus for the year of £6.668m. 
The budgeted surplus is transferred to the reserves in order to provide internal 
funding for the HRA capital programme.

3.2 The budget is adjusted in year to allow for budget virements, creation of set-
asides and centralisation of key budget headings. The forecast surplus has 
reduced to £6.095m which has resulted in a forecast overspend of £410k.  

16



Quarter 2
2018/19

 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
Expenditure 16,183 16,346 16,626 280
Income (25,439) (25,439) (25,309) 130
Net Cost of Service (9,256) (9,093) (8,683) 410
Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,816 2,816 2,816 0
Interest and Investment Income (228) (228) (228) 0
DEFICIT (SURPLUS) FOR THE YEAR 
ON THE HRA (6,668) (6,505) (6,095) 410
     

3.3 The most significant variances which have impacted on the reduced surplus 
position are as follows:

 The income expected from housing rents is £150k below budget due to 
estimated write-offs of £120k and the void rate being higher than 
expected. This is partly offset by forecast additional income of £20k from 
services and facilities charges

 There is a forecast overspend of £188k of the repairs and maintenance 
budget due to an increase in material costs and reactive works and the 
work force efficiency not being achieved due to vacancies being lower 
than anticipated.

 The workforce efficiency of £94k has also not been achieved on the 
Supervision and Management budget due to vacant posts being lower 
than anticipated. 

4. CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The original capital budget for 2018/19 was set at £14.839m. The budget is 
adjusted during the year as new projects are identified. The updated position 
of £17.478m is shown in the ‘Adjusted Budget’ column in the table below. A 
summary of the budget changes that have been approved during the year are 
as follows:

Date Capital Budget Adjustment £000
June 2018 Budget carry forwards 528
July 2018 Grounds Maintenance Vehicles 450
July 2018 St Peter’s Hill Public Realm 1,661

4.2 The following table summarises the general fund capital budget position as at 
30 September 2018. The capital budget has a forecast underspend of 
£2.133m which has reduced the in-year transfer from reserves by £1.5m and 
grant funding by £0.6m. It is anticipated that there will be requests to carry 
forward the underspent budgets and associated funding to 2019/20.  

17



GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - SEPTEMBER 2018
2018/19

 

Original 
Budget 
£000

Adjusted 
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

EXPENDITURE SUMMARY     
Growth 13,879 15,726 13,628 (2,098)
Commercial 835 1,585 1,585 0
Resources 125 167 132 (35)
 14,839 17,478 15,345 (2,133)
Financing Analysis     
Prudential Borrowing (2,000) (2,000) (2,000) 0
Use of Reserves (10,917) (13,513) (11,980) 1,533
Capital Receipts (788) (788) (788) 0
Capital Grants and Contributions (1,134) (1,177) (577) 600
 (14,839) (17,478) (15,345) 2,133
NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0
     

4.3 There are a number of both positive and negative variances which form the 
£2.133m underspend. The most significant variances are as follows:  

 There is a £1.4m underspend on the Gravitas Housing Scheme project. 
There was a delay in the commencement of this project which is a 12-
month project therefore it will be necessary to carry forward the funding 
into 2019/20. 

 The Council has received £797k of disabled facilities grant funding which 
is currently forecast to be underspent by £477k. Mandatory DFGs 
require a referral from Lincolnshire County Council Occupational 
Therapy Team. To date 66 applications have been received and 49 have 
been successful after meeting the criteria.  

4.4 The following table summarises the HRA capital budget position as at 30 
September 2018. The capital budget was set at £10.004m and currently has a 
forecast underspend of £2.224m which has reduced the in-year transfer from 
reserves. The underspend relates to the property development budget spend 
of which is dependent upon sites being identified for investment. It is 
anticipated that there will be a request to carry forward the underspent budget 
and associated funding to 2019/20.  

18



HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - SEPTEMBER 2018
2018/19

 

Original 
Budget 
£000

Adjusted 
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

HRA Investment Programme     
     
Stock Improvements & New Build Programme 9,680 9,680 7,456 (2,224)
Purchase of Vehicles 324 324 324 0
 10,004 10,004 7,780 (2,224)
Financing Analysis     
Major Repairs Reserve (4,214) (4,214) (4,215) (1)
Property Development Reserve (5,000) (5,000) (2,775) 2,225
HRA Capital Receipts (790) (790) (790) 0
 (10,004) (10,004) (7,780) 2,224
NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0

5. FINANCIAL UPDATE

Budget 2018

5.1  The Chancellor of the Exchequer presented his Budget 2018 to the House of 
Commons on 29 October 2018. Within the budget there were a number of 
new initiatives that will have an impact on the Council’s financial position in 
the short to medium term.  

5.2 The most significant to the Council is the confirmation that the Housing 
Revenue account borrowing cap was abolished from 29 October 2018 in 
England. The borrowing cap controlled local authority borrowing for house 
building and limited the borrowing that the Council could undertake for the 
HRA to £135m in total, of which we have £106m of outstanding debt leaving 
£29m headroom. The removal of the cap means that future borrowing 
decisions need to be assessed within the prudential framework mindful of 
ongoing affordability. 

5.3 There were a number of changes to business rates announced, many of 
which will come into effect from April 2019. The changes are summarised in 
the table below. The Council will be fully compensated for any loss of income 
from these initiatives through a section 31 grant.

Announcement Impact on SKDC
Providing upfront support to the 
business rates system through 
reducing bills by one-third for retail 
properties with a rateable value 
below £51,000, benefiting up to 90% 
of retail properties, for 2 years from 
April 2019, subject to state aid limits.

An initial assessment of the positive 
impact this will have on the 
businesses within the district has 
suggested that approximately 500 
businesses (88% all eligible retail 
units) will see a reduction in their 
rating liability from April 2019.

19



Announcement Impact on SKDC
The introduction of 100% business 
rates relief for all public lavatories 
from 2020/21 with the aim of helping 
keep these amenities open

The Council operates 4 public 
lavatories in the district and this 
proposal will result in a full year 
reduction of £11K in the rating bill of 
the Council.

Continuing with the £1,500 business 
rates discount for office space 
occupied by local newspapers in 
2019/20. 

This Council awarded relief totalling 
£3k in 2018/19 and will continue to 
provide this rating reduction in 
accordance with the budget 
announcement.

5.4 The Chancellor also announced that he was providing Councils with an 
additional £55m in 2018/19 for the Disabled Facilities Grant to provide home 
aids and adaptations for disabled children and adults on low incomes. It has 
been announced that the Council will receive £93,365 of additional allocation. 

5.5 Looking further ahead, the provisional settlement is expected during 
December 2018 which will include financial allocations for Councils across 
England and Wales and should include the details of the 19/20 100% 
business rates pilot authorities, New homes bonus allocations, baseline 
funding and details of revenue support grants (including whether the Council 
will be impacted by negative revenue support grant as currently predicted). A 
verbal update will be provided at the Cabinet meeting on 20 December if there 
is any information available.

2018/19 100% Business Rates Pilot for Lincolnshire

5.6 Members will be aware that the Council is currently part of the Lincolnshire 
(including North East Lincolnshire) pilot area. During the year careful 
monitoring and forecasting of the pilot has been undertaken by specialist 
financial advisors working alongside technical officers from each participating 
authority.

5.7 The current projection of performance for each authority as at quarter 2 is 
shown as:

Lincolnshire Pool Projected Business Rate 
Income above baseline

£’000
Lincolnshire Pilot Gain 34,574
South Kesteven 2,291
Total 36,865

5.8 It can be seen that based on current projections the additional growth for 
South Kesteven for 2018/19 is currently forecast to be £1.95m. It is important 
to note that this is a forecast as at 30 September and could change during the 
rest of the year if there are significant changes, for example, High Street retail 
closures and/or business closures.

20



5.9 Should the Council receive a one-off financial gain of £1.95m as currently 
projected, it is for Council to decide how the additional funding should be 
utilised. Given the current forecast position on the general fund revenue 
budget set out in Section 1 of this report, it is recommended that the first call 
on the business rate gain is addressing the overspend. Based on the 
forecasting undertaken the overspend as at 31 March 2019 is expected to 
£681k. It is anticipated that the forecast will change as the remainder of the 
year progresses. Therefore, the proposed allocations may vary depending on 
the final outturn position but the following are the current proposals:

Detail £’000
Business Rates gain

Allocated to the following:

1,950

Balancing the 2018/19 revenue budget (681)
Funding of new Priority Growth Projects in 2018/19 (see 5.10 below) (260)
Funding of one off urgent items arising in 2018/19 (see 5.11 below) (149)
Creation of a Small Grants for Local Businesses scheme (50)
Formation of a Property maintenance reserve in order to fund 
emergency repairs that may arise during the course of the financial year

(110)

Balance remaining to be set aside in a specific reserve to finance future 
Growth/Regeneration projects 

(700)

5.10 The proposed allocation referred to above was considered by the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 28 November 2018 and 
the Committee supported the proposed allocation as presented.

5.11 The following is a proposed allocation of funding to drive forward key priority 
projects themed within the headings:

Heading Proposed Allocation 
£’000

Leisure 80
Town Centres 63

Property Development 55
Business and Skills 62
Total 260

 
5.12 There are a number of emerging priority expenditure items that are proposed 

to be undertaken in this financial year. These items are one-off in nature and 
are summarised below:

21



Heading Proposed 
Allocation 
£’000

Summary commentary

Broad Street Stamford 
building works

25 Emergency repairs to Council owned 
premises

Red Lion Square 
Stamford feasibility 
works

12 Feasibility study for works to Red 
Lion Square building repairs, 
internal refurbishment 

Asbestos Management 
remedial works

50 Ongoing compliance works in 
accordance with Asbestos 
Regulations 2012 

Closed churchyards 40 Responsive repairs to specific close 
churchyards

Cyber security risk 
remediation 

10 Review of the Council’s compliance 
arrangements in relation to 
Government Digital Services

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

12 Feasibility exercise to consider the 
business case for the introduction of 
CIL

Total 149

5.13 Cabinet is asked to consider the allocation as identified above and make 
proposals to be considered by Council in January 2019. 

Review of Earmarked Reserves

5.14 The opportunity has been taken to review the Council’s earmarked reserves 
as part of the preparatory works for the development of the 2019/20 budget 
proposals. This review has focused on the discretionary reserves that are 
primarily used to fund specific projects and expenditure that are one-off in 
nature. The objective of this review was to ensure that the funds are 
earmarked in line with priorities and to consolidate reserves if appropriate. 
These are summarised as:

Reserve 
Heading

Forecast 
balance as 
at 31 March 
2019

£’000

Movement 

£’000

Proposed 
new balance

£’000

Comments

Service 
improvement 
reserve

355 (355) 0 Consolidated 
into Invest to 
Save reserve 

Invest to Save 
reserve

645 355 1,000 Transferred 
from Service 
improvement 
reserve

22



Reserve 
Heading

Forecast 
balance as 
at 31 March 
2019

£’000

Movement 

£’000

Proposed 
new balance

£’000

Comments

Property 
Maintenance 
reserve

0 110 110 Allocation from 
business rate 
growth.  
Established to 
provide funds 
for works that 
re required to 
Council owned 
buildings for 
which there is 
not annual 
revenue 
budget.  

ICT reserve 120 200 320 Allocation from 
local priorities 
reserve

Regeneration 
reserve

0 1,200 1,200 £700k from 
business rate 
growth and 
£500k from 
Local Priorities 
Reserve. 

Property Maintenance reserve

5.15 The primary purpose of this reserve is to provide in-year funding to support 
unforeseen expenditure that may arise in respect of the Council’s asset 
portfolio that would have a detrimental impact on the asset if not treated. It is 
recommended that the Cabinet member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning approve any in-year expenditure in accordance with business 
need.

ICT reserve

5.16 The ICT reserve is included as part of the Council approved budget 
framework and is utilised to respond to fluctuations in business requirements, 
unforeseen costs and in year ICT investment opportunities that may arise.  
The reserve can be utilised to ‘smooth out’ financial volatility and ease 
pressure during each financial year. It is recommended that the Cabinet 
member for Business Transformation and Commissioning approve any in-
year expenditure in accordance with business need.    

23



Regeneration Reserve

5.17 In order to provide the available financing for the acquisition of key strategic 
assets it is proposed to create a specific reserve for this purpose. The Council 
will use a combination of both internal and external borrowing as required 
which will incur a MRP (minimum revenue provision) allocation and possible 
interest costs (where external borrowing is undertaken). These costs will be 
charged directly to the reserve in order to avoid any budgetary pressure on 
the annual revenue budgets. The recent approved purchase approved by 
Council on 27 September will be financed from this reserve for the period the 
asset is held by the Council.   

Invest to Save Reserve

5.18 An invest to save reserve has been approved by Council and is included in 
the 2018/19 budget framework. The primary purpose of the reserve is to 
‘pump prime’ initiatives for projects that clearly demonstrate within a business 
case that cashable savings could be realised following a one off injection of 
investment. Examples of these initiatives include investment in modern 
equipment which then releases ongoing sustainable savings through cashable 
efficiencies. However, in some scenario’s the investment can be relatively 
speculative as the cost incurred may be to investigate a potential cost saving 
opportunity. Initiatives of this kind should also be encouraged where 
supported by a business proposal. 

5.19 In order to accelerate these proposals, it is important there is a mechanism in 
place that allows the resource to be release without unnecessary delay in 
order to achieve the savings as early as possible. Therefore, Cabinet is asked 
to consider that delegation is given to the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
the s151 officer (or their nominated officer) to consider and approve proposals 
for its use.  

6. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

6.1 Not applicable.

7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

8. RISK AND MITIGATION 

8.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Financial risk Specific parts of the financial commentary are 

based on forecasting information and will therefore 
be subject to review and potential amendments 
during the course of the remainder of the year

24



9. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, 
SAFEGUARDING etc.)

9.1 No impact analysis is required.

10. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising as a result of this report.

11. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

11.1 These are included in the report

12. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

12.1 As part of good governance it is important members are kept updated in 
respect of the financial position of the Council expenditure during the course 
of the year.

13. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

13.1 None.

14. APPENDICES

14.1 None.

15. BACKGROUND PAPERS

15.1 Determination of Budget 2018/19 and indicative budgets to 2020/21 – General 
Fund, Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital   Programmes 
report: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%
20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf

15.2 Financial Management Report for 2018/19 - April-June (Quarter 1) Monitoring 
Information report:
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20
201819%2025th-Jul-
2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.
pdf?T=9

15.3 Growth OSC 28 November 2018: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MId
=3638&Ver=4

25

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MId=3638&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MId=3638&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20th December 2018

Council Tax Base 2019/20 (CFM477)

Decision
Proposal:

Key Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Alison Hall-Wright – Head of Financial Services
Tel: 01476 40 62 08
E-mail: alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 12 November 2018

Richard Wyles- Assistant Director, Resources
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 23 November 2018

Debbie Muddimer – Strategic Director, Resources
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 30 November 2018 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
E-mail: adam.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date approved: 4 December 2018

SUMMARY
To approve the Council Tax base for the forthcoming financial year in accordance with 
the relevant legislation. This will form the basis upon which the Council will estimate 
Council Tax income for the 2019/20 budget.

27

Agenda Item 5

mailto:alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:adam.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
1. To recommend to the Council the approval of the tax base for the year 2019/20 

as detailed at Appendix A equating to  47,125.70.
2. To approve that the  collection rate for council tax is set at 98.80%.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by s84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 set out the requirements to allow each local authority to 
make its arrangements for adopting the Council Tax base. The Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 
2012:2914) provides amended statutory guidance to incorporate the changes 
as a result of the introduction of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
(LCTSS).

1.2 The Council Tax varies between the different bands according to proportions 
laid down in legislation.  These proportions are based around Band D, and are 
fixed so that the bill for a dwelling in Band A will be a third of the bill for a 
dwelling in Band H.  Applying the relevant proportion to each band’s net 
property base produces the number of ‘band D equivalent properties for the 
area.

1.3 In determining the Council Tax Base for 2019/20, a number of factors have 
been taken into consideration;

 The calculation of the tax base for parish purposes is based on the number 
of properties as at 10th September 2018 and the discounts and exemptions 
applicable on 1st October 2018, as prescribed by legislation.

 Then adjusting for the reductions in the tax base as a result of the LCTSS.   

1.4 The table below summarises the position; the proposed tax base for South 
Kesteven 2019/20 is 47,125.7 Band D equivalents.  This is an increase of 1.3% 
compared to 2018/19.  Appendix A analyses these figures at a Parish level. 

Table 1: Tax Base – Band D Equivalents

2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Total Band D 
Equivalents

51,061.9 50,575.5 50,306.5 49,779.57 49,243.00

Impact of LCTSS 
Discounts and 
Work Incentive

(3,936.2) (4,056.2) (4,187.1) (4,344.87) (4,489.8)

Total Band D 
Equivalent 
properties – with 
LCTS Scheme

47,125.7 46,519.3 46,119.4 45,434.7 44,753.2

 

1.5 The setting of a realistic and prudent collection rate for Council Tax in 2019/20 
is an essential component of the overall budget strategy. It is anticipated that a 

28



collection rate of 98.80%, which is in the top quartile nationally for the collection 
of council tax, will be achieved in 2018/19 and this will form the basis of the 
collection rate for 2019/20.  The council does not project future growth over the 
year so consequently does not adjust the tax base for any non-collection.  The 
following table shows the historic growth and collection rates the council has 
achieved over the past four years.

Table 2: Collection Rates

2018/19
(forecast)

2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Council Tax Collection Rate 98.80% 98.81% 98.80% 98.74%
Growth 0.87% 1.49% 1.54% 2.83%

1.6 As set out in Table 1, the LCTSS reduces the tax base and therefore the 
Council Tax income collected by individual precepting bodies. Alongside this it 
also impacts on the local precepting authorities’ (Parish and Town Councils) 
ability to raise their own precepts which, based on a standstill position, would be 
lower.  In the past the Government, through the revenue grant allocation, had 
allocated a proportionate amount to be passed onto to parishes to compensate 
them for the tax base reduction.  However the revenue grant has now been 
removed and so no funding will be passed onto parishes from 2019/20.

1.7 For the past three years parishes have been notified of the cessation of the 
grant from 2019/20 and have been asked to ensure that they adjust their 
precept accordingly.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 None. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 None.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
N/A

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 None. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

29



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 These are contained within the report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The approval of the council tax base detailed in this report is required in 
accordance with the legislation referred to. S67 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 sets out the requirements for council tax setting which can be 
discharged by full Council.  The proposals in this report will be considered by 
Council at its budget setting meeting.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A – 2019/20 Council Tax base by Parish

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None.

30



Appendix A
2019/20 Council Tax base by Parish

 

Total Band D 
Equivalents 

2019/20

Impact 
of LCTS

Adjusted 
Band D 

Equivalents 
2019/20

Grantham 12,367.2 (1,396.5) 10,970.7
Stamford 7,713.9 (587.3) 7,126.6
Bourne 5,964.7 (394.8) 5,569.9
Allington 372.2 (23.9) 348.3
Ancaster 607.6 (43.8) 563.8
Aslackby 116.4 (9.1) 107.3
Barholm & Stowe 35.5 (2.1) 33.4
Barkston and Syston 268.3 (23.9) 244.4
Barrowby 759.8 (45.9) 713.9
Baston 602.8 (21.4) 581.4
Belton & Manthorpe 203.0 (5.4) 197.6
Billingborough 516.8 (50.9) 465.9
Bitchfield 60.2 (6.8) 53.4
Boothby Pagnell 62.8 (2.4) 60.4
Braceborough & Wilsthorpe 140.3 (0.9) 139.4
Braceby, Humby, Ropsely, Sapperton 345.4 (30.3) 315.1
Burton Coggles 40.0 (1.3) 38.7
Careby 73.6 (0.4) 73.2
Carlby 213.7 (10.4) 203.3
Carlton Scroop and Normanton 131.3 (6.2) 125.1
Castle Bytham 312.1 (18.5) 293.6
Caythorpe & Frieston 546.3 (34.0) 512.3
Claypole 535.5 (26.1) 509.4
Colsterwoth, Gunby & Stainby, North Witham 800.1 (58.7) 741.4
Corby Glen & Birkholme 429.0 (25.9) 403.1
Counthorpe & Creeton 32.4 (6.8) 25.6
Deeping St James 2,591.2 (144.4) 2,446.8
Denton 128.3 (8.0) 120.3
Dowsby 60.7 (7.8) 52.9
Dunsby 52.7 (3.2) 49.5
Easton and Stoke Rochford 91.8 (10.1) 81.7
Edenham 118.9 (8.2) 110.7
Fenton 60.3 (1.0) 59.3
Folkingham 301.0 (28.1) 272.9
Foston 226.3 (8.2) 218.1
Fulbeck 231.8 (18.1) 213.7
Greatford 127.8 (2.4) 125.4
Great Gonerby 834.3 (95.4) 738.9
Great Ponton 140.0 (19.1) 120.9
Haconby & Stainfield 197.9 (12.7) 185.2
Harlaxton 350.3 (8.9) 341.4
Heydour 158.1 (4.2) 153.9
Honington 69.9 (5.6) 64.3

31



 

Total Band D 
Equivalents 

2019/20

Impact 
of LCTS

Adjusted 
Band D 

Equivalents 
2019/20

Horbling 176.7 (17.3) 159.4
Hougham 82.6 (4.9) 77.7
Hough-on-the-Hill 171.4 (6.5) 164.9
Ingoldsby 121.6 (3.8) 117.8
Irnham 108.8 (1.0) 107.8
Kirkby Underwood 84.2 (5.3) 78.9
Langtoft 781.9 (22.2) 759.7
Lenton 66.5 (2.5) 64.0
Little Bytham 119.6 (8.7) 110.9
Little Ponton & Stroxton 71.8 (5.4) 66.4
Londonthorpe & Harrowby 1,759.5 (88.6) 1,670.9
Long Bennington 968.5 (42.1) 926.4
Market Deeping 2,383.1 (191.3) 2,191.8
Marston 158.9 (5.8) 153.1
Morton & Hanthorpe 879.9 (61.4) 818.5
Old Somerby 95.4 (4.2) 91.2
Pickworth 78.3 (2.6) 75.7
Pointon 208.0 (15.1) 192.9
Rippingale 364.4 (21.6) 342.8
Sedgebrook 148.2 (2.7) 145.5
Skillington 139.7 (8.7) 131.0
South Witham 515.2 (57.1) 458.1
Stubton 80.6 (3.4) 77.2
Swayfield 146.0 (4.6) 141.4
Swinstead 97.7 (19.5) 78.2
Tallington 324.7 (18.6) 306.1
Thurlby 837.2 (40.3) 796.9
Toft Lound & Manthorpe 138.8 (2.2) 136.6
Uffington 318.8 (9.6) 309.2
Welby 82.1 (2.9) 79.2
Westborough & Dry Doddington 153.2 (9.1) 144.1
West Deeping 124.9 (6.7) 118.2
Witham-on-the-Hill 100.0 (4.4) 95.6
Woolsthorpe 162.0 (17.0) 145.0
Wyville cum Hungerton 19.5 0.0 19.5
Total by Billing Area 51,061.9 (3,936.2) 47,125.7

32



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20th December 2018

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire 
(ENV710)

Decision
Proposal:

Key Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Keith Rowe - Head of Street Scene
Tel: 01476 406 370    
E-mail: k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 28 November 2018

Ian Yates, Assistant Director - Commercial & Operational
Tel: 01476 406 201    
E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 28 November 2018

Tracey Blackwell -  Strategic Advisor – Housing Led Regeneration
Tel: 01476 406 058    
E-mail: t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 29 November 2018

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
E-mail: peter.moseley@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date approved: 30 November 2018

SUMMARY  

The draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) for Lincolnshire sets 
out how the eight local authorities in Lincolnshire and the Environment Agency will work 
in partnership to deliver sustainable waste management services and to deliver best 
value in doing so. The work is led by the County Council and managed through the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) which includes representation from each local 
authority. 

33

Agenda Item 6



The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the first draft Strategy 
(report ENV689) on the 24th April 2018. This was followed by a Member workshop 
which provided a response to the consultation. 

The LWP considered the results of the consultation and agreed final changes at its 
August meeting. All partners in the LWP will be recommending that their organisations 
adopt and support the joint strategy. 

Members of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the final 
document, presented as an appendix to report number ENV709, at the meeting of 20th 
November and recommended its approval by Cabinet.

RECOMMENDATION

That Cabinet adopts the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire 
as set out in Appendix 1 of this report.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The JMWMS considers the local authority collected waste in Lincolnshire which 
accounts for around 10% of the total waste produced by all sectors (e.g. 
agricultural, construction, industrial etc.). The strategy considers how the 
partnership will collect and treat the 368,000 tonnes of local authority collected 
waste each year. It is a statutory requirement to produce a JMWMS.

1.2 The final JMWMS document is attached at Appendix 1 of this report. It sets out 
the current position, detailing the total volumes; the anticipated growth; the 
associated waste infrastructure such as collection and treatment processes and 
the levels of recycling within the county.

1.3 The overall vision set out in the draft strategy is:

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer friendly 
waste management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire”

In addition, the LWP has developed a shared value:

“All objectives should also ensure that services under the Strategy represent 
the best possible environmental option which gives value for money for 
Lincolnshire residents”.

1.4 Ten specific objectives are detailed which are designed to enable the LWP to 
achieve its proposed vision as detailed on page 6 of the draft strategy.  The ten 
objectives are as follows:

Objective 1 To improve the quality and therefore 
commercial value of our recycling stream.

Objective 2 To move towards a common set of recycling 
materials.

34



Objective 3 To consider the introduction of separate food 
waste collections where technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable.

Objective 4 To explore new opportunities of promoting 
waste minimisation and using all waste as a 
resource in accordance with the waste 
hierarchy.

Objective 5 To contribute to the UK recycling target of 50% 
by 2020 and 55% by 2025.

Objective 6 To find the most appropriate ways to measure 
our environmental performance and set 
appropriate targets.

Objective 7 To seek to reduce our carbon footprint.
Objective 8 To make an objective assessment of what 

further waste processing/disposal capacity is 
required and as necessary, secure appropriate 
capacity.

Objective 9 To regularly review the LWP governance 
model in order to provide the best opportunity 
to bring closer integration and the 
implementation of the objectives set by the 
strategy.

Objective 10 To consider appropriate innovative solutions in 
the delivery of our waste management 
services.

2. Consultation

2.1 The feedback from the consultation exercise can be found in Appendix B of the 
strategy. In the main, most feedback was supportive with 89% agreeing or 
strongly agreeing with the vision and 75% agreeing or strongly agreeing that the 
proposed objectives will achieve that vision.   The main changes following the 
consultation were:

o Strengthening of some of the strategic objectives, whilst keeping the 
overall meaning.

o Adding an initial Action Plan (included in the JMWMS as Appendix D) to 
indicate ways in which the LWP will work together to achieve the agreed 
objectives.

o Increasing the emphasis placed on waste minimisation in Objective 4.

3. Collective Agreement

3.1 Obtaining agreement from 8 different organisations to produce the JMWMS has 
been achieved through discussion and debate at the LWP. Different Authorities 
may have slightly different priorities. However, in the main, the attached 
Strategy provides a good platform from which all partners can work collectively 
towards a common set of goals.

35



3.2 One area of focus specifically effecting South Kesteven has been around 
Objective 3. The wording remains to “consider the introduction of separate food 
waste collections”. Members will recall that on behalf of the LWP South 
Kesteven is currently trialling a food waste collection service for 12 months. 
This commenced on the 4th July 2018 with the intention of assessing its benefits 
both in terms of improving the amounts recycled but also in terms of overall 
waste collected. The accuracy of the data being collected will increase over 
time. The intention is to assess the impacts of the trial and evaluate how the 
scheme could be expanded at no additional cost to South Kesteven District 
Council. 

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 None. As a two-tier local authority area Lincolnshire is required, by law, to have 
a shared waste strategy.   

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The JMWMS currently has had no financial evaluations.  The financial impact 
will need to be evaluated if there are any resulting changes to service delivery. 

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

6.1 At this stage in the process no significant risks have been identified.

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

7.1 Any changes to front line services will require impact analysis to be undertaken.

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 None identified.

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

9.1 It is assumed that the adoption of the JMWMS and the specific objectives set 
out at 1.4 will be met from existing budgetary resources.    However, should any 
costs arise from the adoption of this strategy and its associated action plan that 
exceed current budget levels, then subsequent resource approval should be 
sought.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

10.1 Under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, authorities in two-tier areas 
have a duty to have, and to keep updated, a shared waste strategy.  The 
provisions of s.32 of the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003 are specific 
about the duty to formulate policy and keep it under review. It allows Waste 
Collection Authorities (WCA) and Waste Disposal Authorities (WDA) to work 
together in deciding how they will manage municipal waste in their area.

36



10.2 The adoption of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
(JMWMS) proposed in this report would fulfil the duty set out at s.32 which 
requires the waste authorities for a two-tier area to have for the area a joint 
strategy for the management of:

(a) waste from households, and

(b) other waste that, because of its nature or composition, is similar 
to waste from households.

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

11.1 None

12. APPENDICES

12.1 Appendix 1 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

13.1 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire June 2008

13.2 Report Number ENV689, Joint Municipal Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire to 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 24 April 2018 

13.3 Report Number ENV709, Joint Municipal Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire to 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 20th November 2018

13.4 Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/section/32

37

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/upload/public/attachments/892/joint_municipal_waste_management_strategy_for_lincolnshire_june_2008.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3489&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3721/Public%20reports%20pack%2020th-Nov-2018%2010.30%20Environment%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/section/32


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 2018 

 

39

Appendix 1



40



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 3 of 59 

Table of contents 

Foreword – By Chair and Vice Chair of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

1 Summary 

2 Introduction 

3 What are the key legislative drivers? 

4 How has the strategy been developed? 

5 Where are we today? 

6 What are we aiming for? 

7 How will we get there? – Our "Forward Plan" 

8 The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing the strategy 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Development of Vision & Objectives 

Appendix B – Consultation Results 

Appendix C – Neighbouring Authorities 

Appendix D – Initial Action Plan 

Appendix E – Glossary of Terms & Abbreviations 

  

41



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 4 of 59 

Foreword 

By Chair and Vice Chair on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

Welcome and thank you for your interest in Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's 

waste management strategy for Lincolnshire.  

It is clear the cost of waste collection and disposal in the county will increase 

over the coming years, a fact that led all eight partner agencies to come 

together and work towards a sustainable strategy for today and for the future. 

The LWP consulted the public on the strategy and it has now been formally 

adopted. It is aimed at keeping those expected cost increases to a minimum, 

while safeguarding our environment and making the best use of the resources 

available to us. 

However, it is not just local action that is needed to make a difference. The 

strategy includes plans to lobby for changes to current legislation, particularly 

around food packaging. 

Where we can't reduce waste or recycle it, we need to use it as a resource in 

itself – to create energy – and the waste partnership will work with other 

organisations to make sure we can do this as efficiently and economically as 

possible.  

The joint strategy has been put together with the help and hard work of 

councillors and officers from the partner councils and with input from the 

public. 

But this is just the beginning of our work. It is a plan of action for the LWP to 

follow, but with the flexibility required to make it possible for all of us to 

improve and develop our waste reduction, recycling and disposal efforts. 

  

42



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 5 of 59 

1 Summary 

This Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) for Lincolnshire sets out how the 

members of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work in partnership to protect the 

environment by delivering sustainable waste management services and to establish best value waste 

management practices for the benefit of Lincolnshire. 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this Strategy is: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-

friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 

Lincolnshire.” 

 

1.1 This version of the Strategy 

This final version of the Strategy has been prepared and revised in discussion with the members of 

the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP).  It takes into account feedback received during a period of 

public consultation undertaken between April and July 2018. 

In addition to the endorsement of the LWP as a body, each partner council has adopted this JMWMS 

through its own formal processes. 

 

1.2 Layout of the document 

In addition to this summary, the Strategy includes the following chapters. 

2. Introduction 

Gives more detailed background information about why we need a new Strategy. 

3. What are the key legislative drivers? 

Background information which has been taken into account in shaping the Strategy. 

4. How has the strategy been developed? 

Details of the process followed to develop this Strategy. 

5. Where are we today? 

An assessment of the Partnership's current services and future needs. 

6. What are we aiming for? 

Our vision and objectives for what we want to achieve. 

7. How will we get there? 

Sets out the types of action identified to fulfil our objectives – These will be expanded upon 

in further detail in a separate Action Plan to be updated annually. 

8. The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing the strategy 

How we will check that we are fulfilling our objectives. 

43



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 6 of 59 

This document also includes a number of appendices which give further explanatory details to 

support the main text.  One of these, Appendix D, is the initial Action Plan setting out the work 

which the LWP will undertake to move forwards with the objectives of this Strategy.  As stated 

elsewhere, the Action Plan will be reviewed annually to ensure that it remains up to date. 

 

1.3 Where are we today? (see Chapter 5) 

In order to consider what we would like to achieve and how we might do so, it is important to 

establish where we are starting from.  Chapter 5 sets out detailed information, including: 

 An analysis of the nature and performance of existing services; 

 The impact of any service changes already firmly planned (if any); 

 Projections of future waste quantities; and 

 The impact of changes in waste quantities on overall performance if no changes, other than 

those already firmly planned, are introduced. 

This information makes it clear that, whilst we have achieved a lot in recent years, we now face a 

number of challenges, such as: 

 A growing population producing more waste each year; 

 Funding from central government decreasing each year; 

 A falling recycling rate locally and a stalled rate nationally, whilst the national government is 

committing to higher targets set by the EU; 

 Waste going into the wrong bin – A quarter of what we receive in our recycling collections is 

not recyclable, whilst a quarter of what we receive in our general waste collections is 

actually recyclable; and 

 Volatile markets for recyclable materials. 

 

1.4 What are we aiming for? (see Chapter 6) 

In order to work towards our vision, the Partnership has developed and agreed a set of high-level 

objectives, which are key drivers for the delivery of this strategy.  In line with the vision, each of 

these objectives is to be considered in the light of the Partnership’s shared values that: 

All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the Strategy represent the best 

possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

The ten objectives are as follows: 

Objective 1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream. 

Objective 2. To move towards a common set of recycling materials. 

44



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 7 of 59 

Objective 3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections where technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable. 

Objective 4. To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of using all 
waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

Objective 5. To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

Objective 6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, 
and set appropriate targets. 

Objective 7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate capacity. 

Objective 9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives 
set by the strategy. 

Objective 10. To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 
management services. 

 

1.5 How will we get there? (see Chapters 7 & 8) 

In order to achieve these objectives, this Strategy is accompanied by a separate Action Plan, the 

initial version of which is attached as Appendix D, detailing what will be done when and by whom.  

The Action Plan will be reviewed and revised annually to ensure that it remains up to date and 

addresses any new challenges arising during the lifetime of the Strategy. 

Chapter 7 sets out some of the themes which are reflected in the action plan: 

 Seeing the wider picture (see section 7.1) 

o Developing links with other local authorities 

o Engaging with the commercial sector 

o Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps 

 Balancing economic and environmental benefits (see section 7.2) 

o Ensuring value for money 

o Caring for the environment 

o Finding the balance in practice 

 Reviewing what we collect and how (see section 7.3) 

 Getting our messages across (see section 7.4) 

o To those living in Lincolnshire – e.g. What to put in which bin 

o To the national government – Influencing national strategy and policy to tie in with 

our own 

o To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc. 

o To the commercial sector – To waste producers and waste businesses 

Chapter 7 also summarises (see section 7.5) each of the key workstreams which are included in the 

Action Plan. 

45



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 8 of 59 

We will also (as detailed in Chapter 8) ensure that we keep working to achieve our objectives 

throughout the lifetime of this Strategy.  This will include: 

 Monitoring the strategy (see section 8.1) – Measuring our performance both in existing 

ways (such as recycling percentages) and in new ways which better reflect how we are doing 

compared to our strategic objectives. 

 Implementing the strategy (see section 8.2) – Ensuring that our work is: 

o Appropriately funded, 

o Done in partnership across the members of the LWP, and 

o Properly focussed through the use of an action plan. 

 Reviewing the strategy (see section 8.3) – This will, in line with government guidance, 

happen at least every five years, and will also need to react to changing circumstances such 

as the UK's departure from the European Union. 

  

46



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 9 of 59 

2 Introduction 

2.1 Background 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within Lincolnshire 

responsible for collection and disposal of waste, including: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln 

Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland District 

Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council; 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council; and 

 One Waste Regulatory Authority – The Environment Agency. 

This Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) provides a strategic framework through 

which the partners of the LWP can express their shared vision and strategic objectives for the 

handling of municipal waste.  Furthermore, it meets the requirements of the Waste and Emissions 

Trading Act 2003 to have such a joint strategy. 

The LWP’s previous Strategy was adopted in 2008, necessitating this review.  This new Strategy has 

been developed as a joint venture between the WDA and the WCA’s, with significant commitment 

from all members of the LWP in order to arrive at a genuinely shared vision and future strategy. 

In addition to this main Strategy document, the JMWMS process has produced: 

 A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), as required under the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.  The SEA provides a thorough 

environmental assessment of a number of scenarios which can deliver the objectives set by 

the strategy.  In accordance with Government guidance, the SEA process, including the 

preparation of an Environmental Report, has been conducted at the same time as 

developing the Strategy; and 

 An Action Plan of work to be undertaken to move towards the objectives identified in the 

Strategy.  The intention is to update the Action Plan annually for the lifetime of this Strategy. 

The initial Action Plan is attached as Appendix D to this document.  The SEA Environmental Report is 

available from the JMWMS web page1. 

 

2.2 Scope and context 

In developing this Strategy, a balance has been sought between reducing costs and "doing the right 

thing" environmentally.  "Doing the right thing" (ideally the "best" thing) involves reference to a 

number of key documents. 

  

                                                           
1
 https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/ 

47



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 10 of 59 

 

2.2.1 The Waste Hierarchy 

Article 4 of the revised EU Waste Framework Directive lays down a five-step hierarchy of waste 

management options which must be applied by Member States in this priority order.  In order of 

preference, these options are shown below in Figure 2-1. 

Figure 2-1  The Waste Hierarchy 

 

The Waste Hierarchy helps to encourage a change in thinking so that waste is considered as a 

resource to be made use of, with disposal being the last resort. 

Regulation 12 of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012 asserts the need for us to 

consider the Waste Hierarchy in choosing how to handle all our waste streams, so this directs the 

principles under which our Strategy must be written. 

It should also be noted that the most preferred options are to prevent things from becoming waste 

in the first place, or to make it possible to reuse them.  This is reflected in our Objective 4 which has 

now, as described in Section 6.1, been expanded to specifically mention waste minimisation. 

2.2.2 UK Policy and Legislation on Waste 

This includes the following, further details of which are given in section 3.2 of this Strategy: 

 Waste Management Plan for England (2013) 

 25 Year Environment Plan (January 2018) 

 Resources and Waste Strategy (due during 2018) 

2.2.3 Lincolnshire's Previous Waste Strategy (2008) 

Lincolnshire’s previous Waste Strategy identified 10 key objectives.  Considerable progress has been 

made on these over the last decade, including: 

Objective 5 To increase progressively the recovery and diversion of biodegradable waste from 
landfill, to meet and exceed the Landfill Directive diversion targets. 

Objective 6 To ensure that residual waste treatment supports energy recovery and other 
practices higher up the waste hierarchy. 

48

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjv_aHW2tLYAhXQYVAKHfEWBiAQjRwIBw&url=http://islwastemanagement.co.uk/isl-blog/waste-hierarchy-duty-of-care-in-northern-ireland-what-businesses-need-to-know/&psig=AOvVaw20FO1aXMelyDTBBagaaOZa&ust=1515856229051561


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 11 of 59 

Through the building of the new Energy from Waste (EfW) 

facility in Hykeham, which began receiving waste in 2013, we 

now send less than 5% of our waste to landfill.  This reduced our 

landfill tonnage so much that we achieved our 2020 Landfill 

Directive diversion target as soon as the EfW was in full 

operation, and we have continues to achieve that target in every 

year since then. 

Our EfW facility also ensures that our residual waste is treated 

higher up the waste hierarchy than landfill. 

Objective 7 To deliver best value for money waste management services, addressed on a 
countywide basis. 

The lifetime of our 2008 Strategy has coincided with a period of unprecedented cuts to the funding 

which local authorities receive from national government.  The LWP authorities have achieved large 

budget savings during this time, but have continued to provide a high level of service to the public. 

Whilst our previous objectives were considered in developing this new Strategy, it is important to 

note that: 

 Some of those objectives have already met – e.g. Objective 5 as described above. 

 The new Strategy needs to reflect the changing political landscape – e.g. Financial austerity 

and the UK's exit from the European Union. 

 Changing the focus may help to renew the impetus and impact which have been lost as the 

previous Strategy has aged. 

 

2.3 What does the waste strategy cover? 

This Strategy is intended to fulfil the duty, under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act (2003) that: 

"The waste authorities for a two-tier area must… have for the area a joint strategy for the 

management of… waste from households, and… other waste that, because of its nature or 

composition, is similar to waste from households" 

In preparing this Strategy, in order to ensure a holistic approach and to identify possible synergies, 
the process also needs to take into account links between: 

 The Waste Strategy as a whole and the LWP partner authorities' strategic approach to other 
related matters, including (but not limited to): 

o Other environmental matters (e.g. Natural Environment Strategy) 
o Public health 
o Economic growth (e.g. Development Plans) and the consequential effects on waste 

growth. 

 Our Waste Strategy and those of neighbouring local authorities, and 

 Each individual Objective and all other Objectives within the Strategy. 

  

49



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 12 of 59 

3 What are the key legislative drivers? 

This chapter outlines the main legal requirements for waste management that the Partnership has 

either already met or will need to meet as new legislation and requirements are introduced. It then 

considers the legislation regarding planning for any new waste management facilities and services 

that may be required to enable the Partnership to meet its future targets. 

 

3.1 European waste policy and legislation 

The European Union is currently the major source of the UK's environmental legislation and 

guidance in relation to the management of waste.  Whilst, in the longer term, the UK's exit from the 

European Union may see the UK diverge from EU waste policy and legislation, the UK Government 

have indicated their intention to continue to comply with EU legislation for the foreseeable future. 

A number of European Directives have been introduced which aim to increase levels of recycling and 

recovery, and thus reduce the amount of waste which is landfilled.  A number of these have recently 

been amended as part of the EU's Circular Economy Package (CEP) which came into force on 4th July 

2018.  In particular, the CEP includes changes to the Waste Framework Directive and Landfill 

Directive, both of which are key drivers for the LWP's strategic thinking. 

Full details of the CEP are available online, for example on the website of the Council of the EU2, but 

they are summarised below under the following headlines: 

 Waste Hierarchy 

 Recycling/reuse targets 

 Separate collections of specific materials 

 Landfill targets 

3.1.1 Waste Hierarchy 

This provides a framework of how sustainability in waste management can be increased 

progressively.  It is described in detail in Section 2.2.1 of this JMWMS. 

3.1.2 Recycling/reuse targets 

The UK government is committed to meeting the EU targets for the recycling of "municipal waste" 

(Table 3-1).  However, it should be noted that the definition of this differs from that of the former 

headline UK recycling rate (National Indicator 192).  Indeed, different EU member states measure 

this in a variety of ways, and the LWP has joined others in lobbying the UK government to consider 

including the recycling of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) which would considerably boost the LWP's 

reported recycling rate.  Indeed, the reported rate for the UK as a whole already includes the 

recycling of metals extracted from IBA, whereas the official rate for individual councils does not.  

Further information regarding this can be found in section 5.5 of this Strategy. 

                                                           
2
 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2018/05/22/waste-management-and-recycling-

council-adopts-new-rules/ 

50



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 13 of 59 

Table 3-1 EU recycling/reuse targets 

 By 2020 By 2025 By 2030 By 2035 

Total reuse and recycling of 
municipal waste 

50% 55% 60% 65% 

 

3.1.3 Separate collections of specific materials 

Before the introduction of the CEP there was already a requirement, transposed into UK law, for 

separate collections of paper, metal, plastic and glass: 

 "Where necessary… to ensure that waste undergoes recovery operations… and to facilitate 

or improve recovery"; and 

 "if technically, environmentally and economically practicable" (or "TEEP" for short). 

The CEP supplements this with the requirement, subject to the same "TEEP" caveat, for separate 

collections of: 

 "Bio-waste" (including food waste) by 31st December 2023; and 

 Textiles and hazardous waste by 1st January 2025. 

It remains to be seen how these requirements will be reflected in the new UK Resources and Waste 

Strategy or transposed into UK law, particularly in the light of the "TEEP" caveat.  This should 

become clearer with the publication of Defra's new Resources and Waste Strategy due towards the 

end of 2018. 

3.1.4 Landfill targets 

The UK Government responded to the original EU Landfill Directive both by setting equivalent 

targets (under the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme, LATS) for each local authority, and by 

increasing the cost of landfill through an escalating rate of Landfill Tax, and the UK has achieved the 

2020 target well ahead of time.  Whilst the LWP's development, under its previous Waste Strategy, 

of an energy from waste facility brought us well within our LATS targets, the minimisation of our 

Landfill Tax bill, particularly in the face of predicted population and waste growth, remains a key 

driver. 

 

3.2 National waste policy and legislation 

Much of the UK's waste legislation transposes the above EU legislation.  It is currently unclear how 

Brexit will affect UK legislation in the future, but the UK Government has expressed a desire initially 

to retain EU-related waste legislation. 

Another element of uncertainty surrounds the UK Government's long-anticipated 25 Year 

Environment Plan which was published in January 2018.  Whilst the Plan contains, as described 

below, some pledges on waste, the promised new Resources and Waste Strategy is anticipated to 

arrive around the same time as the adoption of this Lincolnshire Strategy.  This JMWMS is intended 

51



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 14 of 59 

to be flexible enough to react to any significant changes resulting from that new national strategy, 

particularly through the commitment to an annual review of the accompanying Action Plan. 

3.2.1 Waste Management Plan for England 

The 2013 Waste Management Plan for England sets out a number of strategic priorities which need 

to be taken into account in this Strategy for Lincolnshire.  These include: 

 Implementing the Waste Hierarchy. 

 Measures to promote high quality recycling. 

o The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011, transposing the revised EU Waste 

Framework Directive, require the separate collection of waste paper, metal, plastic and 

glass from 2015 onwards wherever separate collection is necessary to get high quality 

recycling, and is practicable. 

o The Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP), will advise local authorities and 

others, including on best practice in collections. 

o The introduction of Regulations relating to Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs), including 

mandatory sampling weights and frequencies for inputs and outputs. 

 Separate collection of biowaste. 

o The Government has identified anaerobic digestion as the best technology currently 

available for treating food waste. 

3.2.2 UK 25 Year Environment Plan 

The government's 25 Year Environment Plan3 was published in January 2018.  On the subject of 

waste it included, on page 29, the following commitment. 

We will minimise waste, reuse materials as much as we can and manage materials at the 

end of their life to minimise the impact on the environment. We will do this by: 

 Working towards our ambition of zero avoidable waste by 2050 

 Working to a target of eliminating avoidable plastic waste by end of 2042. 

 Meeting all existing waste targets – including those on landfill, reuse and recycling – 

and developing ambitious new future targets and milestones. 

 Seeking to eliminate waste crime and illegal waste sites over the lifetime of this Plan, 

prioritising those of highest risk. Delivering a substantial reduction in litter and 

littering behaviour. 

 Significantly reducing and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic 

pollution – in particular material that came originally from land. 

The Plan includes a statement (page 85) that Defra will be: 

Publishing a new Resources and Waste strategy in 2018 aimed at making the UK a world 

leader in resource efficiency. It will set out our approach to reducing waste, promoting 

                                                           
3
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/673203/25-year-

environment-plan.pdf 

52



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 15 of 59 

markets for secondary materials, incentivising producers to design better products and how 

we can better manage materials at the end of life by targeting environmental impacts. 

It is currently anticipated that this Resources and Waste strategy will be released in October 2018.  

Our Strategy Action Plans for future years will need to take this new national strategy into account, 

particularly with regard to any specific targets which are set. 

3.2.3 National Planning Policy  

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), introduced in March 2012 and revised in July 2018, 

sets out the Government's national planning policies for England.  This is supported by online 

Planning Practice Guidance. The overarching aim of the NPPF is to achieve sustainable development 

by ensuring economic, social and environmental gains are sought jointly and simultaneously through 

the planning system. At the centre of this is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

The NPPF must be taken into account in the preparation of  development plan documents, and is a 

material consideration in planning decisions. However, whilst the NPPF includes both general 

policies and specific policies, the specific policies do not extend to waste.  Instead, these are set out 

in the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (October 2014).  

The NPPW sits alongside the National Waste Management Plan (December 2013) and sets out the 

national framework for planning for waste management.  It outlines the planning system's key roles 

in delivering the new facilities that are essential for implementing sustainable waste management 

and protecting the environment and human health.  The emphasis is on delivering sustainable 

development, driving waste up the hierarchy, seeing waste as a resource and disposal as the last 

option. 

3.2.4 Other National Strategies 

The UK Government has set out several other Strategies which include elements relating to waste 

management. 

 The Industrial Strategy sets out plans: 

o For "moving towards a regenerative circular economy"; 

o To "take further measures to strengthen the markets for secondary materials"; and 

o To further develop the "Midlands Engine". 

 The Clean Growth Strategy – Includes, under the heading "Enhancing the Benefits and Value 

of Our Natural Resources", proposals to: 

o "Work towards our ambition for zero avoidable waste by 2050, maximising the value 

we extract from our resources, and minimising the negative environmental and 

carbon impacts associated with their extraction, use and disposal"; 

o "Publish a new Resources and Waste Strategy"; 

o "Explore new and innovative ways to manage emissions from landfill"; and 

o "Invest £99 million in innovative technology and research for agri-tech, land use, 

greenhouse gas removal technologies, waste and resource efficiency". 

 

53



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 16 of 59 

3.3 The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP) 

The County Council has produced the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan under its statutory 

duties as the Mineral and Waste Planning Authority for the County. Planning law requires that all 

applications for planning permission for waste development must be determined in accordance with 

this plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  This plan is comprised of two parts, 

each forming a development plan document: 

 the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (CSDMP) document (adopted on 1 

June 2016) – which sets out the key principles to guide the future extraction of minerals and 

the form of waste management development in the County up to 2031, together with the 

development management policies against which applications for those types of 

development will be assessed; and 

 the Site Locations document (adopted on 15 December 2017), which includes specific 

proposals and policies for the provision of land for mineral and waste development. 

The Strategic Objectives of the plan include: 

 protecting the environment and local communities from the negative impacts of waste 

development, reducing residual impacts and delivering improvements where possible, and 

ensuring new facilities include high standards of design and layout, sustainable construction 

methods, good working practices and environmental protection measures; 

 through prioritising the movement of waste up the waste hierarchy,  minimising greenhouse 

gas emissions by reducing reliance on landfill, maximising opportunities for the re-use and 

recycling of waste, facilitating new technologies to maximise the renewable energy potential 

of waste as a resource, and promoting the use of carbon capture technology; and 

 delivering adequate capacity  for managing waste more sustainably when it is needed; and 

ensuring waste is managed as near as possible to where it is produced. 

In relation to waste, the plan is based on directing new waste facilities, including extensions, to areas 

in and around the County's main settlements (Lincoln, Boston, Grantham, Spalding, Bourne, 

Gainsborough, Louth, Skegness, Sleaford and Stamford) where the highest levels of waste are 

expected to be generated. The strategy does, however, recognise that some developments are likely 

to be developed outside these areas, including biological treatment of waste such as anaerobic 

digestion and open-air windrow composting.  

The plan identifies, through the Site Locations document, locations for a range of new or extended 

waste management facilities to meet the predicted capacity gaps for waste arisings in the County for 

the period up to and including 2031. This will involve the building of waste management facilities for 

recycling and an energy from waste facility mainly for the management of Local Authority Collected 

Waste, and commercial & industrial waste. The plan identifies that facilities for the management of 

the county's Local Authority Collected Waste are already in place, with any future needs relating to 

replacement facilities. There is no requirement for further landfill facilities. The need for specialised 

thermal treatment and hazardous landfill would continue to be met by national facilities outside the 

county.  The plan also safeguards waste management facilities from redevelopment to non-waste 

uses or from the encroachment of incompatible development. 

54



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 17 of 59 

The plan makes provision to meet the requirement for waste facilities through one  site   specifically 

allocated and safeguarded for waste development, and 16 areas (industrial areas) where waste uses 

are considered acceptable alongside other industrial and employment uses (providing flexibility and 

choice). 

To sum up, the Lincolnshire MWLP provides the spatial context and locational criteria for new waste 

facilities covering all waste streams.  Whilst it sets out the predicted requirement for new facilities, 

this is only indicative and is used to ensure that sufficient land is available for new waste facilities to 

meet the capacity gaps.  In practise, the LMWLP has allocated far more land for future waste 

management than will be required in order to allow flexibility.  The LWP will therefore need, 

particularly in considering the need for the development of new waste management facilities, to 

refer to the Lincolnshire MWLP. 

 

3.4 Relationship with Neighbouring Authorities 

Whilst each neighbouring authority was specifically contacted during our Public Consultation on this 

JMWMS, only a limited number of responses were received.  These are shown in Appendix C. 

Strong working relationships are required with our neighbouring authorities and, as highlighted by 

the response from North Lincolnshire Council, we will look for opportunities for joint infrastructure 

developments where this is mutually beneficial.  In developing and implementing our Action Plan, 

we will seek to identify such opportunities. 

We will also seek to continue dialogue with our neighbours once as the UK Government's 

transposition of the EU Circular Economy package becomes clearer, particularly through Defra's new 

Resources and Waste Strategy. 

  

55



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 18 of 59 

4.1 Background  

The previous Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire was published in June 

2008. 

That Strategy was compiled by following Government guidance on waste management strategies 

and assessed in accordance with the ODPM guidance ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic 

Environmental Assessment Directive’ (2005). 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership has identified that a new joint waste strategy and a SEA are 

required. 

 

4.2 Development of a new waste strategy  

The development of this new strategy has also made use of the 2005 guidance from the Office of the 

Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM).  Although this is no longer available online, it is still generally 

considered to be the most relevant national guidance on the subject. 

The guidance sets out three questions which should be answered in developing a Waste Strategy.  

We have addressed each of these questions as described below. 

4.2.1 "Where are we today?" 

Chapter 5 summarises the services currently provided by each of the LWP authorities.  It also 

includes an analysis of the quantities of each waste stream and material being handled, and a 

forecast of future waste quantities. 

4.2.2 "Where do we want to get to and when?" 

The ODPM guidance describes this as "the objectives for how waste will be managed more 

sustainably in the future".  Chapter 6 sets out the LWP's shared objectives, developed and agreed 

through a series of workshops and meetings early in the Strategy process.  Chapter 6 also addresses 

the main challenges facing the LWP during the period covered by this Strategy. 

4.2.3 "What do we need to do to get there?" 

Chapter 7 gives an overview of the actions identified by the Partnership as being needed to achieve 

the objectives of this Strategy.  It essentially sets out a 'route map' showing how those objectives will 

be achieved. 

  

56



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 19 of 59 

The necessary actions have been set out in more detail in an Action Plan for the first year of the life 

of this Strategy.  This includes details of: 

 who will need to do what? and 

 by when? 

In order to ensure that the Action Plan continues to deliver in future years, a revised version will be 

produced annually.  This will respond to any changes in the ongoing quantity and composition of 

waste, as well as to any other necessary factors. 

 

4.3 Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs' (Defra) "Guidance on Municipal Waste 

Management Strategies" states that "as a minimum the Strategy should undergo a Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SEA)." 

In general, SEA permits analysis of all draft Strategy provisions against a series of environmental 

objectives.  The aim is to ensure the effects of the Strategy are positive with regard to the County’s 

environmental features.  Any significant adverse effects identified must be avoided, remedied or 

mitigated. 

In view of this an SEA has been undertaken in parallel with the Strategy process, with both 

documents feeding into each other as appropriate.  The SEA was completed in line with: 

 Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations’ (SI 2004/1633) ‘SEA 

Regulations’  

 Government Guidance on SEA and SA: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-

environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal 

This will include several stages of consultation, initially with statutory consultees (Natural England, 

Historic England and the Environment Agency) and then alongside public consultation on this Waste 

Strategy. 

 

4.4 Stakeholder Engagement 

In addition to the statutory consultation for the SEA, the Defra guidance on Waste Strategies makes 

it clear that engaging with various stakeholders is vital to the development of an effective Strategy.  

Our Strategy process has involved this in a number of ways including the following. 

4.4.1 LWP Authorities 

The overall objectives and initial proposals for a way to work towards them were developed jointly 

by the eight authorities of the LWP.  This was achieved by holding two workshop sessions in July 

2017.  Those sessions were facilitated by an independent chair in order to ensure that the views of 

all partners were captured and given an equal footing. 

57



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 20 of 59 

Full details of the workshops and their outputs can be seen in Appendix A. 

Amongst other things, the workshops established an overall framework for how the format of the 

strategy would lead from the overarching "Vision" to specific practical actions in an "Action Plan". 

Figure 4-1  Overall structure of the Waste Strategy 

 

Further engagement with all LWP partners has continued throughout the Strategy process, including 

through regular LWP meetings, with many partners using formal scrutiny processes to assist in its 

development, and through formal adoption of the documents at the end. 

4.4.2 Public Consultation 

A draft version of the JMWMS was made available for a period of 90 days of public consultation 

between April and July 2018.  This final version of the Strategy, and its accompanying Action Plan, 

reflect the feedback received from the consultation. 

Full details of the results of the consultation process are shown in Appendix B of this Strategy. 

  

58



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 21 of 59 

5 Where are we today? 

Before deciding what we want to achieve in the future, and of how we are going to do so, it is 

essential that we have a proper understanding of our current services and of what waste we are 

likely to need to deal with during the period covered by this Strategy. 

This chapter provides a summary of the necessary baseline information including, as prescribed in 

Defra's 2005 JMWMS Practice Guide: 

 An analysis of the nature and performance of existing services; 

 The impact of any service changes already firmly planned (if any); 

 Projections of future waste quantities; and 

 The impact of changes in waste quantities on overall performance if no changes, other than 

those already firmly planned, are introduced. 

 

5.1 Demographics 

Within the East Midlands Region, Lincolnshire is the largest county covering 592,075 hectares, and 

the fourth largest in England covering 5% of England. 

The following information on the population of Lincolnshire all comes from the Lincolnshire 

Research Observatory website4. 

As at the 2011 Census: 

 Lincolnshire is a large and sparsely populated county.  In England 18% of the population live 

in rural areas, that is in towns of less than 10,000 people, in villages, hamlets or isolated 

dwellings.  In Lincolnshire the figure is 48%. 

 Lincolnshire is home to 306,971 households.  The average household is made up of 2.32 

persons, similar to the figure of 2.27 for England as a whole. 

 Lincolnshire has an ageing population with nearly 21% of its population being over 65 years 

of age compared to the England figure of just over 16%, with East Lindsey having the highest 

proportion at 26%. 

The population of Lincolnshire grew by over 10% between 2001 and 2011, which is faster than the 

figure for England of just under 8%.  As can be seen in Table 5-1, estimates indicate that 

Lincolnshire’s population continues to grow faster than the national rate for England, by a further 

5.3% between 2011 and 2017.  Most of our WCA's saw growth between 5.2% and 6.0% (above the 

national average of 4.9%) during that same period, but it should be noted that population growth in 

East Lindsey was significantly lower (at 2.4%) and in North Kesteven was significantly higher (at 

6.9%). 

  

                                                           
4
 http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Population.aspx  

59

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Population.aspx


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 22 of 59 

Table 5-1 Population estimates 

Area 2011 Census 
2017 Mid 

Year Estimate 
Growth 

Boston BC 64,637 68,500 6.0% 

City of Lincoln 93,541 98,400 5.2% 

East Lindsey DC 136,401 139,700 2.4% 

North Kesteven DC 107,766 115,200 6.9% 

South Holland DC 88,270 93,300 5.7% 

South Kesteven DC 133,788 141,700 5.9% 

West Lindsey DC 89,250 94,300 5.7% 

Lincolnshire 713,653 751,200 5.3% 

England 53,012,456 55,619,400 4.9% 

 

Forecasts are that population growth for Lincolnshire going forwards (10% higher in 2041 than in 

2017) will continue to be a little lower than the average for England.  It should be noted, however, 

that this official estimate doesn't take into account specific housing developments, and the 

expectation is that the population will grow by more than this.  Either way, these extra people are 

likely to produce a significant amount of additional waste which the LWP will need to collect and 

dispose of. 

 

5.2 Waste arisings 

5.2.1 UK arisings summary 

Defra's report "UK Statistics on Waste"5 (published February 2018 included the following key points 

regarding the national situation in 2014: 

 The UK generated 202.8 million tonnes of total waste in 2014. 

 Over half of this (59%) was generated by construction, demolition and excavation. 

 UK generation of commercial and industrial waste in 2014 was 41.9 million tonnes. 

 Only 26.8 million tonnes, around 13% of the total, was "waste from households". 

Clearly, household waste is a relatively small proportion of overall waste, and needs to be 

considered in the light of the wider picture. 

5.2.2 Current Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) 

As a predominantly rural county, the largest waste stream in Lincolnshire comes from agricultural 

services which, according to the Waste Needs Assessment produce for the Lincolnshire Minerals and 

                                                           
5
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data  

60

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 23 of 59 

Waste Local Plan (Site Locations Document)6, represents some half of the total waste stream.  In 

comparison, LACW represents around 10% of the total waste arisings in the county. 

It should be noted that whilst the County Council is required to consider all waste streams in the 

development of its Minerals and Waste Local Plan, agricultural waste is largely dealt with at source 

rather than requiring the County Council's attention in its role as Waste Planning Authority.  

Furthermore, the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 20037 states in Section 32(1), in defining the duty 

to have a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy, that this Strategy should only cover the 

management of: 

(a) waste from households, and 

(b) other waste that, because of its nature or composition, is similar to waste from 

households. 

Therefore this Strategy focuses on LACW, which can include waste from the following sources (as 

defined in the Controlled Waste Regulations 2012): 

 Waste from households – This makes up the vast majority of LACW; 

 Other "household waste" – e.g. From schools and hospitals; 

 Some waste from commercial premises (such as shops, offices and restaurants); and 

 Some waste from construction and demolition (C&D) activities. 

Table 5-2 shows the breakdown of LACW across Lincolnshire, with 360,701 tonnes arising in 2017/18 

of which around 96% is household waste. 

Table 5-2 Summary of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) in Lincolnshire 2017/18 

Sources: Collection (purple) = County Council Waste Data Management System; Disposal (orange) = Wastedataflow
8
 

Waste Stream 2017/18 (Tonnes) % of Total Waste Stream 

Local Authority Collected Waste 360,701  

Waste collected at kerbside by WCA's 274,180 76% of LACW 

Other waste collected by WCA'si 16,289 5% of LACW 

Waste collected at HWRC's 69,500 19% of LACW 

Other LACWii 731 <1% of LACW 

Total Household Waste collectediii 346,777 96% of LACW 

Total Household Waste disposed ofiii 346,329  

Household Waste reused, recycled or composted 150,553 44% of Household Waste Disposal 

Household Waste sent for energy recovery 179,976 52% of Household Waste Disposal 

Household Waste landfilled 13,151 4% of Household Waste Disposal 

i – Includes street sweepings, litter, bring banks, trade waste, etc. 

ii – Largely consists of waste from charities for which the WDA provides disposal. 

iii – Totals collected and disposed of differ due to changes in stock levels at Waste Transfer Stations. 

 

 

                                                           
6
 http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-

development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-
examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Downlo
ad/106584  
7
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/contents  

8
 http://www.wastedataflow.org/  

61

http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/contents
http://www.wastedataflow.org/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 24 of 59 

Figure 5-1 Sources of LACW in 2017/18 

 

Figure 5-2 Destinations of Household Waste in 2017/18 

 

5.2.3 Waste growth 

As was reported in the LWP's previous Waste Strategy, between 2000/01 and 2006/07 the total 

tonnage of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) in Lincolnshire rose by over 13%.  Table 5-3 and 

Figure 5-3 below, however, show that we actually saw a fall in waste thereafter, with only one 

subsequent year (2016/17) seeing more waste generated than 2006/07. 

Table 5-3 Waste growth trends in Lincolnshire between 2007 and 2018 

Source: Wastedataflow
9
 

Year 
Municipal Waste 

(Tonnes) % Change 
Household 

Waste % Change 

2006/07 365,537  349,663  

2007/08 352,123 -3.67% 338,676 -3.14% 

2008/09 359,798 +2.18% 348,280 +2.84% 

2009/10 349,784 -2.78% 336,893 -3.27% 

2010/11 355,209 +1.55% 341,886 +1.48% 

2011/12 349,736 -1.54% 336,073 -1.70% 

2012/13 345,232 -1.29% 335,028 -0.31% 

                                                           
9
 http://www.wastedataflow.org/  

76% 

5% 

19% 
<1% Waste collected

at kerbside by
WCA's

Other waste
collected by
WCA's

Waste collected
at HWRC's

Other LACW

44% 

52% 

4% 

Household Waste
reused, recycled or
composted

Household Waste
sent for energy
recovery

Household Waste
landfilled

62

http://www.wastedataflow.org/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 25 of 59 

Year 
Municipal Waste 

(Tonnes) % Change 
Household 

Waste % Change 

2013/14 346,795 +0.45% 335,216 +0.06% 

2014/15 354,503 +2.22% 342,132 +2.06% 

2015/16 355,849 +0.38% 343,574 +0.42% 

2016/17 366,947 +3.12% 353,819 +2.98% 

2017/18 360,155i -1.85% 346,329 -2.12% 

Overall Change (since 2006/07) -1.47%  -0.95% 

i – The definition of Municipal Waste differs slightly from LACW, so this total is different to that in Table 5-2. 

 

Figure 5-3 Annual Tonnage of LACW in Lincolnshire 

 

It should be noted that the total tonnage has been very erratic, making it difficult to predict any 

given year.  However, closer analysis reveals that much of the variation is due to weather conditions 

on the quantity of green waste received for composting – e.g. Snow in March 2018 restricted early-

Spring growth.  Figure 5-4 shows the total tonnage excluding green waste. 

Figure 5-4 Annual Tonnage excluding Green Waste 

 

 

310,000

320,000

330,000

340,000

350,000

360,000

370,000

Other LACW

Household Waste

240,000

250,000

260,000

270,000

280,000

290,000

300,000

310,000

63



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 26 of 59 

This shows a clearer trend from which conclusions can be drawn: 

 Total tonnage fell for several years up to 2012/13, possibly due to the economic downturn 

making the public less likely to throw things away. 

 There has been an upturn in recent years, possibly as the economy picks up again. 

In view of the most recent upward trend, and ongoing population growth, it is forecast that LACW 

arisings will continue to grow.  This is in line with the forecasts in the Waste Needs Assessment that 

accompanies the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan10 which suggests that LACW tonnages 

will grow as shown in Table 5-4. 

The forecasts consist of a two part assumption: 

1) That the population will grow by 0.66% per annum; and 

2) That each person will produce more waste each year. 

Whilst the second part may seem a pessimistic assumption, particularly given the fall in waste in 

2017/18, over the preceding four years (to2016/17) waste growth per person was around 0.7% per 

annum. 

Table 5-4 LACW growth scenario from Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

 2016 to 2020 2021 to 2031 

Population growth 0.66% per annum 0.66% per annum 

Waste per head growth 0.5% per annum 0.25% per annum 

Total Growth 1.16% per annum 0.91% per annum 

 

These increases are small for any given year, but would represent an increase of over 15% (around 

50,000 tonnes of extra household waste) in 2031. 

 

5.3 Waste composition 

In order to assess the effectiveness of our current waste management services, it is crucial to 

identify the total quantities collected of each type of waste.  Whilst this is relatively simple for 

separately-collected waste types (e.g. paper in bring banks), the full picture can only be seen by 

assessing the composition of streams of mixed waste including all of those listed below in Table 5-5. 

Ideally, the composition of each of these streams should be identified through detailed analysis of 

representative samples of real waste which has been collected.  However, to do this for all streams 

would be impractical, so their composition has been measured as shown in Table 5-5. 

  

                                                           
10

 http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-
development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-
examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Downlo
ad/106584  

64

http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 27 of 59 

Table 5-5 Method of assessing composition of each mixed waste stream 

Waste stream Composition assessed by 

Kerbside-collected mixed dry 
recyclables 

Regular sampling and analysis in line with Materials Recycling 
Facility (MRF) Code of Practice 

Kerbside-collected 
residual/general waste 

One-off sampling and analysis undertaken in September 2017 

HWRC-collected 
residual/general waste 

Use of Defra-compiled national average figures for HWRC residual 
waste (most recent available is for 2010/11) 

Other streams of mixed waste 
(e.g. flytipping) 

Use of Defra-compiled national average figures for the most 
appropriate category listed (most recent available is for 2010/11) 

Separately-collected (e.g. paper 
in bring banks) 

Composition is known as there is usually only one type of waste in 
each collection 

 

5.3.1 Kerbside-collected mixed dry recyclables (MDR) 

The composition of this waste stream is well known as the Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) Code of 

Practice requires our MRF contractor to undertake regular sampling and analysis of the material 

both going into and coming out of their sorting processes. 

Figure 5-5 Composition of MDR in 2017/18 

 

Figure 5-5 summarises the sampling data for 2017/18 and shows that of the total tonnage collected: 

 Around 68% was "target" recyclables – This is what the LWP has asked the public to put 

into the kerbside recycling collections. 

 Around 5% was other recyclables – Whilst not on the specified list, our current MRF 

contractor is able to recycle these as well.  However, this may not be recyclable at all 

MRF's. 

 Nearly 27% was not recyclable – This should not be in these collections, and is addressed 

in this Strategy. 

22.4% 

15.6% 

9.1% 
4.2% 

16.7% 

5.4% 

26.6% Target Paper

Target Card

Target Plastics

Target Cans

Target Glass

Other Recyclables

Non-recylable

65



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 28 of 59 

5.3.2 Kerbside-collected residual/general waste 

Since this one waste stream makes up around 40% of the total waste collected by the LWP, a 

sampling exercise was undertaken in September 2017 to establish what materials are contained in it.  

This involved using socio-economic data to identify an individual round in each WCA area which 

represented, as closely as possible, that Council's area as a whole.  A random sample of waste from 

each of those seven rounds was then analysed. 

Figure 5-6 shows collated data for the county as a whole.  The percentages were calculated by 

multiplying the figures for each WCA by the total tonnage they collected in 2016/17 since those 

collecting a higher tonnage collect a higher proportion of the overall waste stream. 

Figure 5-6 Composition of Residual Waste in 2016/17 

 

Many of the categories listed are self-explanatory but the largest two are: 

 "Putrescibles" = Mostly food waste 

 "Misc. Combustible" = Mostly nappies and sanitary products 

More detailed headlines from the sampling exercise were that the overall composition includes: 

 Around 15% home-compostable food – e.g. Vegetable peelings; 

 Around 13% other food – e.g. cooked food, meat and dairy products; and 

 Nearly 20% materials which the LWP already collect at kerbside either for recycling or 

composting. 

5.3.3 Overall composition 

Combining data from all these individual waste streams, Table 5-6 summarises the calculated overall 

composition of the waste collected by each of the main methods during 2017/18.  Table 5-6 also 

66



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 29 of 59 

shows the overall composition of all LACW in 2017/18, calculated by adding all the mixed-stream 

totals to the quantities of each waste type collected separately (e.g. from bring banks).  For 

consistency, the waste type groups listed are those used in the 2017 kerbside residual waste 

sampling exercise. 

Table 5-6 Tonnage of each waste type collected by each method in 2017/18 

 Kerbside 
Collectionsi 

Household 
Waste 

Recycling 
Centres 

Other Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

% of Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Card 15,276 2,103 574 17,953 5.0% 

Paper 31,713 1,252 933 33,898 9.4% 

Plastic Film 18,155 727 358 19,240 5.3% 

Dense Plastic 22,636 3,790 504 26,930 7.5% 

Textiles 7,299 1,946 602 9,847 2.7% 

Glass 16,010 875 3,036 19,921 5.5% 

Ferrous 4,993 2,444 189 7,626 2.1% 

Non-Ferrous 3,468 1,009 148 4,624 1.3% 

Misc. Combustible 19,999 17,197 831 38,028 10.6% 

WEEE 1,034 4,707 114 5,856 1.6% 

Potentially Hazardous 527 1,544 110 2,181 0.6% 

Misc. Non-Combustible 5,621 13,416 3,279 22,316 6.2% 

Kitchen and Food Waste 47,119 586 1,145 48,851 13.6% 

Garden Waste 62,498 17,308 2,424 82,230 22.8% 

Other Putrescibles 14,086 369 158 14,613 4.1% 

Fines 598 226 1,473 2,298 0.6% 

Liquids 2,903 0 691 3,593 1.0% 

TOTALS 273,934 69,500 16,570 360,005  

i – Includes collections of residual, recyclables and garden waste. 

 

Figure 5-7 shows the overall composition of LACW from 2017/18 with the waste types ordered from 

highest to lowest percentage. 

  

67



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 30 of 59 

Figure 5-7 Overall composition of LACW in 2017/18 

 

Points to note regarding all the above data include that: 

 Between them, kerbside collections and HWRC's account for around 95% of our LACW, so 

the composition of other streams hasn't been examined in detail. 

 The largest waste type which is not currently collected for recycling or composting is kitchen 

and food waste.  Details of the proportion of the total for each waste type (including what is 

collected mixed in with general waste) is currently recycled or composted is shown in 

Section 5.5. 

 

5.4 Current Waste Management 

The current waste management infrastructure needs to be reviewed to provide a baseline on which 

to develop the Waste Strategy.  This review focuses on: 

 Waste collection services 

 Waste transfer and logistics 

 Recycling and composting arrangements 

 Treatment and disposal of residual waste 

 Existing contracts for all of the above 

 Service performance measures 

 Current waste management costs 

5.4.1 Waste Collection Services 

Within Lincolnshire it is the district, borough and city councils (as WCA's) that have the responsibility 

to collect waste from households, and the County Council (the WDA) that has the responsibility to 

dispose of it, as well as to operate HWRCs. 

  

Garden
Kitchen and Food Waste
Misc. Combustible
Paper
Dense Plastic
Misc. Non-Combustible
Glass
Plastic Film
Card
Other Putrescibles
Textiles
Ferrous
WEEE
Non-Ferrous
Liquids
Fines
Potentially Hazardous

68



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 31 of 59 

Kerbside collections – collections by/for WCAs 

Table 5-7 below provides a summary of the current kerbside collection services offered by each 

WCA. 

All authorities that are using wheelie bins for their residual waste collection have a “no side waste 

policy” in place.  This means that, apart from specific exceptions (e.g. just after Christmas), residents 

are not allowed to place other wastes (e.g. sacks) alongside their wheelie bins.  South Holland 

operates a sack collection system and will collect side waste. 

It should be noted that, as part of Defra's consistency agenda, WRAP are seeking to establish 

whether a national standard set of bin colours would help to make things clearer for the public and 

thus increase recycling rates11.  In view of this, any consideration of a more standardised approach 

for Lincolnshire should take account of the feedback from that work.  However, in the absence of 

any additional government funding, it is unlikely that bins will be replaced sooner than at the end of 

their natural lifetime. 

 

                                                           
11

 https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/latest-news/wrap-consults-on-national-colour-scheme-for-bins/ 

69

https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/latest-news/wrap-consults-on-national-colour-scheme-for-bins/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 32 of 59 

Table 5-7 Kerbside collection services offered by each Waste Collection Authority (WCA) 

The following indicates the service provided to the majority of households by each WCA.  Colour shading shows the colour of bin provided for each service. 

Unless otherwise stated, collections are provided using a wheelie bin and fortnightly/alternate weekly collections (AWC). 

Waste Collection Authority Residual Waste Mixed Dry Recyclables Green Waste 

Boston Borough Council AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
No service in Winter 

City of Lincoln Council i AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

East Lindsey District Council AWC in 180 litre bins 
(240 litre for larger families) 

AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
Reduced service in Winter 

North Kesteven District Council ii AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins  iii AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

South Holland District Council Weekly collection in sacks Weekly collection in sacks AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

South Kesteven District Council AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

West Lindsey District Council AWC in 180 litre bins iv 
(240 litre for larger families) 

AWC in 240 litre bins iv AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
No service in Winter 

i – City of Lincoln have alternative arrangements for higher-density inner city areas, using 140 litre bins, communal bins or sacks as appropriate, some of 

which (mainly residual waste) are collected weekly. 

ii – North Kesteven – Since 2009 new builds receive, as standard, a 180 litre bin for residual waste and a 360 litre bin for MDR. 

iii – Black wheelie bin with green lid 

iv – Around 2,000 WLDC terraced properties receive a weekly sack collection instead of wheelie bins 

70



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 33 of 59 

Table 5-8 Current Collection Contract Arrangements 

WCA How collections are provided 

Boston BC Service provided in-house  

City of Lincoln Contract with Biffa 

East Lindsey DC  Service provided in-house  

North Kesteven DC Service provided in-house  

South Holland DC Service provided in-house  

South Kesteven DC Service provided in-house  

West Lindsey DC Service provided in-house  

 

Every household in every WCA area receives a residual waste collection.  Table 5-9 summarises the 

number of households in each WCA area that are currently provided with kerbside recycling and 

green waste collections. 

Table 5-9 Households receiving recycling/green waste kerbside collection in 2017/18 

 Boston  
East 

Lindsey  
Lincoln  

North 
Kesteven  

South 
Holland  

South 
Kesteven  

West 
Lindsey  

Dwelling Stock 29,360 68,060 45,220 50,270 40,070 63,050 42,660 

Number of HH – 
dry recyclables 

ALL ALL 44,300 ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Number of HH – 
green wastei 7,648 29,053 16,355 30,800 3,155 28,324 39,660 

i – Green waste collection numbers are lower because they are a charged-for, opt-in service. 

 

Bring banks for recyclables – collections by/for WCAs 

Many of our WCAs currently operate a network of bring banks placed in various locations to receive 

recyclable material.  The County Council either arranges and pays for the recycling of this material, 

or pays Recycling Credits to each WCA for it. 

Bulky household waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Bulky waste falls outside the scope of the regular WCA kerbside collection service as these items are 

generally too large or too difficult to be handled by the normal means.  The WCAs across the 

Partnership offer bulky waste collection on demand for item such as furniture, mattresses and large 

household appliances.  Each district has its own policy on charging for these collections. 

Commercial waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Currently Boston Borough Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council 

operate collections of commercial waste from business premises, and other WCAs are considering 

doing so.  The Strategy, through its ongoing Action Plans, should consider whether it would be 

appropriate to have a common policy. 

  

71



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 34 of 59 

Street cleansing – collections by/for WCAs 

Each WCA provides a regular service across their area. Busy places, such as shopping precincts and 

high streets usually have permanent cleaning staff or daily cleansing regimes.  General waste such as 

litter is handled in the same way as other residual waste, but road grit from street sweepers is kept 

separate as the County Council has separate arrangements in place for the recycling of it. 

Abandoned and end of life vehicles – collections by/for WCAs 

Abandoned vehicles that are on public land are removed in accordance with the relevant legislation 

by each district within its area, and then the County Council arranges for disposal where necessary. 

Fly tipped waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Fly tipping is a serious national problem.  As well as being unsightly, it can lead to serious pollution of 

the environment and harm to human health, and is costly to remove and dispose of correctly.  Most 

fly tipped waste is handled in the same way as residual waste, and all WCAs have enforcement 

polices which inform the process by which offenders will be investigated and prosecuted. 

Clinical waste – collections by/for WDA 

The Controlled Waste Regulations 2012 define this type of waste: 

“clinical waste” means waste from a healthcare activity (including veterinary healthcare) that— 

(a) contains viable micro-organisms or their toxins which are known or reliably believed to 

cause disease in humans or other living organisms, 

(b) contains or is contaminated with a medicine that contains a biologically active 

pharmaceutical agent, or 

(c) is a sharp, or a body fluid or other biological material (including human and animal tissue) 

containing or contaminated with a dangerous substance within the meaning of Council 

Directive 67/548/EEC on the approximation of laws, regulations and administrative 

provisions relating to the classification, packaging and labelling of dangerous substances(b), 

and waste of a similar nature from a non-healthcare activity. 

The WDA arranges for both the collection and disposal of waste in categories (a) and (b) above.  The 

WCAs collect items in category c. 

Household Waste Recycling Centres – collections by/for WDA 

The County Council operates 11 HWRCs across the county to which residents can bring their 

household waste.  Tables 5-10 and 5-11 below summarises respectively: 

 Table 5-10 – The location of and contractual arrangements for each HWRC; and 

 Table 5-11 – The facilities provided at each HWRC. 

  

72



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 35 of 59 

Table 5-10 HWRC Contractual and Operational Arrangements 

Unless stated otherwise, opening hours are standardised as 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, Saturday, 

Sunday and Monday (closed Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday). 

NB – All sites are closed on 25th and 26th December and 1st January every year. 

Location Site Ownership Operated by Opening hours 

Lincoln HWRC 
Great Northern Terrace 
LN5 8LG 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs 
7 days a week 

Boston HWRC 
Bittern Way 
PE21 7RQ 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs 
7 days a week 

Spalding HWRC 
West Marsh Rd 
PE11 2BB 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Summer 
(1st April to 31st October) 

08:00hrs to 16:00hrs 7 days a 
week. 

Winter 
(1st November to 31st March) 

08:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, 
Saturday, Sunday and Monday. 

Gainsborough HWRC 
Long Wood Road, 
Corringham Road Ind Est, 
Gainsborough, DN21 1QB 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Standard 
(09:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, 

Saturday, Sunday and Monday) 

The Rasens HWRC 
Gallamore Lane Industrial 
Estate, Gallamore Lane, 
Middle Rasen, LN8 3HA 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Standard 

Bourne HWRC 
South Fen Road 
PE10 0DN 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Grantham HWRC 
Mowbeck Way 
NG31 7AS 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Sleaford HWRC 
Pride Parkway 
NG34 8GL 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Louth HWRC 
Bolingbroke Road 
LN11 0WA 

County Council Sid Dennis & Sons Ltd. Standard 

Skegness HWRC 
Warth Lane 
PE25 2JS 

County Council Sid Dennis & Sons Ltd. Standard 

Kirkby on Bain HWRC 
Tattershall Road 
LN10 6YN 

FCC 
Environment 

FCC Environment Standard 

 

73



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 36 of 59 

Table 5-11 – Materials accepted at Household Waste Recycling Centres as of April 2018 

HWRC Site 

R
es

id
u

al
 w

as
te

 

G
re

en
 

W
o

o
d

 

P
la

st
ic

s 

P
ap

er
 

C
ar

d
b

o
ar

d
 

M
at

tr
es

se
s 

W
EE

E 

B
o

o
ks

 &
 C

D
s 

Te
xt

ile
s 

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 

C
h

em
ic

al
s 

G
la

ss
 b

o
tt

le
s/

ja
rs

 

C
o

o
ki

n
g 

O
il 

M
in

er
al

 O
il 

Le
ad

 A
ci

d
 

B
at

te
ri

es
 

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 

b
at

te
ri

es
 

P
la

st
er

b
o

ar
d

 

So
il 

R
u

b
b

le
 

P
re

ss
u

ri
se

d
 G

as
 

C
yl

in
d

er
sI 

Sc
ra

p
 M

et
al

 

R
e

-u
se

 

Bourne x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Boston x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Gainsborough x x x x x x x x x x x x x x ii x x x x xI x x 

Grantham x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Kirkby on Bain x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Lincoln x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Louth x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Rasens x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Skegness x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Sleaford x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Spalding x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

 

An "x" indicates that the stated waste stream is collected separately at the stated HWRC. 

i) Gas cylinders are accepted where necessary, but should ideally be returned to a gas supplier, particularly as a deposit refund is sometimes 

available. 

ii) Lead acid batteries are no longer accepted at Gainsborough due to repeated security issues.  Residents are recommended to contact a scrap 

dealer. 

74



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 37 of 59 

5.4.2 Waste Transfer and Logistics 

Some waste streams are delivered directly to an appropriate treatment or disposal site.  For the 

majority of waste streams, LCC provides a number of Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) to receive 

waste both from WCA collections and from HWRCs, enabling the waste to be bulked up for 

transportation to centralised destinations. 

Some WCAs use more than one WTS depending on where waste is collected and/or what type of 

waste it is.  Likewise, many of these WTSs receive waste from more than one WCA or HWRC. 

WTSs operated by Lincolnshire County Council 

The WDA directly operates a network of five WTSs around the County.  Table 5-12 shows the 

location of each WTS, as well as the tonnage of each type of waste received at each site. 

The WDA lets contracts for the transportation of waste from each WTS to the appropriate 

destinations. 

Table 5-12 Location and 2017/18 tonnage throughput for WDA WTSs 

Location Residual 
Waste 

(Tonnes) 

Mixed Dry 
Recyclables 

(Tonnes) 

Road Grit 
(Tonnes) 

Other 
(Tonnes) 

TOTAL 
(Tonnes) 

Boston WTS 
Slippery Gowt Lane 
PE21 7AA 

42,722 7,423 986  51,131 

Gainsborough WTS 
Marshall Lane 
DN21 1GD 

15,697 8,162 1,652  25,512 

Grantham WTS 
Occupation Road 
NG32 2BP 

28,376 13,086 1,305  42,767 

Louth WTS 
Bolingbroke Road 
LN11 0WA 

31,471 10,982 1,733 Glass = 622Te 
Mattressesi = 1Te 

44,809 

Sleaford WTS 
Pride Parkway 
NG34 8GL 

14,428 5,652 954 Mattressesi = 26Te 21,060 

i – Mattresses are often delivered in in loads of mixed residual waste.  This is the weight of 

mattresses which were delivered (and weighed) separately. 

 

Other WTSs used by the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

Arrangements are in place for the use of several other WTSs owned and operated by third parties.  

Details are shown in Table 5-13. 

  

75



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 38 of 59 

Table 5-13 Location and 2017/18 tonnage throughput for third party WTSs 

Location Operator Arranged 
by 

Mixed Dry Recyclables 
(Tonnes) 

Green Waste 
(Tonnes) 

Hykeham Mid UK Recycling Lincs CC 13,600  

Market Deeping Mid UK Recycling Lincs CC 10,500 2,600 

Boston Mick George Boston BC  4,200 

 

5.4.3 Recycling and composting arrangements 

Green waste 

There is generally no need for the use of WTSs for green waste as, both from kerbside collections 

and from HWRCs, it is sent directly to a network of composting facilities across the county under 

contracts operated by the County Council.  In 2017/18 72,619 tonnes of green waste was sent to 

these facilities, which are identified in Table 5-14. 

Table 5-14 Current Composting Facilities 

Composting operator  Location(s) 

Clarkeson Recycling Riby 

Greenaway Alford 

Land Network (Gainsborough)  Sturgate 

Land Network (Melton)  Melton Mowbray 

Land Network (N.E.Lincs) South Elkington  

Material Change Crowland  

MEC Recycling Swinderby / Saxilby 

Mid UK Recycling Caythorpe / Colsterworth 

 

Mixed dry recycling 

All the WCAs operate a kerbside collection of mixed dry recyclables (MDR) which includes a wide 

range of materials.  Historically each WCA has accepted a different mix of materials but the 

Partnership has identified that it would like to move towards a more standardised recyclable stream 

where possible.  The benefits of such standardised collections include: 

 Making the service easier to understand and thus, in line with our strategic vision, more 

"customer friendly"; and 

 Acting in line with the government's "consistency" agenda which seeks to reduce the 

number of different recycling systems in place across the UK. 

As part of the implementation of this JMWMS, the LWP will be working together towards this aim.  

At the time of writing, discussions are progressing well towards agreement on a common recycling 

mix.  Once agreed, any changes will be publicised through a unified communications campaign using 

a wide range of methods and media. 

In September 2018 the LWP agreed to focus on those materials which should not be deposited in 

recycling collections.  These materials will never be part of the recycling mix, and thus can be the 

76



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 39 of 59 

subject of communications regardless of any future changes to that mix.  Figure 5-7 shows the 

publicity to be used, in most areas as stickers to go onto recycling bins. 

Figure 5-7 "No Thanks" bin sticker 

 

The County Council has a contract for the processing of this MDR at Materials Recycling Facilities 

(MRF’s) located in the county.  Once collected, each WCA delivers their MDR either to one or more 

of the WTS’s provided by the County Council, or directly to the MRF contractor. 

Other dry recycling 

Separately-collected recyclables from WCA bring banks and from HWRC’s go to a number of 

different destinations under a variety of different arrangements. 

5.4.4 Treatment and disposal of residual waste 

The LWP's 2008 Waste Strategy included two Objectives which focussed on residual waste: 

Objective 5 – To increase progressively the recovery and diversion of biodegradable waste from 

landfill, to meet and exceed the Landfill Directive diversion targets. 

Objective 6 – To ensure that residual waste treatment supports energy recovery and other 

practices higher up the waste hierarchy. 

In line with these objectives we have, during the lifetime of that Strategy, moved almost entirely 

from sending residual waste to landfill to using the new Energy from Waste facility at Hykeham.  

Indeed, we have done this so successfully that the majority of landfill sites in Lincolnshire either have 

already closed or are likely to close in the near future.  Further information regarding this is shown in 

Table 5-15. 

  

77



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 40 of 59 

Table 5-15 Residual Waste Contracts 2017 

i – Includes around 1,400 tonnes of rubble from HWRCs. 

Given the limited future availability of landfill, the high cost of landfill tax, and that landfill sits at the 

bottom of the Waste Hierarchy, it seems sensible that the LWP aspires in the long term to send zero 

waste to landfill. 

This aspiration, and the fact that the Hykeham EfW does not have the capacity to process the 

forecasted quantities of residual waste, are reflected in one of our key objectives: 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, seek to secure appropriate capacity. 

 

5.5 Service performance measures 

Whilst the statutory reporting of National Indicators was removed in 2011, the percentage of 

household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting (former NI 192) remains a generally 

accepted headline measure of the performance of local authority waste and recycling services. 

Table 5-16, and the accompanying Figure 5-9, show the County Council's (and thus the LWP's) overall 

performance against all three of the waste-related former National Indicators: 

 NI 191 = Residual Household Waste per Household 

 NI 192 = Percentage Household Waste sent for Reuse, Recycling or Composting 

 NI 193 = Percentage of Municipal Waste Sent To Landfill 

  

78



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 41 of 59 

Table 5-16 National Indicator (NI) performance since 2007/08 

 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 

NI191: Residual 

Household Waste kg per 

Household 
534.1  496.8 486.7 496.7 511.4 522.0 547.6 561.9 578.0 

NI192: % HH waste sent 

for Reuse, Recycling or 

Composting 

50.5  52.9 52.8 51.3 49.6 49.6 47.0 46.7 43.5 

NI193: % Municipal 

Waste Sent To Landfill 50.2  46.8 46.4 47.1 25.2 4.1 3.6 4.0 3.8 

 

Figure 5-9 National Indicator (NI) performance since 2007/08 

 

In addition to the three National Indicators, Figure 5-9 also shows an additional measure for 

recycling performance.  Defra have recently announced that the overall UK recycling rate (as 

reported to the EU) will be measured in a different way.  In line with practice in a number of other 

EU nations, the national rate will include metals recycled from Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) such as 

that generated at our EfW facility.  Since this is the basis on which the UK's performance will be 

measured against the EU target of 50% recycling by 2020, it seems appropriate to record the LWP's 

performance on the same basis in addition to the official NI192 rate. 

Table 5-17 shows this higher recycling percentage alongside our official performance.  It should be 

noted that our recycling rate on that basis would have been around 1.5% higher each year since our 

EfW facility opened in 2013. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

NI 191 (kg) NI 192 (%)

NI 193 (%) Adjusted recycling rate (%)

79



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 42 of 59 

Table 5-17 Increased recycling performance by inclusion of metals recycled from EfW ash 

 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 

NI192: 

Percentage HH 

waste sent for 

Reuse, Recycling 

or Composting 

50.5%  52.9% 52.8% 51.3% 49.6% 49.6% 47.0% 46.7% 43.5% 

Adjusted 

recycling rate 

(including metals 

from EfW ash) 

50.5%  52.9% 52.8% 51.3% 50.0% 51.2% 48.5% 48.3% 45.0% 

 

5.5.1 Quantity of residual waste (NI191) 

Following the introduction of our 2008 Strategy, the weight of residual (non-recycled) waste 

produced by each household fell significantly.  Indeed, the 486.7kg per household which we 

achieved in 2011/12 was equivalent to 225.8kg per head, which was well on target for achieving our 

2008 Waste Strategy Objective of 225kg per head by 2020. 

Unfortunately this downward trend ended at that point and we have seen a steady increase to a 

level even higher than in 2008, with the present figure of 578kg equating to around 261kg per head 

of residual waste.  Although the fall and subsequent rise may partly be a result of the global 

economic downturn (people buy less and thus throw away less when times are financially difficult) 

and the subsequent recovery, this is a trend that needs reversing. 

Table 5-18 Residual and total waste vs recycling rate in 2017/18 

 
Residual household 
waste per household 
(NI191) 

Total household 
waste collected per 
person (BV84) 

Household waste 
reused, recycled or 
composted (NI192) 

Boston BC 597kg 395kg 35.2% 

City of Lincoln 507kg 359kg 35.1% 

East Lindsey DC  456kg 384kg 42.1% 

North Kesteven DC 521kg 405kg 43.9% 

South Holland DC 562kg 331kg 27.2% 

South Kesteven DC 506kg 381kg 40.9% 

West Lindsey DC 514kg 430kg 46.0% 

LWP Total (WCA's + HWRC's)i 578kg 461kg 43.5% 

2016/17 LWP Total 562kg 478kg 46.7% 
i – The LWP total weight is higher than that for the individual WCA's as each WCA figure doesn't include waste collected 

from their residents at County Council HWRC's. 

80



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 43 of 59 

It is interesting to note that the two WCA's with the lowest overall recycling rate also have the 

lowest total waste per person, particularly since the Waste Hierarchy (see section 2.2.1 for details) 

makes it clear that waste prevention should have a higher priority than recycling. 

5.5.2 Recycling performance (NI192) 

It is clear from the above data that the LWP's headline recycling rate has been in slow decline since a 

peak of 52.9% in 2010/11.  This fall in recycling has been accompanied by an increase in the quantity 

of residual waste to be disposed of. 

Table 5-19 shows the recycling and composting performance of each Waste Collection Authority and 

across the HWRC network during 2017/18. 

Table 5-19 Recycling and composting performance in 2017/18 

 

Household waste 
reused, recycled 
or composted 
(NI192) 

Household waste 
recycled 
(BV82a) 

Household 
waste 
composted 
(BV82b) 

Boston BC 35.2% 19.6% 15.6% 

City of Lincoln 35.1% 19.1% 16.1% 

East Lindsey DC  42.1% 20.1% 22.0% 

North Kesteven DC 43.9% 19.1% 24.9% 

South Holland DC 27.2% 22.0% 5.2% 

South Kesteven DC 40.9% 22.4% 18.5% 

West Lindsey DC 46.0% 18.1% 27.8% 

LWP Total (WCA's + HWRC's)i 43.5% 22.2% 21.2% 

2016/17 LWP Total 46.7% 24.4% 22.3% 
i – The overall LWP recycling performance is higher than that for most of the individual WCA's as each WCA figure doesn't 

include waste recycled by their residents at County Council HWRC's. 

The headline figure of 43.5% for the LWP as a whole shows a considerable fall compared to the 

2016/17 figure of 46.7%.  Two factors have particularly contributed to this fall: 

 Composting – Around 5,000 tonnes less garden waste was presented to us.  Since we 

received some 7,000 tonnes less waste in all, it seems possible that weather conditions have 

generated less garden growth.  This is not unprecedented, but the extra composting could 

have boosted our recycling rate by around 0.8%. 

 Recycling – Compositional analysis shows that we continue to see an increased amount of 

non-recyclable waste presented in our collections of Mixed Dry Recyclables.  This is 

combined with a fall of over 2,500 tonnes in the total quantity presented in those 

collections. 

Whilst the Government no longer sets targets for individual authorities, it should be noted that the 

UK is currently committed to meeting the EU recycling targets including 50% by 2020 and 65% by 

2035.  However, there are uncertainties over this as: 

 The impact of the UK’s exit from the EU is unclear at the time of writing, although it would 

currently appear that the UK will retain this overall target in some form; and 

81



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 44 of 59 

 Four different calculation methods are available to EU members, and none of these matches 

exactly with the UK's former NI 192.  At least one of the alternatives could significantly 

improve the headline recycling rate for the LWP as shown in Figure 5-9 and described 

beneath it. 

5.5.3 Landfilling performance (NI193) 

The main success story during the period of the previous Waste Strategy has been in the way in 

which we dispose of residual waste, with the percentage of Municipal Waste sent to landfill (NI 193) 

falling from over 50% in 2007/08 to under 4% in 2017/18.  This has been driven by: 

 The LWP's commitment to move waste further up the EU Waste Hierarchy; and 

 The need to reduce the County Council's annual spend on Landfill Tax. 

This success has been achieved through two major initiatives: 

1) The opening of the new Energy from Waste facility in Hykeham.  This now diverts over 

150,000 tonnes per annum from landfill, and thus moves it up the Waste Hierarchy from 

"disposal" to "recovery".  The facility has recently received Planning Permission to increase 

capacity to 170,000 tonnes per annum. 

2) The recycling of road grit.  This diverts around 4,000 tonnes per annum from "disposal" to 

"recycling". 

5.5.4 Recycling capture rate for each waste type 

One way to identify areas in which recycling performance can be improved is to consider the 

proportion of the total quantity collected of each material (as listed in section 5.3.3, Table 5-6) which 

is captured for recycling.  This is shown below in table 5-20. 

Table 5-20 Recycling capture rate for each waste stream in 2017/18 

Key 

Green = Above 70% 

Yellow = Above 50% 

Red = Below 20% 

 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Tonnage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Percentage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Card 17,953 12,325 68.7% 

Paper 33,898 17,740 52.3% 

Plastic Film 19,240 580 3.0% 

Dense Plastic 26,930 8,145 30.2% 

Textiles 9,847 1,025 10.4% 

Glass 19,921 14,528 72.9% 

Ferrous 7,626 4,322 56.7% 

Non-Ferrous 4,624 2,284 49.4% 

82



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 45 of 59 

 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Tonnage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Percentage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Misc. Combustible 38,028 10,220 26.9% 

WEEE 5,856 4,419 75.5% 

Potentially Hazardous 2,181 1,035 47.5% 

Misc. Non-Combustible 22,316 14,419 64.6% 

Food 48,851 0 0.0% 

Garden 82,230 72,619 88.3% 

Other Putrescibles 14,613 0 0.0% 

Fines 2,298 0 0.0% 

Liquids 3,593 0 0.0% 

TOTALS 360,005 163,661  

 

The capture rate for WEEE (electricals), glass and garden waste exceeds 70%.  Several other streams 

exceed 50% recycling: paper, card, ferrous metals, and "miscellaneous non-combustible" (which 

includes soil and rubble from HWRC's). 

At the other end of the spectrum, for those streams marked in red, the capture rate is less than 20%.  

Whilst some of these streams are, by definition, unlikely to be recyclable (e.g. "fines" are particles of 

waste which are too small to be identified), other streams show room for considerable improvement 

– e.g. food waste and textiles. 

5.5.5 Other ways to measure environmental performance 

It is important to note that, in developing this Strategy, a key task has been to reassess whether the 

former National Indicators represent the best way to measure the performance of the LWP.  This 

review will be included in the Action Plan to accompany this Strategy document, and reflects the 

need to measure our success in meeting the objectives chosen by the Partnership. 

 

5.6 Current waste management costs 

In addition to measuring environmental performance, it is essential to measure how well we are 

meeting the challenges of diminishing budgets. 

To enable comparison with historical costs, the costs of waste management in 2017/18 outlined in 

Table 5-21 are the totals of those formerly reported by each LWP authority as part of the Best Value 

Performance Indicator regime – BV86 for WCAs and BV87 for WDAs.  The table also shows the 

equivalent 2006/07 cost per household which was included in the 2008 Strategy. 

  

83



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 46 of 59 

Table 5-21 Costs of waste collection and disposal for 2017/18 

 

Collection Costs 
(Total across all LWP WCA's) 

Disposal Costs 

Number of 
Households 

Overall cost 
of collection 

£/ HH 
Municipal 

Waste 
(Tonnes) 

Overall cost of 
disposal 

£/ tonne 

2006/07 308,931 £15,718,152 £50.88 365,537 £17,270,000 £47.25 

2017/18 338,690 £14,879,176 £43.93 360,155 £18,774,000 £52.13 

 

Despite increases in costs due to inflation and other factors, such as fuel tax, we have managed to 

achieve sufficient efficiency savings to reduce the overall cost of waste collection. 

Disposal costs have risen a little overall, but considerable savings have been achieved compared to 

where we might have been, particularly had we continued to send large quantities of waste to 

landfill, for which Landfill Tax has increased significantly from £21 per tonne in 2006/07 to over £86 

in 2017/18. 

  

84



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 47 of 59 

6 What are we aiming for? 

The Partnership has made significant strides forwards during the lifetime of the previous Strategy, 

particularly in the development of an energy from waste facility to divert non-recycled waste away 

from landfill.  This chapter identifies the challenges faced by the Partnership, currently and over the 

next few years, and the proposed approach to meeting these challenges. 

6.1 Strategic objectives 

In preparing this JMWMS, the LWP held two workshops to identify their overarching vision and 

objectives.  Details of the process are included in Appendix A. 

As a result, and as identified at the beginning of this document, the Partnership has the vision: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

89% of responses to the public consultation either agreed or strongly agreed with this vision, and a 

number of comments were received in support of the combined focus on value for money, care for 

the environment and customer-friendly services. 

Opinion was divided as to whether the first priority should be money or the environment.  In view of 

that, the LWP have clarified that they will be seeking the best environmental option which can be 

afforded. 

In order to work towards this vision, the Partnership have developed and agreed a set of high-level 

objectives, which are key drivers for the delivery of this strategy.  In line with the vision, each of 

these objectives is to be considered in the light of the Partnership’s shared values that: 

All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the JMWMS represent the best 

possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

The ten objectives, generated at the July 2017 workshops and, where stated, refined through the 

consultation feedback, are as follows: 

Objective 1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream. 

This ties in with the EU and UK government commitments to move away from a "make, use, 
dispose" model towards a more circular economy. 

 

Objective 2. To move towards a common set of recycling materials. 

The UK government have expressed the view that the large number of different systems cause 
public confusion, and thus hamper people's ability to put the right things into recycling collections. 
Consultation:  This received considerable support and, in the light of feedback received, it has been 
strengthened by the removal of the word "consider". 

 

85



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 48 of 59 

Objective 3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections where technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable. 

The EU and UK government support food waste collections. 
Consultation:  Responses were divided as to whether this was a good idea.  Supporters pointed out 
the environmental benefits, whilst others raised practical issues.  The addition of "where practicable" 
allows for these concerns to be addressed, including through the undertaking of trial collections. 

 

Objective 4. To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of using all 
waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

The waste hierarchy remains a key driver.  This "promoting" will include both communicating with 
the public and lobbying of government and manufacturers for changes to the wider picture. 
Consultation:  In line with responses, specific reference is now made to waste minimisation. 

 

Objective 5. To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

Whilst it could be argued that recycling rate is not a true reflection of environmental performance, it 
remains the headline measure both at UK and at EU level. 
Update:  The EU Circular Economy Package has introduced longer-term targets and we will need to 
respond to how these are featured in Defra's new Resources and Waste Strategy. 

 

Objective 6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, 
and set appropriate targets. 

This will allow us to set targets which address progress towards our objectives rather than just 
chasing targets for their own sake. 

 

Objective 7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

This is a key way to measure the overall environmental impact of the services which we provide. 
Consultation:  This was strongly supported, particularly if it allows us to measure the impact of 
transportation. 

 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate capacity. 

Forecasts are that we will continue to see considerable waste growth, and we need to ensure we 
have sufficient capacity to handle it in the best way possible. 
Consultation:  In line with feedback, this has been expanded to include all waste streams rather than 
just residual (i.e. non-recycled) waste. 

 

Objective 9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives 
set by the strategy. 

Whilst the LWP consists of a number of separate authorities, it is essential that we seek ways to 
work together to achieve the best outcomes for the people of Lincolnshire as a whole. 

 

Objective 10. To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 
management services. 

It is important not to be held back by sticking with existing practices where something new could 
improve things. 

86



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 49 of 59 

 

6.2 The challenges we face 

Whilst the move from landfill to energy from waste as the main route for disposal of non-recycled 

waste has largely overcome the largest challenge identified in our previous Strategy, a number of 

key issues remain. 

The landscape is uncertain as it is unclear what direction the Government's Waste and Resources 

Strategy, and resulting policy, will take as the UK leaves the European Union, but it seems clear that 

we will need to address falling recycling rates and increasing waste arisings. 

6.2.1 Falling recycling rates in Lincolnshire 

As indicated in Chapter 5, the Lincolnshire County Council recycling rate (which covers the LWP as a 

whole) has fallen in recent years from a peak of 52.9% in 2010/11 to 43.7% in 2017/18. 

Whilst the overall tonnage collected from kerbside recycling bins has remained relatively stable, we 

have seen a rise in the percentage of that material which is not recyclable.  In 2017/18 over a 

quarter couldn’t be recycled, and this continues to rise still further.  This includes some recyclables 

which had been damaged by those non-recyclable wastes – e.g. Paper made wet and dirty by food 

waste – a situation made worse by more stringent MRF regulation and an increasing emphasis on 

material quality worldwide. 

6.2.2 The national and international picture 

Defra statistics12 show that the rate of recycling of waste from UK households has stalled.  A small 

rise in 2016 followed a fall in 2015, meaning that the 2016 rate of 45.2% was very similar to that of 

44.9% in 2014. 

As shown in Figure 6-1, this stalling follows a number of years of growth.  It is also interesting to note 

that the recycling rate for Wales is considerably higher than that in England, and that in Wales things 

operate very differently, including: 

 There is a different method of financing waste management; 

 All councils offer separate food waste collections; and 

 Some authorities operate three or even four weekly residual waste collections. 

  

                                                           
12

 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data 

87



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 50 of 59 

Figure 6-1 Defra chart showing data on recycling from UK households 

 

This issue is made more complex by uncertainty over what recycling rate we should be seeking to 

achieve.  Our current national target is the EU target of 50% recycling of waste from households by 

2020.  Beyond that, the EU Circular Economy Package sets targets rising to 65% in 2035.  The interim 

targets are set out in section 3.1.2 of this Strategy. 

Following the UK decision to exit the EU, the UK Government seem inclined to retain existing EU-

related legislation, but it is unclear whether the 2035 target will apply to the UK.  Furthermore, a UK-

wide target is not currently binding on individual local authorities. 

A further complication is that, as described in section 5.5, the UK's national performance is 

measured (and reported to the EU) on a different basis to the official recycling rate attributed to 

individual UK councils and thus to the LWP.  Although the LWP has joined in lobbying for this to be 

rectified, there is no indication that a change is imminent. 

6.2.3 Growth in waste arisings 

As described in Chapter 5, each year usually sees growth in the tonnage of waste for which the LWP 

is responsible.  There are two reasons for this increase: 

 Population growth – Lincolnshire’s population grew by more than 5% between 2011 and 

2017.  See section 5.1 for further details. 

 Weight of waste per person – Whilst this stabilised somewhat during the economic 

downturn, there is concern that this will now resume its historical upwards trend. 

This is a particular concern given that our Energy from Waste facility is already operating at close to 

full capacity and, without a new processing route, any additional residual waste would have to be 

sent to landfill. 

  

88



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 51 of 59 

7 How will we get there? – Our "Forward Plan" 

In order to deliver the aims and objectives to which the Partnership aspires (see earlier chapters), it 

is essential that work undertaken by each partner organisation is focussed on actions which will 

further the objectives as set out in this Strategy. 

This work is summarised in an Action Plan, the initial version of which has been developed alongside 

the preparation of this main Strategy document and is included herewith as Appendix D.  Once 

adopted, the Action Plan will be reviewed on a regular basis (see Chapter 8) to ensure that it remains 

up to date for the lifetime of the Strategy, with additional actions added as work programmes are 

developed. 

This chapter summarises the key themes which will shape our work together over the next few 

years, and these will guide the ongoing development of our Action Plan.  In order to ensure that the 

LWP's efforts are focussed in the right direction, this chapter includes a table showing the links 

identified between each theme and each of our strategic objectives. 

Also included here is information regarding the key workstreams identified for the initial Action Plan. 

 

7.1 Seeing the wider picture 

It is crucial that each LWP partner authority is proactive in seeking to consider their actions in as 

broad a context as possible.  This will feature a number of diverse elements including those shown 

below. 

7.1.1 Developing links with other local authorities 

Any local authority is stronger when it learns from and, where appropriate, seeks to work with other 

councils.  We will do this by: 

 Strengthening relationships within the LWP 

 Working with and learning from authorities outside the LWP 

7.1.2 Engaging with the commercial sector 

Particularly in a time of reducing council budgets, it is important that we engage with businesses 

working in the waste sector in order to: 

 Seek new opportunities to improve our services or save money 

 Seek ways in which we could benefit by being more commercially-minded 

 Be more aware of the potential value of the waste which we collect 

 Help to fill any processing capacity gaps 

7.1.3 Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps 

We have already identified some waste streams where there may be insufficient capacity at local 

facilities.  The largest and most pressing of these is that forecasts indicate that our growing 

89



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 52 of 59 

population are likely by 2037 to produce 54,000 tonnes per annum of residual waste above and 

beyond the capacity of our existing EfW facility. 

In order to mitigate against this, particularly in the light of expected growth in Lincolnshire’s 

population, we need to ensure that we: 

 Make good forecasts of how much of each waste type we are likely to have 

 Promote the development of infrastructure for new and existing waste streams 

 

7.2 Balancing economic and environmental benefits 

It is essential that every attempt is made to provide services which give value for money to the 

people of Lincolnshire, particularly due to the need for prudence with the public purse and ongoing 

annual reductions to Council budgets.  However, it is also important where possible to maximise the 

positive environmental impacts of how we handle our waste. 

The importance of both of these aspects is reflected in their inclusion in the Vision which the 

Partnership has agreed for this Strategy: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

7.2.1 Ensuring value for money 

Providing the best overall value for money for the council-taxpayers of Lincolnshire may mean 

finding innovative ways to fairly distribute costs and savings incurred by different authorities as part 

of any service change. 

7.2.2 Caring for the environment 

This will be undertaken in a number of ways, including: 

 Following the Waste Hierarchy – This is enshrined in law 

 Improving the environmental impact of existing services – e.g. use of heat from the Energy 

from Waste facility 

 Reducing our carbon footprint 

 Adopting and promoting “circular economy” thinking 

 Considering the use of new and innovative technology 

7.2.3 Finding the balance in practice 

In the light of consultation responses received, including those from partner authorities, the LWP 

have agreed to assess the benefits of different options by seeking "the best environmental option 

which can be afforded". 

 

90



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 53 of 59 

7.3 Reviewing what we collect and how 

A key element of the implementation of this Strategy is our response to the WRAP-sponsored work 

to assess the various options for how each of the LWP’s Waste Collection Authorities operate their 

collection services.  The decision-making process will need to feature a variety of elements such as: 

 Evaluating the business case – Do the finances stack up? 

 Focusing on streams with the most economic and/or environmental value 

 Identifying barriers and how to overcome them – e.g. startup costs of service changes 

 Considering the introduction of new collections – e.g. food waste 

 The impact on collection rounds and collection vehicles 

 The disposal both of the new collections and of other streams affected by the removal of 

some material 

 

7.4 Getting our messages across 

It is essential that we communicate well so that we, as Councils, are not acting in isolation.  This 

means developing plans for how to deliver key messages: 

 To the users of our waste services – e.g. What to put in which bin 

 To the national Government – Influencing national strategy and policy to tie in with our own 

 To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc 

 To the commercial sector – To waste producers and waste businesses 

Communicating with the public is particularly important, particularly in the event of any changes to 

services.  Indeed, this ties in directly with our strategic vision by making our services more customer-

friendly, and by making it as easy as possible for people to help us to protect the environment and to 

provide value for money. 

In communicating these messages it is important that, as well as explaining what we would like the 

public to do, we also explain why – i.e. how it will help to achieve our strategic objectives. 

 

91



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 54 of 59 

Table 7-1 Linking themes with strategic objectives 

Theme/Project Obj.1 Obj.2 Obj.3 Obj.4 Obj.5 Obj.6 Obj.7 Obj.8 Obj.9 Obj.10 

Seeing the wider picture 
Developing links with other local authorities – Strengthening relationships within 
the LWP  

Y 
      

Y 
 

Developing links with other local authorities – Working with and learning from 
authorities outside the LWP      

Y 
 

Y Y Y 

Engaging with the commercial sector – Seek ways in which we could benefit by 
being more commercially-minded 

Y   Y      Y 

Engaging with the commercial sector – Be more aware of the potential value of the 
waste which we collect 

Y Y  Y       

Engaging with the commercial sector – Help to fill any processing capacity gaps   Y Y    Y   

Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps – Make good forecasts of how 
much of each waste type we are likely to have 

Y  Y     Y   

Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps – Promote the development of 
infrastructure for new waste streams 

Y  Y Y   Y Y   

Balancing economic and environmental benefits 

Ensuring value for money Y  Y Y      Y 

Caring for the environment – Following the Waste Hierarchy    Y   Y    

Caring for the environment – Improving the environmental impact of existing 
services 

Y   Y Y Y Y    

Caring for the environment – Reducing our carbon footprint       Y    

Caring for the environment – Adopting and promoting “circular economy” thinking Y   Y      Y 

Reviewing what we collect and how 
Evaluating the business case   Y Y       

Focusing on streams with the most economic and/or environmental value Y Y  Y       

Identifying barriers and how to overcome them Y Y Y  Y     Y 

Considering the introduction of new collections    Y Y  Y    

Getting our messages across 
To the Lincolnshire public     Y      

To the national government     Y Y     

To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc   Y  Y Y     

To the commercial sector – To waste producers as well as waste businesses Y Y Y Y Y   Y  Y 

 

92



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 55 of 59 

7.5 Key workstreams for initial Action Plan 

The initial Action Plan has been developed on behalf of the LWP by an Officer Working Group 

including representatives from each partner council. 

Six separate streams of work have been identified to enable us to begin to work towards the 

objectives identified in this Strategy.  In the initial Action Plan, attached as Appendix D, each 

workstream is listed with one or more specific actions which relate to it. 

Further details of each workstream, and how it relates to our objectives, are listed below. 

7.5.1 Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal 
Scope: To investigate the feasibility of ‘harmonising’ the countywide kerbside MDR mix to 

find the most effective balance between reducing residual waste, increasing recycling 
rates, reducing contamination and maximising the value of our recyclate, taking into 
account household/population growth forecasts. 
 
In line with Consultation feedback, this workstream will also include: 

 A communications campaign to ensure that the public are well-informed 
about the service, and the part they can play in its success; and 

 A review of Household Waste Recycling Centres and how they tie in with 
kerbside services. 

 

Supports: Objectives 1,2,4,5,7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.2 Food Waste Trial 
Scope: A wide range of operational waste issues are being considered as part of the 

development of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. To assist in 
increasing the capacity at the Energy from Waste facility, one of these proposals is 
the potential for a countywide food waste collection and recycling service. 
 
It has therefore been decided to undertake a food waste trial in selective locations 
within South Kesteven District Council (SKDC), to cover urban, rural and semi-rural 
areas, totalling some 4733 properties. 
 

Supports: Objectives 1,2,3,4,5,7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.3 Strategic Review of Options for Continuous Improvement for Waste Collection and 
Disposal Arrangements in Lincolnshire 

Scope: To identify the most efficient and effective collection and disposal methods for 
managing the County’s municipal waste.  This will be a “theoretical” exercise 
ensuring existing arrangements are NOT taken into account.  All collection and 
disposal methods will be considered. 

Supports: Objectives 7,8,9 and 10 

 

7.5.4 Location of additional processing/disposal sites 

Scope: To identify high users of energy within Lincolnshire, both current and anticipated 
through Local Plans and other plans, so consideration can be given to investigate the 
opportunities for appropriate waste infrastructure and deliver a co-ordinated 
effective and efficient waste collection/disposal service, including for future growth. 

93



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 56 of 59 

This will also assist in the consideration of the financial aspects through the local 
energy produced and ensuring that the infrastructure is environmentally friendly by 
reducing carbon mileage. 

Supports: Objectives 7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.5 Choosing performance indicators appropriate to measure environmental 
performance 

Scope: To identify a suite of performance indicators which give a clear way of measuring our 
environmental performance, including our carbon footprint.  This will allow us to 
measure our progress towards our strategic objectives. 

Supports: Objectives 6 and 7 

 

  

94



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 57 of 59 

8 The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing 

the strategy 

To help identify the best option for managing our waste in the future, we have begun to: 

 Assess options for our waste collections; and 

 Consider the disposal implications of those collection options. 

However there are further considerations required to ensure the strategy can be implemented 

successfully to meet our shared strategic objectives. 

 

8.1 Monitoring the strategy 

In order to know how well we are meeting our strategic objectives, it is important to establish and 

report on appropriate measures. 

The key measures which are currently reported to the Partnership include: 

 Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting (formerly a National 

Indicator, NI 192) – This is particularly important as it reflects our contribution to the 

national recycling target. 

 Total tonnage of residual (non-recycled) waste – This is important as it reflects how well we 

are doing in implementing the waste hierarchy, both by recycling and through waste 

minimisation. 

As a result of our new strategic objectives, and in line with Objective 6, new measures will need to 

be considered in order to monitor key issues such as our combined carbon footprint.  The 

development of a new suite of measures is included in the Action Plan to accompany this Strategy, 

and will help us to pursue our Vision “to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 

customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”. 

In developing new measures, such as carbon emissions, it is important not to lose sight of the big 

picture, such as: 

 Advances we have made over the last few years – e.g. Compare performance not just with 

current services but also with where we would be if we landfilled everything. 

 Side benefits of our services – e.g. Use of the energy generated at the EfW facility. 

Once a suite of performance indicators has been agreed, these will be regularly reported to the LWP, 

with statistical data accompanied by sufficient commentary that informed decisions can be made on 

any necessary changes to service provision or to future versions of the Action Plan. 

 

  

95



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 58 of 59 

8.2 Implementing the strategy 

8.2.1 Funding and support 

Due to council budgets reducing, and the need to adopt more sustainable waste management 

practices, further pressure will be placed on service budgets.  While the Partnership has begun to 

identify ways in which our combined services might be improved, these will need to be considered 

pragmatically in the light of the available budget.  The Partnership will also need to actively seek any 

funding opportunities, whether from Government or otherwise, which can help us to afford to 

undertake work in support of the Objectives identified in this Strategy. 

8.2.2 Partnership working 

To ensure the Partnership continue to improve services and develop efficiencies it is essential to 

work together to deliver the strategy.  Working together enables the collection and disposal 

requirements to be coordinated to ensure that future collection service provision is provided with 

adequate treatment and disposal infrastructure. 

In accordance with Objective 9, we are committed: 

To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best opportunity to 

bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives set by the strategy. 

8.2.3 Implementing the strategy 

The Partnership has made a commitment to implement this strategy and has recognised that 

significant changes are required over the next 10 years.  To deliver these changes an action plan has 

been prepared by the Partnership which clarifies the actions and tasks required to meet 

theobjectives as set out in the Strategy. 

The delivery of tasks within the action plan will need to be monitored and reviewed annually to 

ensure the Partnership will deliver the targets it sets itself through this Strategy.  Where significant 

changes occur, the action plan will be updated accordingly. 

The action plan establishes how the Strategy will be delivered, considering what will be required by 

the Partnership in terms of: 

• Action required to deliver waste minimisation and further increase recycling and 

composting; 

• Future changes or improvements to collection services (residual waste, dry recycling, garden 

waste and potential food waste); and 

• Investments required to deliver future residual waste treatment facilities and additional 

recycling infrastructure. 

 

  

96



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 59 of 59 

8.3 Reviewing the strategy 

This Strategy will need to be regularly reviewed in order to ensure that our shared objectives remain 

appropriate, and to change them if necessary.  This will, in line with government guidance, happen 

at least every five years, meaning that the LWP will undertake an initial review by 2023 at the latest. 

This will be particularly important in the light of any changes to theoperational and legislative  

landscape, including: 

• The UK's departure from the European Union, and any changes in UK waste legislation and 

policy which arise from that; and 

• The level of funding provided to each Authority by the UK Government. 

As previously stated, the accompanying Action Plan will also be regularly reviewed to enable us to 

continue to meet our objectives. 

97



i 

Appendix A – Development of Vision & Objectives 

As a joint Strategy, shared by all LWP partner authorities, an important part of the strategy 

development process was to ensure early involvement from all. 

Two workshops were held in July 2017 at which partners had a series of discussions through which a 

shared Vision and Objectives were agreed.  Full details of these workshops, and the output from 

them, are shown in the attached report. 

With the addition of a 10th Objective to reflect the LWP's desire to seek innovative solutions, this 

Vision and Objectives were presented in the Consultation Draft of the JMWMS, and were generally 

well received.  In response to feedback received, the agreed Objectives have been updated, 

although each one still retains the theme which was set out at the original workshops. 

  

98



Ricardo Energy & Environment 

 

 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
Workshops  

___________________________________________________ 
Report for Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership JMWMS 

 

ED 10614  |  Issue Number 1   |   Date 03/08/2017 

 

 
 

99

matthew.dobson
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_1
Typewritten Text
ii

matthew.dobson_2
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_3
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_4
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_5
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_6
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_7
Typewritten Text



  

  
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Customer: Contact: 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership John Woodruff 
Ricardo Energy & Environment 
Gemini Building, Harwell, Didcot, OX11 0QR, 
United Kingdom 

 

t: +44 (0) 1235 75 3263 

e: john.woodruff@ricardo.com 

 
Ricardo-AEA Ltd is certificated to ISO9001 and 
ISO14001 

Customer reference: 

ED10614 

Confidentiality, copyright & reproduction: 

This report is the Copyright of Ricardo Energy & 
Environment. It has been prepared by Ricardo 
Energy & Environment, a trading name of 
Ricardo-AEA Ltd, under contract to Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership dated 03/08/2017. The 
contents of this report may not be reproduced in 
whole or in part, nor passed to any organisation 
or person without the specific prior written 
permission of Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
Ricardo Energy & Environment and LWP accept 
no liability whatsoever to any third party for any 
loss or damage arising from any interpretation or 
use of the information contained in this report, or 
reliance on any views expressed therein. 
 
 

Author: 

John Woodruff, Gareth Morton, Helen Sankey 

Approved By: 

John Woodruff 

Date: 

03 August 2017 

Ricardo Energy & Environment reference: 

Ref: ED10614- Issue Number 1 

100

matthew.dobson_8
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_9
Typewritten Text
iii



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
Workshops 

Introduction 

As the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership’s (LWP)'s only Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), Lincolnshire 
County Council (LCC) has taken responsibility for the project management of the review of its current 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS).  
 
In order to ensure that that the JMWMS is jointly owned by all the authorities in the LWP, the WDA 
arranged two workshop sessions, to which each LWP member authority was invited. These were 
designed to encourage input from across the LWP in formulating the Visions and Objectives of the 
Strategy through the capture of a balance of views from across the LWP member authorities. 
 
The Workshops were held at the Hykeham Energy from Waste Visitor Centre.  
 
The first Workshop, on 6th July 2017, was titled “What do we want to achieve?" and aimed to reach 
agreement on the Vision and broad brush Objectives for the JMWMS.  
 
The second Workshop, on 20th July 2017, was titled "How do we achieve it?" and aimed to develop a 
framework for the action plan.  
 
The Workshops were Chaired and facilitated by Ricardo Energy & Environment, to provide an 
independent voice, with the aim of ensuring all attendees were able to voice their opinions, concerns, 
experience and ambitions. A key aim of the workshops was to ensure that the JMWMS is equally 
informed by input from all eight LWP authorities. 
 
Over twenty delegates from the eight authorities (Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln Council, 
East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland District Council, South 
Kesteven District Council, West Lindsey District Council, and Lincolnshire County Council) attended 
each workshop to contribute to the discussion and put forward their views. A list of the attendees at 
each workshop can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

Workshop Methodology 

Each workshop commenced with a briefing from the Chair outlining the overarching process of 
developing the Strategy, and consideration of legislative and political constraints, opportunities and 
other influencing factors impacting on the Strategy. Attendees were then invited to contribute to 
discussions regarding challenges and opportunities and their priorities for the Partnership. 
 
To facilitate discussion, a Scoping Paper had been prepared, setting out the broad Objectives as 
identified by the County Council. Additionally, information had been compiled to summarise the aims 
of the current (2008) Strategy, and performance indicators demonstrating performance across the 
original ambitions.  
 
The Agenda for each Workshop was designed to provide enough time for a thorough analysis of the 
Scoping Paper, with the option of changing, adding, revising, removing or redesigning each of these 
elements. 
 
The workshops utilised a combination of group discussions, break-out sessions and summary 
deliberations to scope the issues, challenges and opportunities, whilst identifying the key priorities for 
the LWP.  

101

matthew.dobson_10
Typewritten Text
iv



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

Summary of Outcomes 

During the discussions, a general structure of elements of the Strategy began to form: this is 
illustrated below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Discussions regarding each of these elements are set out in the following sections. 

1. Vision 

At the second workshop, the Vision for the Strategy agreed in Workshop 1 was re-presented to the 
group and agreed: 
 

Vision for the Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management strategy 
 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

 

2. Objectives 

At the second workshop, attendees considered the revised Strategic Objectives. All comments, 
considerations, concerns and criticisms from Workshop 1 had been recorded, and these were used to 
thoroughly revise the Objectives in line with the Workshop’s overall feedback and input. 
Subsequently, these revised Objectives had been circulated by e-mail for further feedback. 
Comments were generally positive, but further comments were received, and these had been 
incorporated into a third iteration of each Objective where necessary. Some Objectives had been 
combined or removed, as they were considered actions. 
 
Attendees at the second workshop analysed, considered and amended each Objective, until 
agreement was reached on the final iteration of each one. A summary of the evolution of the 
Objectives, from Scoping Paper to final iteration, can be found at Appendix 2. 
 
Throughout the review of the list of Objectives, it became clear that two over-riding elements were 
being repeated, and were in danger of making the Objectives unnecessarily wordy and repetitive. It 
was thus agreed that these two over-riding values should be applied when considering any of the 
other Objectives. 
 
A hierarchy was thus agreed whereby the LWP will have its vision, underneath which are the 
elements which describe the values which inform each of the Objectives.  
 
All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the JMWMS represent the best 
possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

 
Vision 

 
Common values 

 
 

Objectives 
 

Forward Plan 
 

Action Plan 

102

matthew.dobson_11
Typewritten Text
v



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

 
The agreed Objectives will thus all be subject to these overarching approaches, which clearly tie in 
with the "value for money" and "environmental" aspects of the Vision. 
 
The discussions around the common values developed a preference for ordering the Objectives to 
reflect the priority order of: value for money; environmental outcomes; and other Objectives.  
 
In the light of the comments from attendees, to reflect this approach, the financial Objectives move to 
the top of the list, whilst the environmental Objectives follow, ordered by their position in the Waste 
Hierarchy. This leaves the LWP governance review as the final Objective, recognising that it is 
currently less of a priority as a review was done in 2016. 
 
The revised list of Objectives in the Summary reflects the revised ordering agreed. 
 

The draft agreed Objectives:  
 

1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream 

 

2. To consider moving towards a common set of recycling materials.  

 

3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections 

 

4. To explore new opportunities of using all waste as a resource in accordance with the 
waste hierarchy. 

 

5. To contribute to the UK recycling target of 50% by 2020.  

 

6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, and 
set appropriate targets.  

 

7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

 

8. To make an objective assessment of whether further residual waste 
recovery/disposal capacity is required and, if necessary, seek to secure appropriate 
capacity.  

 

9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the Objectives set 
by the Strategy. 

 

 
It was noted that further editing of the Objectives may be necessary as a result of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Public Consultation processes, as well as any changes in 
external factors between now and the adoption of the Strategy. 
 

3. Forward Plan 

Attendees at the 2nd workshop were briefed on the need to develop a Forward Plan as part of the 
main JMWMS document.  This Plan will summarise the types of strategic action required to fulfil the 
agreed objectives. 

 
Whilst discussions at both workshops largely only focussed as far down as the objectives, those 
discussions did identify a number of types of action required to achieve the agreed Objectives. 

103

matthew.dobson_12
Typewritten Text
vi



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

 
The list attached as Appendix 3, prepared by the County Council, was intended to be shared at the 
2nd workshop, but the planned session to discuss and revise it was superseded by the need to talk 
about specific and urgent actions regarding one of the objectives – the introduction of food waste 
collections. 
 
This list will be circulated in a format which allows for further comment and for the addition of other 
proposed action types for the Forward Plan. 
 

4. Strategic Action Plan 

The initial Action Plan will be a separate document developed from the JMWMS Forward Plan.  This 
will differ from the Forward Plan in that it will: 

 
1) Be more detailed – i.e. who will do what and by when. 

2) Contain targets and activities which are "SMART" – i.e. Specific, Measurable, Achievable, 

Relevant and Time-based. 

3) Cover only the first year of the Strategy's lifetime – It will be reviewed annually thereafter. 

Work on the Action Plan will begin once the Forward Plan has captured the types of action which are 
required to meet the agreed strategic objectives. 
 
 

Food Waste Collections 
 
Having said that work on the Action Plan is to begin later, discussions planned to happen at 
Workshop 2 regarding actions to go into the Forward Plan were postponed in light of the urgent 
requirement for movement on the assessment of food waste collections, as identified by elected 
Members meeting together prior to Workshop 2. 

 
Work is underway, including as part of the WRAP-sponsored assessment of collections consistency, 
to identify and allocate the necessary actions, including: 
 

 Assessment of the costs to introduce collections. 

 Assessment of the possible disposal savings. 

 Consideration of a pilot project to begin as soon as possible. 

 Information-gathering from other authorities who have introduced such collections. 

 Visits to see possible vehicles for doing the collections. 

This work will need to be monitored, recorded, and included in the JMWMS documentation. 

104

matthew.dobson_13
Typewritten Text
vii



 

 

 
 
 
 

The Gemini Building  
Fermi Avenue 
Harwell 
Didcot 
Oxfordshire 
OX11 0QR 
United Kingdom 
t: +44 (0)1235 753000 
e: enquiry@ricardo.com 
 

ee.ricardo.com 

105

matthew.dobson_14
Typewritten Text
viii

matthew.dobson_15
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_16
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_17
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_18
Typewritten Text



ix 

Appendix B – Consultation Feedback 

A formal consultation process was undertaken from 4th April to 2nd July 2018.  This appendix 

summarises the results of that consultation and its influence on the final version of the JMWMS. 

 

Summary 

The draft strategy was generally well received, and responses to the consultation indicated a high 

level of support for the overall direction of the JMWMS.  Specifically, of the 147 responses to the 

survey: 

 89% agreed or strongly agreed with the vision we have set out 

 75% agreed or strongly agreed that the proposed objectives can achieve that vision 

Many of the comments received tied in with the vision which we have set out, agreeing that the LWP 

should: 

 Ensure value for money; 

 Care for the environment; and 

 Provide customer-friendly services. 

Other comments suggested areas in which the JMWMS could be strengthened or revised.  Examples 

of how these are reflected in the revised version of the JMWMS are shown below. 

Feedback received How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Specific actions need to be identified to show 
how the LWP will work to achieve their 
objectives. 

An initial Action Plan has been produced and is 
attached as Appendix D.  This Action Plan will be 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it remains 
up to date and effective. 

Better publicity is needed to ensure that people 
know what to put into which collections. 

The Action Plan includes: 

 A review to try to simplify our collection 
schemes; and 

 A communications campaign. 

Opinion was divided over whether food waste 
collections were a good idea. 

The Action Plan includes undertaking a trial to 
assess the effectiveness of food waste 
collections.  This trial, which actually began in 
June 2018, will enable decisions on possible 
wider collections to be based on real data. 

 

Consultation process 

As part of the waste strategy and SEA process there is a statutory requirement to undertake 

consultation.  Furthermore, consultation enables the LWP to take into account the views of the 

public and other stakeholders in the final JMWMS. 

106



x 

It is recommended that the consultation period lasts for 90 days, but this is not statutory.  The public 

were consulted on the proposed draft strategy and the draft environmental report, which presents 

the outcomes of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

There are numerous consultation methods available and each authority is free to choose how their 

consultation is undertaken. 

Consultation methods selected 

The LWP chose to carry out a formal consultation between 4th April and 2nd July 2018 (90 days).  The 

documents made available during the consultation period were:  

 The full draft strategy and appendices 

 Summary of the strategy 

 Draft environmental report and its appendices 

The consultation took the following forms:  

 Publicising the consultation 

 Web-based consultation documents and questionnaire 

 Paper documents and questionnaire (available on request) 

 Libraries and LWP council offices 

 Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Publicising the consultation 

In order to reach as wide an audience as possible, a variety of means were used to publicise the 

consultation, including: 

 Press releases – These were taken up and published by a number of media outlets 

 Social media advertisements – Facebook and Twitter 

 Direct emails to key groups 

o Statutory SEA consultees (Environment Agency, Natural England & Historic England); 

o Parish Councils in Lincolnshire; 

o A variety of waste-related businesses in Lincolnshire; and 

o Neighbouring councils. 

Questionnaire – Web-based approach 

In the light of the aims set out in the vision – to protect the environment and provide value for 

money – it was decided that the focus of the consultation should be online rather than producing 

large numbers of paper copies. 

Local residents and any other interested parties could access all consultation documents through the 

Recycle for Lincolnshire area of the Lincolnshire County Council website.  A web-based questionnaire 

was provided to invite views on key topics, the benefit being that, as well as receiving comments, it 

provided statistics giving an indication of overall opinion.  Also, a dedicated email account 

(wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk) was provided for other feedback and queries. 

107

mailto:wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


xi 

In total 147 completed questionnaires were completed, including five which were received in paper 

form and typed in by council staff.  The results are summarised later in this appendix. 

Questionnaire – Paper copies 

Whilst our preferred engagement method was online, the website made it clear that we were happy 

to send out on request paper copies of any or all of the documents.  A number of items were sent 

out in the post but, unfortunately, only five paper questionnaires were returned. 

Questionnaire – Libraries and LWP council offices 

Aware that not everyone has access to the internet, and in order to reach as wide an audience as 

possible, paper copies of key documents were sent out for display in public locations around the 

county: 

 The main office of each of the eight LWP partner councils; and 

 All 15 of the County Council's core public libraries. 

In addition to a single reference copy of the full JMWMS and a poster advertising the consultation, 

each location received several copies of the following which could be taken away: 

 A brief summary version of the JMWMS document – Essentially Chapter 1, including how to 

access the full documents and how to respond; 

 The consultation response form; and 

 A Freepost return envelope. 

Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Between them, Councillors are the elected representatives of every member of the public in 

Lincolnshire.  In order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Membership of each 

Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to give a face to face 

briefing, and to invite them to submit a formal consultation response.  These responses are 

summarised later in this appendix. 

 

Questionnaire results 

The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions which, for clarity, are divided below into four sections.  

Several questions came as a pair with a selection list for the first part (to allow for statistical analysis) 

and a follow-up question asking for further information. 

It was decided not to ask for any personal details so that answers could remain truly anonymous.  

This also avoids possible issues under Data Protection legislation as it would be difficult to justify 

that such information was necessary. 

The following responses almost all were submitted online.  The five paper copies received was typed 

into the online form by a member of council staff to allow them to be included in the statistical 

reporting. 

108



xii 

 

Responder details 

1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey? 

We have managed to obtain the views of a significant number of Lincolnshire residents.  

Unfortunately we have not heard much from other groups. 

 Responses Notes 

Lincolnshire Resident 126 Also received seven responses via email 

County Councillor 2 The County Council also responded via 
formal Council submission – see later in 
this appendix 

District Councillor 6 All seven District Councils also 
responded via formal Council 
submission – see later in this appendix 

Parish/Town Councillor 5 Also received two Parish Council 
responses via email 

Waste business employee/owner 4 Also received two responses via email 

Neighbouring authority representative 0 Details sent to all neighbouring 
authorities. None used the survey, but 
two responded directly by email. 

Other 4 All were formal responses from LWP 
partner authorities. Also received three 
"other" responses via email 

TOTAL 147  

 

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based? 

Whilst some areas are better represented than others, we have managed to get multiple responses 

from every area within Lincolnshire.  The two "other" responses were people who did not answer 

this question. 

 

 

14 
18 

39 
33 

15 14 12 

2 

0

10

20

30

40

B
B

C

C
o

LC

EL
D

C

N
K

D
C

SH
D

C

SK
D

C

W
LD

C

O
th

er

Waste Collection Authority 

109



xiii 

Contents of draft JMWMS 

3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this 

Strategy? 

89% of responders agree or strongly agree with the vision as set out in the draft JMWMS: 

"To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire". 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Concern was expressed that the vision was too long, and that balancing the contrasting elements 

could be used as an excuse for poor performance – e.g. 'it was innovative but too expensive' or 'it 

was effective but not customer friendly'.  It was also suggested that the vision should mention waste 

minimisation. 

As with other questions, comments not directly related to this question will be included in the list of 

"comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving 

our Waste Strategy? 

43% of responders believed other issues should be considered. 

 

47% 

42% 

10% 

1% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

57% 

43% 
No

Yes

110



xiv 

If you answered "no", then what else should we include? 

Due to the wide range of suggestions, proposed additions are included in the list of "comments 

received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 

challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

75% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Those who disagreed expressed a variety of concerns and suggestions, including: 

 Funding – Need to lobby central government for more funding 

 Commit more – Should say what we'll do, not "consider" or "seek to" 

 Food waste collections – Not convinced of the environmental or financial benefits 

 Costs – Need to think long-term savings even if it means extra costs now 

 Commercial waste – Need to consider this, not just household waste 

 Education – Need better communications to educate the public 

 

  

18% 

57% 

21% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

111



xv 

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all 

the actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

72% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

There were multiple responses along similar lines: 

 We need to state a more specific list of actions 

 We need to communicate better with the public 

Other comments have been grouped together and included in the list of "comments received" given 

later in this Appendix. 

 

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

48% of responders have specific concerns. 

 

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have. 

Due to the wide range of concerns expressed, these are included in the list of "comments received" 

given later in this Appendix. 

 

13% 

59% 

25% 

3% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

52% 

48% 
No

Yes

112



xvi 

Equality issues 

The Equality Act 2010 places organisations under a duty to ascertain how people with 'protected 

characteristics' are impacted by an organisation's activity, and how steps may be taken to mitigate 

or eliminate adverse impact(s). 

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or 

someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

 Positive 
Impact 

No Impact Negative 
Impact 

Don't Know 

Age 14% 47% 19% 20% 

Sex (male/female) 9% 69% 6% 16% 

Disability 9% 43% 21% 27% 

Sexual orientation 6% 73% 2% 19% 

Pregnancy and maternity 9% 55% 13% 22% 

Marriage and civil partnership 8% 72% 2% 18% 

Race (ethnicity)  5% 72% 4% 19% 

Religion or belief 6% 73% 2% 18% 

Gender reassignment 5% 73% 2% 20% 

 

There was a general feeling that, for most people groups and particularly for future generations, the 

impact would be positive.  However, there were three categories for which more people identified a 

negative impact than a positive one: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

The opportunity was given to identify other specific groups who could be impacted. The only other 

group suggested was residents of terraced properties, and the impact suggested has been included 

in the table below. 

Also, some respondents expressed concern that, until the Action Plan identifies specific service 

changes, it is not possible to identify possible impacts. 

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you (or 

someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be reduced? 

The comments made in this section have been added to the Equality Impact Analysis which is being 

undertaken to accompany the JMWMS.  The below summarises the responses received, including 

suggestion mitigation for negative impacts.  These impacts, and appropriate mitigation, will be 

considered in putting the JMWMS into action. 

NB – The impacts listed are those identified in consultation responses and, in some cases, it is not 

clear what the perceived impact actually is. 

 

113



xvii 

Negative Impact Groups affected Mitigation 

Age Disability Pregnancy 
and 

maternity 

Other 

Confused by service 
changes 

Y Y Y Race 
(language) 

Focussed 
communications 
through a variety of 
methods 

Difficulty moving heavy 
wheelie bins 

Y Y Y Sex 
(did not specify 

which) 

Assisted collections 

Repeated emptying of 
kitchen caddy 

Y Y Y  Small kitchen caddy 
with liner 

Possible infection from 
decaying food 

Y Y Y  Lidded kitchen caddy; 
exterior bin; weekly 
collections 

HWRC / bring bank 
access 

Y Y Y Sex 
("parents with 
children and 
single parent 
families being 

more likely to be 
female") 

Proactive assistance 
from site staff 

Access to plastic recycling 
if kerbside service 
removed due to Deposit 
Return Scheme 

 Y   Consideration of 
alternative service if 
this happens 

Nappies & formula milk 
produce extra waste 

  Y  Response suggested: 
"Promote breast-
feeding and reusable 
nappies" 

Lack of space for storing 
multiple bins 

   Residents of 
terraced 

properties 

Consideration of 
alternative service 

 

In addition to the specific negative impacts which were identified, it has also been noted that a 

number of other respondents also expressed, in the text of their answers to other questions, the 

view that age could be an issue, and that the LWP need to ensure that services are accessible to 

everyone. 

 

  

114



xviii 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The remaining questions related to the Environmental Report which accompanies the JMWMS.  This 

was prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment, a process which we are required to 

undertake alongside the development of the JMWMS itself. 

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the 

draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

77% of responders said "yes". 

 

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included. 

Most of those who answered "no" said that the Environmental Report was too long and too 

complicated to read.  Unfortunately the SEA process is prescribed by legislation, and the contents of 

the Environmental Report reflect that process.  We have endeavoured to take the SEA results into 

account in writing the JMWMS. 

Others said that the SEA is difficult to assess without seeing the Action Plan which will accompany 

the JMWMS. Potential environmental impacts will indeed be considered in developing the initial and 

future Action Plans. This will include the location of potential new waste facilities, which was 

another topic raised. 

One responder was concerned that there is not enough focus in the SEA on climate change and 

carbon emissions.  This was raised in other responses with regard to the overall JMWMS, and is 

reflected in our objective "to seek to reduce our carbon footprint". 

Other responses to this question raised concerns about the JMWMS in general, and these are 

included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

  

77% 

23% 

Yes

No

115



xix 

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 

information provided in the Environmental Report? 

81% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account. 

Those who "strongly disagree" all expressed concern over the length and complexity of the 

Environmental Report, as did several of those who "disagree".  As already stated, this is necessary 

due to how the SEA process is prescribed by legislation. 

Other responses to this question mirror concerns raised in response to earlier questions, and these 

are included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

Comments received 

Formal responses from LWP partners 

As previously stated, in order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Elected 

Membership of each Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to 

give a face to face briefing.  Each council was invited to submit a formal consultation response. 

The following provides a summary of those responses. 

Five responses were submitted in the form of the same questionnaire as used by the public.  These 

are included in the statistical results shown above, and are summarised below. 

  

11% 

70% 

15% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

116



xx 

3 – Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this Strategy? 

3 x Strongly agree (1 further partner said "strongly agree" in their non-questionnaire response) 
1 x Agree 
1 x Disagree – "Not specific enough" 

4 – Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving our 
Waste Strategy? 

2 x No 
3 x Yes – Include: 

 Containing costs/maximising income 

 Education and regular information to the public 

 Wider national and global picture and circular economy 

 Managing expectations of increasing recycling rate whilst budgets are increasingly stretched 

 Waste minimisation and packaging reduction 

5 – Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 
challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

1 x Strongly agree 
2 x Agree 
2 x Disagree – Need specific actions & targets 

6 – Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all the 
actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

3 x Agree 
2 x Disagree – Need specific action plan 

7 – Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

5 x Yes – We need a specific action plan & targets 

8 – Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or someone 
you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

No specific impacts identified 

9 – Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the draft Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

2 x Yes 
3 x No – Need action plan and identification of specific infrastructure first 

10 – Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 
information provided in the Environmental Report? 

5 x Agree – Although may need reassessing when Action Plan is developed 

 

Comments made by each partner, including those provided in the form of the questionnaire, are 

grouped together by theme below. 

Overall strategy 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Strategy and actions need to be agile to react to changes 

 Be customer-friendly / customer satisfaction 

 Ensure we consider the future, not just the present 

 Programme in a JMWMS review 

 Need "circular economy" thinking 

Other responses  Seek innovative ideas by looking for new ideas and technologies 

 Include section on "lessons learned" from previous JMWMS and action plan 

 Need more detailed review of previous (2008) JMWMS and lessons learned 

 Include more national and global context 

 Need to reflect rising costs due to waste growth 

117



xxi 

Specific sections 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need a specific action plan with timelines 

 Objectives to be more committed – "we will" rather than "consider" 

Other responses  Vision to say "Lincolnshire people" 

 Vision not specific enough 

 Add an objective on waste minimisation 

 Change Objective 8 from "residual waste" to "all waste" 

Recycling collections 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need harmonising (nationally?) 

 Simpler collection system/mix 

 Kerbside collections of batteries and WEEE 

Other responses  Collect glass separately 

 More enforcement against contamination 

 Consider how to handle textiles 

Lobbying 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Manufacturers/government to reduce packaging 

Other responses  Use fewer types of plastic 

 Deposit Return Schemes for plastics are a good thing, so support them 

Food waste 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Food waste collections a good thing 

 Trial data important 

 Food waste collections need to be backed by education campaign 

 Needs proper consideration of funding of separate collections 

Other responses  Encourage food waste minimisation 

Education 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need better engagement with the public 

 Promote waste hierarchy, including reduction and reuse 

 Need simple and consistent messages 

 Education through schools 

Other responses  How to reach "Houses in Multiple Occupation"? 

 Locally-targeted campaigns 

 Incentivise residents to recycle more 

 Add an objective on education 

 Change public perception of "landfill bin" with a better word than "residual" 

Disposal & processing 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Consider using out-of-county facilities 

Other responses  Use anaerobic digestion for food waste and garden waste 

 Use/develop local sites 

 Consider disposal options to handle population/waste growth 

 Maximise energy use from new and existing EfW facilities 

Funding 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Make clearer that Council funding is reducing and services need to contain 
costs 

Other responses  Ensure value for money to the public 

 Decide on the balance between costs and "doing the right thing 
environmentally 

  

118



xxii 

Other 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Better partnership working (including with neighbours?) 

 Review of HWRC provision (including cross-border arrangements?) 

 Review LWP governance model 

 Regular monitoring and reporting of performance 

Other responses  Specific data needs reviewing or updating 

 On-street recycling bins 

 Healthcare waste should be NHS responsibility 

 Need to better understand why recycling rates are falling 

 Need to review equality impacts and SEA when action plan has been 
developed 

 Support commercial waste collections  

 Move away from a specific recycling target 

 

Statutory Consultees 

As part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment process, we are required to consult with the 

Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England. None of them raised any specific 

concerns regarding either the draft Environmental Report or the draft JMWMS. 

From others 

The following summarises the comments which were submitted to the consultation.  Every 

comment has been read individually but, due to the varied nature and sometimes personal nature of 

the individual responses, they are here summarised into themes. 

Themes mentioned by 10 or more people included: 

Theme Type(s) of response 

Care for the environment  An important thing to include 

 Not enough mention of climate change and carbon reduction 

 Seek to recycle more 

Value for money  An important thing to include 

 Councils need to think and act more commercially 

 Lobby government for more funding rather than raise Council Tax 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

Opinion was divided between: 

 Take the cheapest option rather than put up Council Tax 

 Do the right thing environmentally regardless of cost 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Draft JMWMS doesn't identify enough specific actions 

 Whole JMWMS needs to be more ambitious 

 Set clear targets 

Improve 
communications/education 

 What to put in which collection 

 Especially important if services change 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Not enough mention of waste reduction 

 Lobby national government for new legislation 

 Take action locally 

119



xxiii 

Theme Type(s) of response 

Food waste collections Opinion was divided between: 

 They are a good thing – e.g. Better environmentally 

 They are a bad thing – e.g. Smell; costly to run; inconvenient 

Customer friendly services  Simpler recycling system 

 Need consistent services across the county 

 Ensure services are accessible to all, especially the elderly and 
disabled 

HWRC improvements  More reuse, especially by "people in need" 

 Improve site layout 

 Open more sites and for longer hours to combat flytipping 

 Accept extra materials – e.g. tyres; asbestos 

 Allow/arrange use of sites outside of county 

 

Conclusion 

The JMWMS has been reviewed and, where necessary, updated in line with the comments received 

through the consultation process.  The majority of this list matches the above summary of public 

responses, as these are also broadly in line with responses from LWP partners.  Where partners 

raised additional items, these are added at the foot of this table. 

Theme How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Care for the environment  Text added to back up the objective on carbon reduction 

 Action Plan to include assessment of carbon footprint 

Value for money  Already a strong focus of the draft JMWMS so no change 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

 Given the mixed views expressed as to which should take priority, 
the revised JMWMS clarifies the LWP's intention to choose the 
best environmental option that we can afford.  Any service 
changes will thus need to reflect this. 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Action Plan produced to accompany JMWMS 

Improve 
communications/education 

 Included in Action Plan 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Text added to make more reference to this 

Food waste collections  Action Plan includes a trial to get better information for an 
informed decision 

Customer friendly services  Collections under review through Action Plan 

 Any proposed service changes will consider accessibility to all 

HWRC improvements  HWRC services to be reviewed 

Additional items raised by LWP partners 

Reporting and review  Chapter 8 has been revised to be more specific on this 

Disposal and processing  More information added on future options to be considered 

 

  

120



xxiv 

As referred to in Section 3.4 of this JMWMS, the implementation of this strategy, particularly in the 

enactment of the accompanying Action Plan, will need to take into account the waste management 

actions and strategies of our neighbouring authorities. 

In view of this, we specifically wrote to each neighbouring Council and/or Waste Partnership as part 

of the Public Consultation process, asking them for any information which they think it would be 

helpful for us to take into account. 

 

We received two consultation responses from neighbours. 

North Lincolnshire Council 

North Lincolnshire Council submitted a comprehensive response to each of the 10 proposed JMWMS 

Objectives.  These are shown below. 

121



xxv 

 

122



xxvi 

 

The LWP notes NLC's general support for this JMWMS and will take into account the points made, particularly: 

 Their support for the consideration of municipal ownership of waste facilities, along with their interest in developing joint infrastructure assets; 

 Their interest in the concepts of a harmonised recycling mix and alternative measures for environmental performance; and 

 The references to the updated contents of the EU Circular Economy Package, which are reflected in this revised JMWMS. 

123



xxvii 

Nottinghamshire County Council 

"Nottinghamshire County Council welcomes the vision and aspirations set out within the draft 

strategy and future opportunities to share best practice and experience amongst local authorities. 

The County Council does not have any formal comments to make at this stage but would be grateful 

to be kept informed of progress with the strategy and the development of specific action plans in 

support of the strategy." 

The LWP notes NCC's general support for this JMWMS.  We will indeed continue to liaise with them 

regarding progress both with our own strategic developments and with theirs. 

  

124



 

xxviii 

Appendix D – Initial Action Plan 

As described throughout this JMWMS, and as requested in numerous responses to the Public 

Consultation, this Action Plan sets out the actions which the LWP will undertake to work towards the 

Objectives which have been set. 

This appendix contains the initial Action Plan, including the dates by which each task will be 

completed.  It should be noted that some of the dates listed are before the adoption of the final 

version of this JMWMS.  That is because work is already underway on workstreams which are 

unlikely to change in the closing stages of the development of the Strategy. 

The Action Plan will be reviewed regularly in order to ensure it remains up to date in response to: 

 Whether the actions being undertaken are helping us to achieve our Objectives; and 

 Any changes in legislation or other strategic drivers. 

 

125



 

xxix 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1 Strategic Review of 
Kerbside Mixed Dry 
Recycling Collection and 
Disposal 

1,2,4,5,7,8 
and 10 

12th July 2018 – 
Initial Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.  
 
End September 2018 
– Initial review 
completed and 
reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership 

Satisfaction with waste/recycling 
services by council - targets to be 
continuous improvement on base line 
performance.  
 
Recycling and composting rate by 
council- target to be agreed, but to 
reach a minimum of 50% by 2020.  
 
Reduction in baseline Mixed Dry 
Recycling contamination rate (27%). 
 
 
Reduction in carbon footprint from 
2017/18.  
 

To have a clear way forward on what is being 
collected and new contract in place for 2020. 
 
 
 
A consistent harmonised Mixed Dry Recycling mix 
across all Waste Collection Authorities. 
 
 
A common message on Mixed Dry Recycling that can 
be used by all partners and a clear communications 
campaign. 
 
A Mixed Dry Recycling contract in place flexible 
enough to reward commercial value of reducing 
contamination rates and non-target materials. 
 
Improved recycling rate over current baseline. 
 

1.01 Evaluation of the current 
volumes/weights of waste 
going to the Energy from 
Waste facility and to 
Materials Recovery 
Facilities and assessing the 
impact or difference on the 
factors above should 
kerbside collection waste 
streams be adjusted and/or 
harmonised. 

 Complete  
  

Produce a table and analysis for the 
factors impacting the waste streams.  
  
Officer Working Group to recommend 
to the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
what the mix should be and what is 
achievable. 

Findings to be presented to the  Officer Working 
Group on the 8th August 2018 with recommendations.  

126



 

xxx 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.02 Outline infrastructure and 
capital costs of 
implementing these 
adjustments to the Waste 
Collection Authorities and 
Waste Disposal Authority.  

 Complete   Full costings to be reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership with 
recommendations on the way 
forward. 

 

1.03 Assessment of the 
Materials Recovery 
Facility/Recycling market 
for Mixed Dry Recycling 
through soft market testing 
and direct market 
engagement, to identify 
potential suppliers to 
handle the Mixed Dry 
Recycling mix proposed and 
if so at what cost compared 
to current arrangements.  

 Results of soft 
market testing July 
2018. 
 
Procurement 
timeline key for 
understanding the 
mix from April 2020.  

What the Mixed Dry Recycling mix is 
going to be needs to be agreed as 
soon as possible before new contract 
to commence in 2020. 

Officer Working Group to agree the mix and report to 
the Lincolnshire Chief Executives meeting in 
September 2018 and Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
with the recommendations.  

127



 

xxxi 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.04 Assessment of the public 
information and education 
campaign required to 
support effective 
implementation of a 
revised/harmonised Mixed 
Dry Recycling mix. 

 End September/ 
early Oct 2018 for 
sticker campaign to 
go on all bins across 
Lincolnshire to 
address the main 
contaminants.  

Satisfaction with waste/recycling 
services by council - targets to be 
continuous improvement on base line 
performance.  
 
Recycling and composting rate by 
council- target to be agreed, but to 
reach a minimum of 50% by 2020.  
To be revised periodically to meet 
national targets. 
 
To aid the recycling rate this is key 
marketing if the Mixed Dry Recycling 
mix changes. 
 
Improved recycling rate, satisfaction 
levels across the County remain high 
with residents and the message is 
clear.   

Improved awareness of what can/cannot be recycled, 
so as to align with the strategy document and 
agreement on a new Mixed Dry Recycling mix.  
 
 
Greater participation in recycling/composting 
schemes. 
Improving satisfaction with Council services. 
 
 
 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership agreed short term 
that stickers should be produced for across the 
County saying NO to the main contaminants.  
 
A communications campaign to go alongside the 
sticker end Sept to tie in with National Recycling 
week. 

1.05 Feasibility of building a 
Materials Recovery Facility 
outline cost estimates. 

 To be confirmed by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.   

Business case to be completed before 
being considered by the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership in November 2018. 

Decision to be made by Partnership after the business 
case discussed.   

1.06 Feasibility of having a dirty 
Materials Recovery Facility 
or more.   

 20th July 2018.  Business case to be completed before 
being considered by the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership. 

Findings to be presented to the Officer Working 
Group initially on the 8th August 2018.  

1.07 Proposals for dealing with 
other recyclables at the 
kerbside such as textiles, 
batteries, household 
electrical items, batteries 
etc 

 To be confirmed To be agreed. To be agreed.  

128



 

xxxii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.08 To tackle contamination in 
our current recycling 
stream, between now and 
when the Mixed Dry 
Recycling contract is re-let 
in 2020, develop an 
effective, simple public 
communication campaign. 

 End Sept 2018 all 
bins in the County to 
have a sticker on the 
recycling bin to try 
and reduce 
contamination.  

To aid the recycling rate by targeting 
the contamination.  
 
The levels of contamination to be 
monitored monthly to see if there is a 
decrease following the sticker 
campaign.  
 
Communications plan required around 
this as also need to join up the 
message that is being delivered locally 
and Nationally.    

Improved recycling rate, satisfaction levels across the 
County remain high with residents and the message is 
clear through communications campaign.  
 
 
 
 
 
Reduction to the 27% contamination rate.   

129



 

xxxiii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.09 Secure expert input from: 

 Waste and 
Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP) 

 Communications 
teams 

 Procurement 
underway, 
consultants 
appointed end of 
August 2018. 
Inception meeting 
5th September 2018.  
 
Project timeline 
amended to final 
report late 2018.  

Further develop the Baseline to 
include predicted waste growth over 5 
and 10 years. 
 

An assessment of the impact of the two stream 
collection methodology (separate paper/separate 
food) against the baseline and in 5 and 10 years could 
this be three stream i.e. Food, Paper / card and 
Cardboard and others (plastic bottles, glass 
containers etc). 
 
An assessment of the impacts of alternative ‘two-tier’ 
cost sharing options on the member authorities of 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
 
A high-level assessment of the options available to 
the Waste Disposal Authority for the provision of 
residual treatment / disposal facilities over and above 
those provided by the North Hykeham Energy from 
Waste facility. 
 
A high-level assessment of the service delivery 
options available to the Waste Disposal Authority 
with a view to maximising the financial benefit that 
can be accrued from alternative disposal technologies 
(e.g anaerobic digestion of separately collected food 
waste) for an agreed range of household waste 
streams. 

1.10 Research what has worked 
elsewhere: 

 Positive – i.e. What 
to put in? 

 Negative – i.e. 
What to leave out? 

 Some of this 
information will 
come from the soft 
market testing. 

 Clearer understanding gained to support the Mixed 
Dry Recycling mix.  
 
Follow-up meetings being held with report to Officer 
Working Group in Sept 2018. 

130



 

xxxiv 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.11 Review of the Household 
Waste Recycling Centres 

 November 2018 Review the existing arrangements 
across the County and look at the 
feasibility of more Centres if required. 

From the consultation it was a theme that the public 
want opening hours extended at current Centres and 
the possibility of more across the County.  

2 Food Waste Trial 1,2,3,4,5,7
,8 and 10 

12th Jul 18 – Initial 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. 
 
22nd Nov 18 – 
Detailed Feedback 
to Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership 

Measure number of residents in the 
trial. 
 
 
 
Measure the amount of waste 
collected and reduction in recycling 
contamination.  
 
Access the Mixed Dry Recycling 
contamination.  

Inform decision making about future collection and 
disposal options by assessing the available options 
during the trial to ensure momentum is maintained, 
including the recent Waste and Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP)work. 
 
Determine the service’s impact on households’ 
waste and recycling habits, especially volumes of 
food in other waste streams. 
 
Assess the impacts of cleaning up the Mixed Dry 
Recycling  contamination.  

2.01 Trial commences in South 
Kesteven area.  

 4th June 18 Maximise participation and 
understand households’ motivations 
for the trial. 
 
Measure the amount of food waste 
collected and determining if there is 
any reduction in the recycling 
contamination or quantity of residual 
waste presented. 
 
Determine the most effective 
messages and communications 
channels. 

Clearer understanding of food waste on recyclables 
and weights of residual. Weekly tonnages and 
composition analyses being undertaken. 

2.02 Initial results reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.  

 12th July 18 Give an update on the 1st month’s 
figures from the trial.  

Report presented to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
on the 12 July 2018.  
Completed task. 

131



 

xxxv 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

2.03 Detailed report to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. 

 22nd November 18 Report with all of the measurements 
for how/if the scheme has been 
successful including costs and savings.  

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to receive 
information regarding the success or not of the trial. 
If successful, defining the extent of the food waste 
roll-out. 

2.04 Investigate expanding the 
trial to other areas in South 
Kesteven or discuss with 
other Districts a trial and 
costs for this piece of work. 

 Early 2019 Fully costed options to look at 
expanding the food waste trial either 
into South Kesteven or other Districts.  

Meeting to be arranged in September 2018 with 
Lincolnshire County Council and South Kesteven.  

3 Strategic Review of 
Options for Continuous 
Improvement for Waste 
Collection and Disposal 
Arrangements in 
Lincolnshire 

7,8,9 and 
10 

Early 2019 – 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & 
Lincolnshire Chief 
Executives Group 

What are the benefits for this 
theoretically to identify an ideal 
solution without current restraints.  
 
  

To show the most effective and financially viable 
way of collecting and disposal of waste throughout 
the County.  

3.01 Initial analysis by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and the Officer 
Working Group using 
Design Council 
methodology. 

 May 18   

3.02 Further analysis by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and the  Officer 
Working Group using 
Design Council 
methodology 

 21st September 2018    

3.03 Interim update reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & to Chief 
Executives Group 

 October 2018    

132



 

xxxvi 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

3.04 Further update  reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & to Chief 
Executives Group 

 Early 2019    

4 Location of additional 
processing/disposal sites 

7,8 and 10 November 2018 – 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & Chief 
Executives Group 

Initial assessment of users within 
Lincolnshire  
 
Provide a map and short report on 
the main areas 
 
Report outputs to Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and obtain direction on 
what this information will be used for  

To support the feasibility of another Energy from 
Waste plant if required.   

4.01 A review of the previous 
report by Element Energy 
on the data gathered in the 
consideration of energy 
mapping within the Greater 
Lincoln area. 

  Draft short brief for Element to look at 
the wider area and obtain a quote and 
timeline for this piece of work.  

Locations to be ranked for suitable areas for a new 
Energy from Waste plant.  

4.02 Evaluating the Lincolnshire 
Enterprise Partnership work 
around utility infrastructure 
with our expected waste 
infrastructure work. 

 Delivery of findings 
by November 2018 

Energy mapping work for Greater 
Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
completed.  
 
Energy Strategy for the Greater 
Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
out for consultation. 

Energy Strategy and Local Industrial Strategy Energy 
Components out for consultation. 

133



 

xxxvii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

5 Choosing performance 
indicators appropriate to 
measure environmental 
performance. 

7 and 6  Sept 2018  Carbon footprint baseline review. 
 
 
 
Review of existing Performance 
Indicators. 

The need for this came through in the consultation 
as a need to understand the Carbon footprint 
baseline so that it can be monitored effectively.  
 
To produce a suite of Performance Indicators that 
can then be effectively produced and reported to 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.  

5.01 Evaluate the current 
information around carbon 
footprint  

 Sept 2018 Once the baseline has been 
established this the Officer Working 
Group can then look at targeting 
reduction and a communication plan.   

Outcomes of the consultation was that this needs to 
be a priority of the Strategy therefore an 
understanding of the baseline and targeting reducing 
this is key.  

5.02 Review the existing Key 
Performance Indicators to 
ensure fit for monitoring 
the Strategy outcomes 

 Sept 2018 Looking at what was previously 
measured and aligning new targets to 
the outputs of the Strategy.  

Have new Key Performance Indicators that are 
Specific, Measurable, Attainable, Relevant and 
Timely.  

 134



 

xxxviii 
 

Term Abbrev. Description 

Alternate Weekly Collections AWC 
Typically, the collection of household residual wastes 
every other week, whilst during the intervening 
weeks recyclables and/or green wastes are collected. 

Anaerobic Digestion AD 
A process by which microorganisms break down 
biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen. 

Biodegradable Municipal Waste BMW 
Those elements of the municipal waste streams that 
will rot or degrade biologically. 

Controlled Waste Regulations CWR 
UK legislation categorising waste by contents and/or 
source. 

Department for Environment, 

Food & Rural Affairs 
Defra 

UK government department responsible for waste 
management (amongst other things). 

Energy from Waste EfW 
Any renewable energy technology that recovers 
energy from waste. 

Household Waste HW 

Waste from domestic properties including waste 
from residual refuse collections, material collected 
for recycling and composting, plus waste from 
educational establishments, nursing and residential 
homes and street cleansing waste. 

Household Waste Recycling 
Centre 

HWRC 
A place at which the public may deposit their 
household waste 

(Joint) Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy 

(J)MWMS 

Also referred to in this document simply as "the 
Strategy". 
It is a statutory duty for local authorities in two-tier 
areas to have a Joint MWMS. 

Landfill Allowance Trading 

Scheme 
LATS 

An initiative by the UK government to help reduce 
the amount of BMW sent to landfill. 
Abolished in 2013. 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership LWP 

Also referred to in this document simply as "the 
Partnership". 
Brings together the public bodies within Lincolnshire 
responsible for collection and disposal of waste. 

Local Authority Collected Waste LACW 
Any waste collected by a local authority. 
Formerly known as "Municipal Waste". 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan MWLP 

Sets out: 

 the key principles to guide the future winning 
and working of minerals and the form of waste 
management in the county; and 

 the criteria against which planning applications 
for minerals and waste development will be 
considered. 

Municipal Solid Waste MSW 
A waste type consisting of everyday items that are 
discarded by the public. 

National Indicator NI 

One of a list of indicators used to measure local 
authority performance. 
Stopped being statutory from April 2011. 

135



 

xxxix 
 

Term Abbrev. Description 

National Planning Policy 
Framework NPPF 

Introduced in March 2012, sets out the Government's 
overarching planning policies for England 

National Planning Policy for 
Waste NPPW 

Introduced in December 2013, sets out the national 
framework for planning for waste management 

Office of the Deputy Prime 
Minister ODPM 

Former UK government department with 
responsibility for some aspects of waste 
management (amongst other things). 

Putrescible waste  

The component of the waste stream liable to become 
putrid. 
For example: organic matter that has the potential to 
decompose with the formation of 
malodorous substances, usually refers to vegetative, 
food and animal products. 

Recycling Credits  

Statutory payments made by the WDA to a WCA 
which makes its own arrangements for the recycling 
of waste which it has collected. 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment SEA 

A formal assessment of the environmental effects of 
a strategic document. 

Technically, environmentally 
and economically practicable TEEP 

A formal assessment of whether an individual option 
can reasonably be achieved. 
Found in several pieces of waste legislation. 

Waste Collection Authority WCA 

A local authority with the duty to collect specified 
wastes (including household waste). 
There are seven WCA's covering the LWP area: 
Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln Council, East 
Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District 
Council, South Holland District Council, South 
Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District 
Council 

Waste Disposal Authority WDA 

A local authority with the duty to operate HWRC's 
and to dispose of waste collected by WCA's in its 
area. 
There is one WDA covering the LWP area: 
Lincolnshire County Council. 

Waste Planning Authority WPA 

A local authority with the duty to collect specified 
wastes (including household waste). 
There are seven WCA's covering the LWP area. 

Waste Regulatory Authority WRA 

Has responsibility for ensuring compliance with 
waste legislation. 
In England this is the Environment Agency. 

Waste and Resources Action 
Programme 

WRAP A government-sponsored organisation promoting 
recycling and other waste issues. 

 

 

136



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20 December 2018

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since 1 
November 2018 (LDS333)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 27 November 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15    
Email: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 30 November 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
Date: 3 December 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
E-mail: matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 December 2018

137

Agenda Item 7

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY

This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by the Council or by the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 1 
November 2018, as set out in Appendix 1.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the matters 
referred to in Appendix 1.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

Council:

1.1    Any matters referred by Council to the Cabinet at the last meeting of Council 
are contained in Appendix 1 (Part A). 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees:

1.2 The Council operates the Executive decision-making arrangements as set out 
in the Local Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least 
one scrutiny committee in place. The Council currently has five Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. They meet regularly (and may hold additional meetings 
as necessary) to discuss items within their remit.  

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting of Cabinet 
are contained in Appendix 1 (Part B).

1.4 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has met after the publication of 
this Cabinet agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be 
provided in an addendum to the Cabinet meeting or a synopsis provided with 
the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting depending on the timing of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No 
other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production. 

138



5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report draws together any matters referred to the Cabinet from Council 
and the recommendations that have been made by all of the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Where appropriate, impact analysis is 
carried out as part of the development process and presented to Cabinet when 
it receives the final reports. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters which have 
been raised by other Members at meetings of the Council and committees that 
operate within the executive function of the Council.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1: Matters referred from Council (Part A) and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees (Part B) 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

139



This page is intentionally left blank

140



Appendix 1

MATTERS REFERRED FROM 
COUNCIL AND OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

PART A: MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL

There are no matters referred by Council to Cabinet on this occasion.

PART B: MATTERS REFERRED FROM OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on this occasion.

CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 15 November 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Linda Wootten

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Proposed delivery plan for Culture and Arts activity to the end of the financial 
year and an outline of proposals for 2019-20

Considerations:

 A presentation on the proposed delivery plan for culture and arts activity for 
the remainder of 2018/19 and proposals for 2019/20

 The role of arts, culture and heritage in driving social, economic and civic 
regeneration

 The main priority was delivery of the Cultural Strategy with a consultation 
events planned around the district

 Work being undertaken with local cultural organizations to help deliver 
activities, building capacity to ensure future self-sustainability, provide 
equipment or activity infrastructure

141



 Events planned in schools during March 2019 designed to engage students, 
parents and school staff

Recommendations:

 None

Proposed delivery plan for Heritage activity for 2018-19 and an outline of 
proposals for 2019-20

Considerations:

 A presentation delivered by the Heritage Regeneration Officer on the delivery 
of a heritage programme within the district

 The heritage programme would focus on three strands: celebrating heritage, 
enabling communities to utilise and access their heritage assets and delivering 
selected interventions to further the wider aims of InvestSK and SKDC

 The creation of a celebratory book highlighting the people and places within 
South Kesteven

 Opportunities for InvestSK to intervene to help deliver programmes where 
mainstream funding was difficult to obtain

 Opportunities to promote the diverse range of statues, historic buildings and 
their historic connections

 Opportunities to engage with rural churches to encourage them to be open 
more often

 Masterplanning for Grantham Heritage Quarter to identify how existing and 
future programmes of funding could be best applied

 Feasibility work on a heritage skills centre, which would promote traditional 
skills such as stone masonry, lime plastering and horticulture

 Car parking would be considered in conjunction with work promoting the 
district’s heritage

 The small grant scheme that was in place to support constituted groups, 
charities, schools and places of worship to discover, interpret and preserve 
their heritage

 The Heritage Alive! website, which was under development

Outcomes:

 Information on website promotion and visitor hits to be circulated at the next 
meeting of the Committee

Recommendations:

 None

Visitor Economy

Considerations:

 An update given by the Head of Visitor Economy

142



 The deployment of a trailer as a marketing tool for the visitor economy
 Statistical information in relation to hits on the current website
 The new website was being developed giving details of accommodation, 

places to eat, places to visit and walks to take
 Work undertaken with the Civic Societies and Deepings Heritage
 The development of a visitor guide, which was due to be published mid 

December 2018
 Development of social media channels including Instagram, Facebook and 

Twitter
 Events celebrating the Royal Air Force’s centenary
 Improving the gateway for visitors to Grantham arriving at the railway station

Recommendations:

 None

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 20 November 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Mike Exton

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Street lighting

Considerations:

 Report CO0001 of the Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

 Notes from street lighting workshop meetings held on 20 February 2018, 11 
September 2018 and 23 October 2018

 Comments made by Cabinet at its meeting on 12 July when the matter was 
referred back to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 The consensus of the Committee that street lights should remain on all night
 Financial assumptions on energy unit rates, cost per lamp and anticipated 

returns
 More work was required on the financial impact of options including a 

sensitivity analysis on the impact of different figures and timescales

Recommendations:

The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet:

1. That conservation style lighting columns in villages will only be provided by the 
Council upon request by the parish council, which will be required to fund the 
installation and initial costs. Thereafter, the Council will take responsibility for 
on-going maintenance and energy costs. Conservation lights will be 
compatible with LED replacement bulbs

2. That the Cabinet adopts the Street Lighting Policy as recommended to 
Cabinet at its meeting on 12 July 2018

143



3. An annual investment in LED lighting of a meaningful amount over and above 
the ring-fenced maintenance and energy savings which should also be 
reinvested over a period of five years. This represented a positive financial 
investment and a positive investment by the Cabinet in helping against climate 
change

Link to relevant papers: 

 Report CO0001
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21732/CO0001.pdf 

Recycling

Considerations:

 A presentation on the challenges and complexities of recycling
 The Council’s recycling rate stood at 39.7% which, while below target, 

reflected the national decrease in recycling
 The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership was working towards a Lincolnshire-wide 

agreement to provide a more consistent list of what could be recycled
 The introduction of the pilot food waste collection scheme had reduced 

contamination
 Support by Members for education with regard to recycling and the recycling 

wheel

Outcomes:

 That a quote be obtained in relation to the possible introduction of a recycling 
when previously circulated in the district in the future.

Recommendations:

 None

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire

Considerations:

 Report number ENV709 of the Cabinet Member for Environment
 The draft Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
 The presentation on the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

delivered to the Committee in April 2018 and a Member workshop that  
informed the consultation response on the draft document

Recommendations:

 That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to 
Cabinet that the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy as appended to 
report number ENV709 be adopted

144

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21732/CO0001.pdf


Link to relevant papers: 

 Report ENV709: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21694/ENV709.pdf

 Report ENV709, Appendix 1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21695/ENV709%20appe
ndix%201.pdf 

GROWTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 28 November 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Robert Reid

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Quarter 2 financial management report 2018/19

Considerations

 Report number CFM478 of the Cabinet Member for Finance
 The forecast outturn position for 2018/19 as at the end of Quarter 2 for the 

General Fund and Housing Revenue Budgets and Capital Programmes
 An update on the national financial context 
 Information on the national Budget Statement
 An update on the business rates pilot
 Forecast growth projections for South Kesteven 

Outcomes

 The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee would receive quarterly reports 
on the forecast outturn position

 The finance report recently presented to Council that included details on 
investment balances be circulated to members of the Committee

 That the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives a report on 
performance monitoring and key performance indicators at a future meeting

 Following an in-depth review of the comments and figures contained in report 
CFM478, the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee
o Noted that officers continued to identify actions and were taking 

measures to effectively manage the overall budget in order to reduce the 
impact of any adverse projected pressures that could result in 
overspends

o Noted the Government’s proposed changes in respect of business rates 
and other Budget announcements

o Noted the current performance of the business rates pilot

Recommendations

 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet the 
allocation of the projected business rate financial growth

145

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21694/ENV709.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21695/ENV709%20appendix%201.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21695/ENV709%20appendix%201.pdf


Link to relevant papers: 

 Report CFM478:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budg
et%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf 

RURAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 21 November 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Bob Sampson

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Loneliness

Considerations

 Arrangements that were being put in place for a workshop to consider 
loneliness, which would be open to all Councillors and representatives from 
outside bodies and organizations that deal with the issues of loneliness and 
social exclusion

 The aim of the workshop would be to ascertain services and facilities that were 
available to prevent loneliness, where there were gaps, the type of provision 
and ways of communicating and engaging with communities across the district 

Outcomes

 That the Committee receives data profiles and other health information
 That the Business Knowledge and Innovation Officer prepares and arranges a 

workshop to consider the issues around loneliness

Recommendations

 None

146

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf


CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20 December 2018

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members 
(LDS334)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 29 November 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15    
Email: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 30 November 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk   
Date: 3 December 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
E-mail: matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 December 2018

SUMMARY

This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet on 1 November 2018.

147

Agenda Item 8

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting held on 1 November 2018.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Under the strong Leader model of governance the Leader can allocate 
decision-making power to the Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. 
Decisions of the Cabinet will be made during Cabinet meetings while individual 
Cabinet Members may make decisions at any time in accordance with the 
relevant regulations.

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last 
met are attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the 
decision was based and the decision notice are attached. 

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 1 November 2018 the following decisions have been 
made:

 Approval of a new lease with Stamford Cricket Club, Uffington 
Road, Stamford
Non-key decision taken by the Deputy Leader of the Council on 19 
November 2018 
Date decision effective: 28 November 2018
Report PD0094 and decision notice attached as appendix 1

 Extensions to mid-Lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor 
Economy on 31 October 2018 
Date decision effective: 9 November 2018
Report SDG001A and decision notice attached as appendix 2

 Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 5 
November 2018 
Date decision effective: 14 November 2018
Report ENV707 and decision notice attached as appendix 3

 Funding proposals following changes to the senior management 
structure
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance on 22 
November 2018 
Date decision effective: 5 December 2018
Report CFM479 and decision notice attached as appendix 4

1.4 At each Cabinet meeting, Members will be updated on any individual Cabinet 
Member decisions made after the publication of the agenda. 

148



2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. Information on the individual Cabinet Member decisions taken 
during the period covered by this report will be published as part of the agenda 
for the next full Council meeting. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in the production of this report.  

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been made. Where 
appropriate impact analysis will have been undertaken on the reports on which 
decisions are based.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the 
Leader are as set out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and 
Cabinet model to carry out executive functions was adopted by the Council in 
accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and the Local Democracy, Economic Regeneration and Construction Act 
2009.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix 1: Approval of a new lease with Stamford Cricket Club, 
Uffington Road, Stamford

 Appendix 2: Extensions to mid-Lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford
 Appendix 3: Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy
 Appendix 4: Funding proposals following changes to the senior 

management structure

149



11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None; relevant background papers are listed on the report for each decision.

150



NON-KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke – The Deputy 
Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR: Lianne Smith
Property Officer – General Fund Assets
Property Development
Tel 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk/

REPORT NO. PD0094

DATE: 9 November 2018

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Approval of a New Lease with Stamford Cricket Club, 
Uffington Road, Stamford.

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT Council Assets

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Isolated or infrequently used areas may be vandalised, or 
subject to anti-social behaviour or unauthorised occupation.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via the Your Council and 
Democracy link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended to 
report?

n/a

Full impact assessment 
required?

n/a
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

None

151

Appendix 1

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the proposed new lease terms with Stamford Town 
Cricket Club relating to the use of the land at Uffington Road which includes the full use of the 
pavilion edged red on the attached plan at Appendix A and granting shared use of the changing 
rooms edged blue on the attached plan at Appendix A with the Football Club. The proposal is 
for the grant of a lease of the Property for a period of 25 years.
 

(2) RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member approve the grant of a new lease to Stamford 
Town Cricket Club (the Tenant) of the Property shown edged red on the plan attached to this 
report (the Property) for 25 years.   

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The freehold of the Property is owned by the District Council and has a variety of leisure 
uses located upon it. The Stamford Town Cricket Club have occupied the Property since 1989. 
The site entrance is via Uffington Road, Stamford.

3.2 Stamford Town Cricket Club currently occupy the Property on the terms of a 25-year lease 
expired. It is proposed that the area edged red shown at Appendix A which is known as the 
Stamford Town Cricket Club Pavilion will be let to the Tenant and the area highlighted blue will 
be a shared area between the Tenant and Stamford Football Club, which includes the changing 
rooms forming part of the pavilion and access road into the car park.

3.3 The Tenant will be responsible for the internal repair and external decoration of the area 
highlighted in red and green as shown at Appendix B and the District Council will be 
responsible for the internal repair to the changing rooms within the pavilion, highlighted green. 
The District Council will be responsible for keeping the main pavilion edged green wind and 
watertight.

3.4 Pitch hire will be charged separately at the appropriate level based on the fees and charges 
for Outdoor Recreation, which includes letting and marking out. 

3.5 There have been no known management issues arising from the cricket clubs existing 
lease and use of property.

3.6 The proposed lease would be for a term of 25 years with the existing Stamford Town 
Cricket Club and contracted out of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 Part II. The lease is 
proposed at a rental value of £1pa and has a social value to the local community. 

3.7 The Stamford Town Cricket Club would at its own cost, obtain, carry out, and undertake all 
necessary permissions for the works associated with their demised and usable area.

(4) COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

4.1 It is proposed to lease the asset at a nominal consideration at £1 per annum and the lessee 
will be responsible for the maintenance of the asset throughout the period of the 25 year lease.  
4.2 It is important to ensure this obligation is routinely monitored in order to ensure the 
condition of the asset is maintained.

152



(5) COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The District Council may dispose of its property by way of a lese in accordance with s.123 
of the LGA.

(6) COMMENTS OF WARD MEMBERS

6.1 What is proposed is supported and approved by Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council and Ward Member for Stamford St. Mary’s.

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Lianne Smith
Property Officer – General Fund Assets
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If the decision is taken on 19 November date effective will be 28 November 2018.

153



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2013
Ordnance Survey 10018662

Scale 1/4211 Date 26/10/2018

Appendix A

Centre = 504637 E 307630 N

155

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2013
Ordnance Survey 10018662

Scale 1/1053 Date 30/10/2018

Centre = 504639 E 307633 N

157

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for a new lease to Stamford Town Cricket 
Club of the Property shown edged red on the plan attached to 
report PD00094 for 25 years.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to the grant of a new lease to Stamford Town Cricket Club for 25 
years.  

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The freehold of the Property is owned by the District Council and has a variety of 
leisure uses located upon it. The Stamford Town Cricket Club have occupied the 
Property since 1989. The site entrance is via Uffington Road, Stamford.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

Stamford Town Cricket Club (Tenant) currently occupy the Property on the terms of 
a 25-year lease expired. It is proposed that the area edged red shown at Appendix A 
to report PD00094 which is known as the Stamford Town Cricket Club Pavilion will 
be let to the Tenant and the area highlighted blue will be a shared area between the 
Tenant and Stamford Football Club, which includes the changing rooms forming part 
of the pavilion and access road into the car park.

The Tenant will be responsible for the internal repair and external decoration of the 
area highlighted in red and green as shown at Appendix B to report PD00094 and 
the District Council will be responsible for the internal repair to the changing rooms 
within the pavilion, highlighted green. The District Council will be responsible for 
keeping the main pavilion edged green wind and watertight.

Pitch hire will be charged separately at the appropriate level based on the fees and 
charges for Outdoor Recreation, which includes letting and marking out. 

There have been no known management issues arising from the cricket clubs 
existing lease and use of property.

The proposed lease would be for a term of 25 years with the existing Stamford Town 
Cricket Club and contracted out of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 Part II. The 
lease is proposed at a rental value of £1pa and has a social value to the local 

159



community. 

The Stamford Town Cricket Club would at its own cost, obtain, carry out, and 
undertake all necessary permissions for the works associated with their demised and 
usable area.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning

Date of Decision: 19 November 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 20 November 2018

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

28 November 2018

160



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy

REPORT AUTHOR: Paul Thomas
Strategic Director for Growth
01476 406162
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk

REPORT NO. SDG001A

DATE: 24th October 2018

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Extensions to mid-Lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

The crime and disorder implications of the potential extensions 
to the Mid Lent fairs for Grantham and Stamford have been 
considered within      the attached consultation reports.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

An extension to the fair may 
impact on access to public 
areas which may affect people 
with protected characteristics. 

Full impact assessment 
required?

An initial assessment may be 
required

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

None

161

Appendix 2

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1. The purpose of the report is to present the results of the consultation into a 
proposed extension to the mid-lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford 

1.2. The consultation was conducted following a request made by the Showmen’s 
Guild of Great Britain (the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire and Mid and South 
Lincolnshire section).

1.3. The objectives of the consultation are set out on Page 2 of the papers 
appended to this report, and which are summarised as follows:

1.3.1. To communicate the change that would happen if the proposals was 
approved to four main groups of stakeholders

1.3.2. To find out if those stakeholders agree or disagree with the proposals 
to extend the duration of the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham by one day

1.3.3. To ascertain if there are any specific issues for those living or running 
businesses in the area 

1.3.4. To establish what the statutory agencies think of the proposal
1.3.5. To find out what other stakeholders (local businesses and residents 

that are not directly affected by the road closure order) think to the 
proposal 

1.4. The results of the consultation are as follows:

Grantham

1.5. The consultation on proposals to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham 
produced the following results:  

Number % 
Support 98 32.6 
Object 178 59.1 
Not sure 25 8.3 
Total 301 100.0 

1.6. Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, 
business, hackney carriage licence holders or market traders) revealed that 
three fifths of residents that responded were against extending the duration of 
the fair, with 105 out of 178 choosing to object. 

1.7. Only six businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The 
majority of businesses were against the proposal, with 35 choosing to object.

1.8. Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of 
businesses objecting to the proposal was greater than the proportion of 
residents objecting, but this is perhaps not surprising given where the fair is 
situated and the location of the businesses that were contacted.

162



1.9. The Charter Trustees for Grantham were approached directly for their views on 
the proposed extension and no comments were received at the time of writing 
this report.

1.10. Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events 
Supervisor. The feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as 
follows:

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven District 
Council’s proposal to extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs in Stamford 
and Grantham. 

This objection is based on the grounds of:
1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally and 

those travellers from outside the area 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the locally 
elected member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain if there is likely 
to be local assent to the proposals. It was their opinion that on a local level 
there would be no support for extending the length of the Charter Fairs due to 
the additional disruption it would cause to the highway network and to members 
of the travelling public." 

1.11. The local policing team inspector for Grantham’s comment was as follows: 

“We do not police this event at present, we do direct the PCSO’s to it but only 
during regular patrol and commitments permitting. The Saturday night time 
economy in Grantham will spill into this so if the proposal goes ahead I would 
advise that we need to insist on more security for the Saturday night as we 
really do not have the staff to police it”

1.12. No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue.

1.13. A petition organised by Tuffies in Westgate, containing 340 signatures objecting 
to the proposal, was handed to the Markets and Events Supervisor on 23 
August 2018. 

Stamford

1.14. The consultation on proposals to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford produced 
the following results:  

Number % 
Support 90 40.3 
Object 119 53.4 
Not sure 14 6.3 
Total 223 100.0 

163



1.15. Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, 
business or hackney carriage licence holders) revealed that 53.3% of residents 
that responded were against extending the duration of the fair, with 90 out of 
169 choosing to object. 

1.16. 5 businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The majority of 
businesses were against the proposal, with 22 choosing to object.

1.17. Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of 
businesses objecting to the proposal was greater than the proportion of 
residents objecting.

1.18. Stamford Town Council were approached directly for their views on the 
proposed extension and encouraged each of their members to respond 
individually.

1.19. Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events 
Supervisor. The feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as 
follows: 

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven District 
Council’s proposal to extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs in Stamford 
and Grantham. 

This objection is based on the grounds of:
1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally and 

those travellers from outside the area 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the locally 
elected member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain if there is likely 
to be local assent to the proposals. It was their opinion that on a local level 
there would be no support for extending the length of the Charter Fairs due to 
the additional disruption it would cause to the highway network and to members 
of the travelling public." 

1.20. The local policing team inspector for Stamford’s comment was as follows: 

“Looking at the Stamford proposal the only concern is the closure effect for the 
Monday 8th April to ensure that it is lifted at 6am, to ensure vehicle flow through 
the town. From a crime and disorder perspective, there is very little ASB or 
crime that takes place throughout the fair period currently, and there is no 
Police Officer presence assigned for it. PCSOs do pay passing attention 
throughout the evening, but this will also depend on when school holidays fall 
and if there is an overlap with these and the volume of people who may be 
present. From a licensing perspective of the establishments that are here, there 
are no issues I can recall of people who are causing problems from intoxication 
or disorder, and the extra day being a Sunday (there is already a Saturday 
involved) should not add to the issues based on knowledge of the current public 
order situation”

164



1.21. No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue.
2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. It is recommended that, following consideration of the consultation 
carried out, the proposed extensions of the mid-lent fairs for Grantham 
and Stamford are not supported.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

Grantham – reason for recommendation
 
3.1. Those who live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were 

contacted directly, with others made aware of the opportunity to participate 
through local media.

3.2. The majority of respondents, along with the statutory consultees, and those 
signing the petition, did not support the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in 
Grantham. The main reasons for this were because of the impact on trade – 
specifically accessibility and deliveries, noise and traffic congestion. 

Grantham – alternative options considered

3.3. Consideration was given to how the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in 
Grantham could be acceptable. However, in the light of the consultation 
responses and the specific comments from Lincolnshire County Council and the 
Police, and the number of residents and businesses against the proposal, it was 
felt that such an option could not be recommended to the Cabinet Member. 

Stamford – reason for recommendation

3.4. Those who live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were 
contacted directly, with others made aware of the opportunity to participate 
through local media. 

3.5. Just over half of respondents, along with LCC, did not support the proposal to 
extend the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford. The main reasons for this were because 
of the impact it would have on parking, the disruption it causes in the town and 
the effect it has on trade. 

Stamford - alternative options considered

3.6. Consideration was given to how the proposal to extend the Mid Lent fair in 
Stamford could be acceptable. However, give the objection from the County 
Council and the lack of support from residents and businesses, it was felt that 
such an option could not be recommended to the Cabinet Member. 

165



4. COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1. In the event that there is a variation to the current arrangements then any additional 
costs incurred would be recharged to the Showmen’s Guild.

5. COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1. The right to hold mid lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford was granted by virtue 
of ancient charters which were upheld in accordance with the Fairs Act 1873. 
S.6 of the Fairs Act gives power to the Secretary for State to alter the days for 
holding fairs. Following representations made in response to a consultation for a 
proposed change, a recommendation has been made not to support such a 
change. Should the recommendation be upheld, no action would be required in 
accordance with S.6. The decision and the reasons for the decision should be 
made known to the Showmen’s Guild. 

6. OFFICER CONTACT

Paul Allen, Town Centres Manager
InvestSK
Paul.allen@investSK.co.uk
01476 406374

7. DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

7.1. If the decision is made on 31 October 2018 then it can be implemented on 
Friday 9 November 2018 subject to the decision not being called-in by any five 
Members of the Council or the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

8. APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Report outlining the results of the consultation on extending the 
Mid Lent Fair in Grantham 2018

Appendix 2: Report outlining the results of the consultation on extending the 
Mid Lent Fair in Stamford 2018

166

mailto:Paul.allen@investsk.co.uk


 

 

  
RESULTS OF 

CONSULTATION TO 
EXTEND THE DURATION 

OF GRANTHAM MID 
LENT FAIR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 

2018 

167

Appendix 1



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Purpose and Objectives 2 

Methodology 2 

Details 3 

Results 4 

Conclusion 7 

Appendix One  - Survey to residents and businesses 9 

  

168



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Council, Cabinet and in particular the cabinet member 

for Retail and Visitor Economy – Councillor Nick Robins - with the results of the consultation that 

has been undertaken with various stakeholders on the proposal to extend the duration of the Mid 

Lent Fair in Grantham. This consultation has been undertaken in response to a request made by the 

Showmen’s Guild of Great Britain - the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Mid and South Lincolnshire 

section. If the proposal to extend the duration of the fair is approved, the Mid Lent Fair would 

increase from four days to five in Grantham. 

Objectives 

2. The objectives of the consultation to ascertain the degree of support for this proposal were 

identified as follows: 

 To communicate the change that would happen if the proposal was approved to four main 

groups of stakeholders –local residents, local businesses, those who operate by licence in 

this area (market stall holders and taxi drivers) and statutory stakeholders. 

 To find out if stakeholders agree or disagree with the proposal to extend the duration of the 

Mid Lent Fair in Grantham by one day 

 To ascertain if there are any issues specific to those living/ running businesses in the areas 

identified as being most affected by the proposed extension 

 To establish what statutory agencies think of the proposal 

 To find out what other stakeholders (other local businesses and residents not directly 

affected by the road closure order) think to the proposal 

Methodology 
 

3. A survey was prepared that was structured around these objectives. Over 280 local residents and 

businesses and just under 200 taxi drivers and market stall holders were contacted - a copy of the 

letter and the survey along with a pre-paid envelope were sent to properties affected by the road 

closure and hackney carriage licence holders registered in Grantham. Those contacted were given 

the choice to either complete a copy of the printed survey or take part via a web link to an electronic 

version.  

4.  The consultation was promoted to other residents and businesses not thought to be directly 

affected by the proposal via social media channels and also in the local media.   Stakeholders were 

directed to a dedicated page on the council’s website where they could respond via a web link or 

alternatively were directed to the communications team if they needed a printed version.   

5. Statutory stakeholders including Lincolnshire Police, Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue and Lincolnshire 

County Council were contacted directly by the markets and events supervisor. 

6. The consultation ran for four weeks from 23 July 2018 to 24 August 2018. The majority of responses 

(237 or 77.7%) were collected on-line via an electronic link.  305 responses were received in total. 

 

169



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Detail 

7. To help the council understand the degree of support or otherwise for the proposal to extend the 

duration of the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham, the consultation officer was asked to draw up plans to 

consult with local residents and businesses and other stakeholders. 

8. To this end 280 local residents and businesses were contacted directly, along with 195 taxi drivers 

and market stall holders. The survey, along with a letter and a pre-paid envelope, were hand 

delivered to properties on a number of streets affected by the road closure order. This included 

residential and business properties in Westgate, Greyfriars and Conduit Lane.  

9. The letter set out why the council is exploring the possibility of extending the duration of the Mid 

Lent Fair in Grantham.  

10. The survey was structured around the main premise of the consultation – a proposal to extend the 

duration of the Mid Lent fair in Grantham. It included questions designed to capture and/ or 

measure: 

 The degree of support for the proposal 

 Whether the proposal to extend the duration of the fair would affect them or not 

 Whether they were a local resident, a business or a trader operating under licence 

 Where they live 

 If they had any queries 

11. The consultation closed on 24th August 2018. 305 responses were received, of which 237 were via 

the link and 68 were hard copies which were input manually. 

 

The results  

Supporting or objecting to the proposal to extend the duration of the Mid Lent Fair  

12.  The first question local residents and businesses were asked was if they support or object to the 

proposal to extend the duration of the Mid Lent fair in Grantham from four days to five.  This would 

mean that the fair would be open from Wednesday 10 April through to Sunday 14 April 2019. 

Around three fifths of respondents (59.1%) objected to this proposal, as illustrated in the table 

below: 

 

To help us determine the level of support that may or may not exist in the 
local community, we would like to know if you support or object to the 
proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham from four days to five?  

Number % 

I support this proposal 98 32.6 

I object to this proposal 178 59.1 

I’m not sure if I support or object to this proposal 25 8.3 

Total 301 100.0 

 

170



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

13. Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, business, hackney 

carriage licence holders or market traders) revealed that three fifths of residents that responded 

were against extending the duration of the fair, with 105 out of 178 choosing to object. 

 Only six businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The majority of businesses 

were against the proposal, with 35 choosing to object.  

 

 

 

14. Respondents were then asked to detail why they supported or objected to the proposal. An 

analysis of responses to this question revealed the following themes: 

 Reasons for supporting the proposal included the importance of tradition, it’s good for the 

town and for families 

 Reasons for objecting to the proposal included the impact on trade, the amount of noise, 

disruption to the town centre, the impact on traffic flow and congestion. 

The number of times each of these was mentioned has been collated and is reflected in the word 

cloud below: 

 

 

 

 

Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of businesses objecting to 

the proposal was greater than the proportion of residents objecting, but this is perhaps not 

surprising given where the fair is situated and the location of the businesses that were contacted. 

171



 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

The effect that extending the duration of the fair might have 

 

15. Respondents were then asked if extending the duration of the fair would affect them or their 

business directly. Just under two fifths (39.3%) of respondents thought that it would, with just 

over half (55.7%) thinking that it wouldn’t. Of the 117 respondents that answered yes to this 

question, 37 were local businesses, 46 were local residents, 21 were respondents who were both 

local residents and local businesses or licence holders, 4 were market traders and 2 were hackney 

carriage licence holders.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
When asked to describe how they might be affected by an extension, a quick analysis revealed that 
the majority of comments were about the impact it would have on trade (with Saturday being the 
busiest day for businesses, market traders and hackney carriage licence holders), and access for 
both customers and deliveries. 
 
 
 

Stakeholder Information 

 
16. The majority of responses were received from local residents (73%) and businesses (15%)  as 

illustrated below:  

 

 

206, 73%

43, 15%

5, 2%

3, 1%

27, 9%

Stakeholder type

Local resident Local business

A market trader  A hackney carriage licence holder

Other, please specify

The responses to this question are interesting. A significant proportion of respondents, whilst 

acknowledging that they might not be directly affected by extending the fair, still chose to object to 

it.  

 

172



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

17. To help the council understand how the proposal might affect local people and businesses 

directly, depending on where they live or work, respondents were asked to supply the first few 

digits of their postcode. Most respondents (perhaps not surprisingly) were from the centre and 

outskirts of Grantham as illustrated below: 

 
no % 

DE24 8 1 0.4 

LE7 2 1 0.4 

NG23 5 1 0.4 

NG31  4 1.5 

NG31 2  1 0.4 

NG31 5 1 0.4 

NG31 6 84 30.9 

NG31 7 63 23.2 

NG31 8 55 20.2 

NG31 9 41 15.1 

NG32 1 5 1.8 

NG32 2 3 1.0 

NG32 3 3 1.0 

NG32 7 1 0.4 

NG33 2 0.7 

NG33 4 2 0.7 

NG33 5 2 0.7 

NG34 0 1 0.4 

PE20 2 1 0.4  
272 100.0 

 

Other comments 
 

18. An analysis of the free text responses to the question asking if respondents would like to comment 

on anything else revealed a number of common themes. These included: 

 Moving the fair to another location on the outskirts of town 

 The disruption the fair causes 

 Wanting to know more about the contents of the charter that permits the fair to take place 

The majority of responses were received from local residents, with local businesses providing the 

next largest stakeholder category. An analysis of those who chose the “other” category revealed 

that they chose this category because they were both residents and local businesses.  

 

173



 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

 The impact it has on local people and businesses 

Statutory Consultees 
 

19. Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events Supervisor. The 

feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as follows: 

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven District Council’s proposal to 

extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs in Stamford and Grantham.   

This objection is based on the grounds of:  

1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally and those travellers from 

outside the area 
 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the locally elected 

member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain if there is likely to be local assent to the 

proposals.  It was their opinion that on a local level there would be no support for extending the 

length of the Charter Fairs due to the additional disruption it would cause to the highway network 

and to members of the travelling public." 

The local policing team inspector for Grantham’s comment was as follows:  

We do not police this event at present, we do direct the PCSO’s to it but only during regular patrol 

and commitments permitting. The Saturday night time economy in Grantham will spill into this so if 

the proposal goes ahead I would advise that we need to insist on more security for the Saturday 

night as we really do not have the staff to police it. 

No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. 

A petition 

20. A petition organised by Tuffies in Westgate, containing 340 signatures objecting to the proposal, 

was handed to the Markets and Events Supervisor on 23 August 2018.  

Conclusion 
21. The purpose of this consultation was to establish if the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in 

Grantham from four days to five would be supported by local people and businesses. Those who 

live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were contacted directly, with others 

made aware of the opportunity to participate through local media. 

22. The majority of respondents, along with the statutory consultees, and those signing the petition, 

did not support the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham. The main reasons for this 

were because of the impact on trade – specifically accessibility and deliveries, noise and traffic 

congestion. 

174



 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

23. The feedback contained within this report should be used to inform the decision the Council 

makes in respect of this proposal. When the decision has been made the Showmen’s Guild of 

Great Britain (the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Mid and South Lincolnshire section), Lincolnshire 

County Council and Lincolnshire Police should also be informed. 

 

Prepared by Deb Wyles 

Communication and consultation 

12 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

175



 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

176



 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

 

 

  

 

177



 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

178



 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

 

 

179



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
RESULTS OF 

CONSULTATION TO 
EXTEND THE DURATION 

OF STAMFORD MID LENT 
FAIR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 

2018 

181

Appendix 2



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Purpose and Objectives 2 

Methodology 2 

Details 3 

Results 3 

Conclusion 7 

Appendix One  - Survey to residents and businesses 8 

  

182



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Council, Cabinet and in particular the cabinet member 

for Retail and Visitor Economy – Councillor Nick Robins - with the results of the consultation that 

has been undertaken with various stakeholders on the proposal to extend the duration of the Mid 

Lent Fair in Stamford. This consultation has been undertaken in response to a request made by the 

Showmen’s Guild of Great Britain - the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Mid and South Lincolnshire 

section. If the proposal to extend the duration of the fair is approved, the Mid Lent Fair would 

increase from six days to seven in Stamford. 

Objectives 

2. The objectives of the consultation to ascertain the degree of support for this proposal were 

identified as follows: 

 To communicate the change that would happen if the proposal was approved to three main 

groups of stakeholders –local residents, local businesses, those who operate by licence in 

this area (taxi drivers) and statutory stakeholders. 

 To find out if stakeholders agree or disagree with the proposal to extend the duration of the 

Mid Lent Fair in Stamford by one day 

 To ascertain if there are any issues specific to those living/ running businesses in the areas 

identified as being most affected by the proposed extension 

 To establish what statutory agencies think of the proposal 

 To find out what other stakeholders (other local businesses and residents not directly 

affected by the road closure order) think to the proposal 

Methodology 
 

3. A survey was prepared that was structured around these objectives. Around 250 local residents and 

businesses and 90 taxi drivers were contacted - a copy of the letter and the survey along with a pre-

paid envelope were sent to properties affected by the road closure and hackney carriage licence 

holders registered in Stamford. Those contacted were given the choice to either complete a copy of 

the printed survey or take part via a web link to an electronic version.  

4.  The consultation was promoted to other residents and businesses not thought to be directly 

affected by the proposal via social media channels and also in the local media.   Stakeholders were 

directed to a dedicated page on the council’s website where they could respond via a web link or 

alternatively were directed to the communications team if they needed a printed version.   

5. Statutory stakeholders including Lincolnshire Police, Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue and Lincolnshire 

County Council were contacted directly by the markets and events supervisor. Stamford Town 

Council was also contacted. 

6. The consultation ran for four weeks from 23 July 2018 to 24 August 2018. Around three quarters of 

responses (166 or 73.8%) were collected on-line via an electronic link.  225 responses were received 

in total. 

183



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

Detail 

7. To help the council understand the degree of support or otherwise for the proposal to extend the 

duration of the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford, the consultation officer was asked to draw up plans to 

consult with local residents and businesses and other stakeholders. 

8. To this end 250 local residents and businesses were contacted directly, along with 90 taxi drivers. 

The survey, along with a letter and a pre-paid envelope, were hand delivered to properties on a 

number of streets affected by the road closure order. This included residential and business 

properties in Broad Street, Red Lion Square, Bath Row and Warrenne Keep.  

9. The letter set out why the council is exploring the possibility of extending the duration of the Mid 

Lent Fair in Stamford.  

10. The survey was structured around the main premise of the consultation – a proposal to extend the 

duration of the Mid Lent fair in Stamford. It included questions designed to capture and/ or 

measure: 

 The degree of support for the proposal 

 Whether the proposal to extend the duration of the fair would affect them or not 

 Whether they were a local resident, a business or a hackney carriage licence holder 

 Where they live 

 If they had any queries 

11. The consultation closed on 24th August 2018. 225 responses were received, of which 166 were via 

the link and 59 were hard copies which were input manually. 

 

The results  

Supporting or objecting to the proposal to extend the duration of the Mid Lent Fair  

12.  The first question local residents and businesses were asked was if they support or object to the 

proposal to extend the duration of the Mid Lent fair in Stamford from six days to seven.  This would 

mean that the fair would be open from Saturday 1 April through to Friday 7 April 2019. Just over 

half of respondents (53.4%) objected to this proposal, with around 40% in favour, as shown below: 

 

To help us determine the level of support that may or may not exist in the 
local community, we would like to know if you support or object to the 
proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford from six days to seven?  

Number % 

I support this proposal 90 40.3 

I object to this proposal 119 53.4 

I’m not sure if I support or object to this proposal 14 6.3 

Total 223 100.0 

 

184



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

13. Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, business or hackney 

carriage licence holders) revealed that 53.3% of residents that responded were against extending 

the duration of the fair, with 90 out of 169 choosing to object. 

5 businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The majority of businesses were 

against the proposal, with 22 choosing to object.  

 

 

 

14. Respondents were then asked to detail why they supported or objected to the proposal. An 

analysis of responses to this question revealed the following themes: 

 Reasons for supporting the proposal included its good for the town, it gives people more 

choice about when they go, it’s a tradition 

 Reasons for objecting to the proposal included the impact on parking, the effect on trade, the 

disruption it causes and the impact it will have on those who attend church on the Sunday 

morning 

 

The number of times each of these was mentioned, along with other key words has been collated and 

is illustrated in the word cloud below: 

 

 

 

Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of businesses objecting to 

the proposal was greater than the proportion of residents objecting.  

185



 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

 

The effect that extending the duration of the fair might have 

 

15. Respondents were then asked if extending the duration of the fair would affect them or their 

business directly. Just over a third (36.8%) of respondents thought that it would, with just over 

half (56.4%) stating that it wouldn’t. Of the 81 respondents that answered yes to this question, 21 

were local businesses, 53 were local residents and 1 was a hackney carriage licence holder.  

When asked to describe how they might be affected by an extension, a quick analysis revealed that 
the majority of comments were about the impact it would have on the number of parking spaces 
that are available, the effect it would have on trade, problems with access for those living and or 
working in the areas adjacent to the fair, and the noise that the fair generates. Those representing 
churches were also worried about the impact of extending the fair to include a Sunday would have 
on their parishioners. The theatre also mentioned a set of specific problems that they would have 
because they have already booked a show for the Sunday in question.   
 
 
 

Stakeholder Information 

 
16. The majority of responses were received from local residents (84.2%) and businesses (15.3%)  as 

illustrated below:  

 

 

 

 

171, 77%

31, 14%

1, 1%
18, 
8%

Stakeholder Type

Local resident local business  hackney carriage licence holder other

The majority of responses were received from local residents, with local businesses providing the 

next largest stakeholder category. An analysis of those who chose the “other” category revealed 

that they chose this category because they were both residents and local businesses. Responses 

were also received from Stamford Civic Society, visitors to the town and individuals representing 

churches. 

 

186



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

17. To help the council understand how the proposal might affect local people and businesses 

directly, depending on where they live or work, respondents were asked to supply the first few 

digits of their postcode. Most respondents were from the centre and outskirts of Stamford as 

illustrated below: 

 
no % 

LE5 0 1 0.5 

NG31 1 0.5 

NG32 3 1 0.5 

NG33 1 0.5 

NN26 1 0.5 

PE1 1 0.5 

PE6 1 0.5 

PE7 1 0.5 

PE8 1 0.5 

PE9 7 3.5 

PE9 1 63 31.7 

PE9 2 101 50.8 

PE9 3 4 2.0 

PE9 4 13 6.5 

PE10 2 1.0  
199 100.0 

 

Other comments 
 

18. An analysis of the free text responses to the question asking if respondents would like to comment 

on anything else revealed a number of common themes. These included: 

 Queries about parking 

 Who benefits from extending the fair 

 The charter 

 Street cleaning and litter collection 

Statutory Consultees 
 

19. Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events Supervisor. The 

feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as follows: 

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven District Council’s proposal to 

extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs in Stamford and Grantham.   

This objection is based on the grounds of:  

187



 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally and those travellers from 

outside the area 
 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the locally elected 

member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain if there is likely to be local assent to the 

proposals.  It was their opinion that on a local level there would be no support for extending the 

length of the Charter Fairs due to the additional disruption it would cause to the highway network 

and to members of the travelling public." 

The local policing team inspector for Stamford’s comment was as follows:  

Looking at the Stamford proposal the only concern is the closure effect for the Monday 8th April to 

ensure that it is lifted at 6am, to ensure vehicle flow through the town. From a crime and disorder 

perspective, there is very little ASB or crime that takes place throughout the fair period currently, 

and there is no Police Officer presence assigned for it. PCSOs do pay passing attention throughout 

the evening, but this will also depend on when school holidays fall and if there is an overlap with 

these and the volume of people who may be present. From a licensing perspective of the 

establishments that are here, there are no issues I can recall of people who are causing problems 

from intoxication or disorder, and the extra day being a Sunday (there is already a Saturday 

involved) should not add to the issues based on knowledge of the current public order situation. 

No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. 

Conclusion 
20. The purpose of this consultation was to establish if the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in 

Stamford from six days to seven would be supported by local people and businesses. Those who 

live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were contacted directly, with others 

made aware of the opportunity to participate through local media. 

21. Just over half of respondents, along with LCC, did not support the proposal to extend the Mid Lent 

Fair in Stamford. The main reasons for this were because of the impact it would have on parking, 

the disruption it causes in the town and the effect it has on trade. 

22. The feedback contained within this report should be used to inform the decision the Council 

makes in respect of this proposal. When the decision has been made the Showmen’s Guild of 

Great Britain (the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Mid and South Lincolnshire section), Lincolnshire 

County Council and Lincolnshire Police should also be informed. 

 

Prepared by Deb Wyles 

Communication and consultation 

19 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

188



 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

189



 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

 

190



 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

 

191



 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

192



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

Following consideration of the consultation carried out in relation 
to the mid-lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford, the proposed 
extensions of the mid-lent fairs for Grantham and Stamford are not 
supported.

(1) Details of Decision

Consideration of consultation outcomes regarding the extension of the mid-
Lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford and decision whether or not those fairs 
should be extended.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The consultation was conducted following a request made by the Showmen’s 
Guild of Great Britain (the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire and Mid and South 
Lincolnshire section).

The objectives of the consultation are summarised as follows:

To communicate the change that would happen if the proposals was 
approved to four main groups of stakeholders

To find out if those stakeholders agree or disagree with the proposals to 
extend the duration of the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham by one day

To ascertain if there are any specific issues for those living or running 
businesses in the area 

To establish what the statutory agencies think of the proposal

To find out what other stakeholders (local businesses and residents that are 
not directly affected by the road closure order) think to the proposal 

The results of the consultation are as follows:

Grantham

The consultation on proposals to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Grantham 

193



produced the following results:  

Number % 
Support 98 32.6 
Object 178 59.1 
Not sure 25 8.3 
Total 301 100.0 

Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, 
business, hackney carriage licence holders or market traders) revealed that 
three fifths of residents that responded were against extending the duration of 
the fair, with 105 out of 178 choosing to object. 

Only six businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The 
majority of businesses were against the proposal, with 35 choosing to object.

Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of 
businesses objecting to the proposal was greater than the proportion of 
residents objecting, but this is perhaps not surprising given where the fair is 
situated and the location of the businesses that were contacted.

The Charter Trustees for Grantham were approached directly for their views 
on the proposed extension and no comments were received at the time of 
writing this report.

Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events 
Supervisor. The feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as 
follows:

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven 
District Council’s proposal to extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs 
in Stamford and Grantham. 

This objection is based on the grounds of:
1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally 

and those travellers from outside the area 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the 
locally elected member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain 
if there is likely to be local assent to the proposals. It was their opinion 
that on a local level there would be no support for extending the length 
of the Charter Fairs due to the additional disruption it would cause to the 
highway network and to members of the travelling public." 

The local policing team inspector for Grantham’s comment was as follows: 

“We do not police this event at present, we do direct the PCSO’s to it 

194



but only during regular patrol and commitments permitting. The 
Saturday night time economy in Grantham will spill into this so if the 
proposal goes ahead I would advise that we need to insist on more 
security for the Saturday night as we really do not have the staff to 
police it”

No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue.

A petition organised by Tuffies in Westgate, containing 340 signatures 
objecting to the proposal, was handed to the Markets and Events Supervisor 
on 23 August 2018. 

Grantham – alternative options considered

Consideration was given to how the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair in 
Grantham could be acceptable. However, in the light of the consultation 
responses and the specific comments from Lincolnshire County Council and 
the Police, and the number of residents and businesses against the proposal, 
it was felt that such an option could not be recommended to the Cabinet 
Member. 

Stamford

The consultation on proposals to extend the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford 
produced the following results:  

Number % 
Support 90 40.3 
Object 119 53.4 
Not sure 14 6.3 
Total 223 100.0 

Cross tabulating these responses against stakeholder type (local resident, 
business or hackney carriage licence holders) revealed that 53.3% of 
residents that responded were against extending the duration of the fair, with 
90 out of 169 choosing to object. 

5 businesses were in favour of extending the duration of the fair. The majority 
of businesses were against the proposal, with 22 choosing to object.

Both residents and businesses objected to the proposal. The proportion of 
businesses objecting to the proposal was greater than the proportion of 
residents objecting.

Stamford Town Council were approached directly for their views on the 
proposed extension and encouraged each of their members to respond 

195



individually.

Statutory stakeholders were contacted directly by the Markets and Events 
Supervisor. The feedback from Lincolnshire County Council Highways was as 
follows: 

"Lincolnshire County Council would like to object to South Kesteven 
District Council’s proposal to extend the length of the Charter Fun Fairs 
in Stamford and Grantham. 

This objection is based on the grounds of:
1. Protecting the highway asset; 
2. Upholding the right of free passage to all road users, both locally 

and those travellers from outside the area 

When reaching this conclusion we took into account the views of the 
locally elected member/Executive Councillor for Highways, to ascertain 
if there is likely to be local assent to the proposals. It was their opinion 
that on a local level there would be no support for extending the length 
of the Charter Fairs due to the additional disruption it would cause to the 
highway network and to members of the travelling public." 

The local policing team inspector for Stamford’s comment was as follows: 

“Looking at the Stamford proposal the only concern is the closure effect 
for the Monday 8th April to ensure that it is lifted at 6am, to ensure 
vehicle flow through the town. From a crime and disorder perspective, 
there is very little ASB or crime that takes place throughout the fair 
period currently, and there is no Police Officer presence assigned for it. 
PCSOs do pay passing attention throughout the evening, but this will 
also depend on when school holidays fall and if there is an overlap with 
these and the volume of people who may be present. From a licensing 
perspective of the establishments that are here, there are no issues I 
can recall of people who are causing problems from intoxication or 
disorder, and the extra day being a Sunday (there is already a Saturday 
involved) should not add to the issues based on knowledge of the 
current public order situation”

No feedback was received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue

Stamford - alternative options considered

Consideration was given to how the proposal to extend the Mid Lent fair in 
Stamford could be acceptable. However, give the objection from the County 
Council and the lack of support from residents and businesses, it was felt that 
such an option could not be recommended to the Cabinet Member. 

196



(3) Reasons for Decision:

Grantham

Those who live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were 
contacted directly, with others made aware of the opportunity to participate 
through local media.

The majority of respondents, along with the statutory consultees, and those 
signing the petition, did not support the proposal to extend the Mid Lent Fair 
in Grantham. The main reasons for this were because of the impact on trade 
– specifically accessibility and deliveries, noise and traffic congestion. 

Stamford

Those who live or work in the area affected by the road closure order were 
contacted directly, with others made aware of the opportunity to participate 
through local media. 

Just over half of respondents, along with LCC, did not support the proposal to 
extend the Mid Lent Fair in Stamford. The main reasons for this were 
because of the impact it would have on parking, the disruption it causes in the 
town and the effect it has on trade. 

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Retail & Visitor Economy

Date of Decision: 31 October 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 1 November 2018

197



Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

9 November 2018 

198



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Housing 

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV707

DATE:

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Temporary Revision to Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy – Independent Living

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Housing

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living

Minutes of Cabinet meeting, 12 October 2017 

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living sets out 
how the Council will use its resources to assist residents in need of support to 
maintain independence in the home, reduce the need for support from social 

199

Appendix 3

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23558&p=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3532/Printed%20minutes%2012th-Oct-2017%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1


care and health services and/or prevent further deterioration in their 
conditions. 

1.2 The policy was approved by Cabinet on 12 October 2017 and delegated 
authority was given to the Cabinet Member for Housing to make any minor 
amendments to the policy that may be required to support its continued 
effectiveness.

1.3 As the policy has been in place for 1 year a review of its effectiveness has 
been undertaken. Currently, where a disabled person does not qualify for a 
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant as they have “failed” the financial means 
test to qualify, they can apply for discretionary disabled adaptations assistance 
of up to £7,000 for eligible works. However, a local land charge for the cost of 
the adaption, repayable upon sale of the property is levied. 

1.4 The review proposes that the policy is temporarily revised in respect of stair 
lifts and modular access ramps (for applications approved prior to 1 April 
2019).  This will remove the financial means test and requirement for a local 
land charge to be attached to the property where the disabled person meets 
all other non-financial requirements for a mandatory disabled facilities grant 
and is supported by a recommendation from a Lincolnshire County Council 
Occupational Therapist. The policy with revisions highlighted is at Appendix 1.

1.5 These relatively low cost adaptations, which can be quickly installed, do not 
add financial value to the home and in some instances the local land charge 
deters disabled people from making an application. Stair lifts and modular 
access ramps help to support independence, prevent falls and in turn can 
reduce avoidable hospital admissions or facilities a timely hospital discharge.  

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – 
Independent Living is temporarily revised until 1 April 2019 to remove the 
means test and local land charge in respect of applications for stair lifts and 
modular access ramps. 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The funding for disabled facilities grants is provided through the Government’s 
Better Care Fund.  Alongside providing mandatory disabled facilities grants, 
the funding can be used to meet Better Care Fund Outcomes, namely that

 independence is supported and admission to residential care is 
minimised;

 funds are invested in out of hospital services to reduce avoidable 
admissions

 hospital discharge is timely and appropriate, reducing delays.
 

200



3.2 A temporary revision to the policy will enable the effectiveness of the revision 
to be assessed alongside the demand.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The financial implications arising from this report are included in the existing 
budgetary resources.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 Article 3 of the Regulatory reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) 
Order 2002 provides the power for local authorities to provide financial 
assistance for home repair, improvement and adaptation. However, a local 
housing authority may not exercise the power conferred by Article 3 unless 
they have:

a. adopted a policy for the provision of assistance under that article;
b. given public notice of the adoption of the policy;
c. secured that a document in which the policy is set out in full is 
available for inspection, free of charge, at their principal office at all 
reasonable times; and d. the power is exercised in accordance with that 
policy.

Accordingly, notice must be given to the public of any variation to the existing 
policy

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental
e-mail:  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
telephone:  01476 406319

(7) APPENDICIES

7. Appendix 1 – Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living                 
with proposed amendments 

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If the decision is made on Monday 5 November 2018 then it can be 
implemented from Wednesday 14 November subject to it not being called in 
by any five Members of the Council or the Chairman of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

201

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 

Independent Living 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Providing assistance under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and 

Wales) Order 2002 

Date  Version Approver Comments 

12 October 2017 1 Cabinet Policy approved 

5 October 2018 2 Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

Temporary amendment to 1 April 2019 
to remove means test and local land 
charge for stair lifts and modular access 
ramps 

 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Not Italic,

Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Not Italic,

Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Not Italic,

Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Not Italic,

Font color: Auto

203

Appendix 1



 

2 
 

1.0 Background 

 

The suitability of the home is integral to meeting the needs of our residents.  A 

home which enables them to live independently or supports others to provide 

safe and effective care contributes to the promotion of physical and emotional 

health and wellbeing and supports a full and active life.   

Helping residents to make the right housing choices for their needs and 

providing support to make the home safe can help reduce hospital admissions 

or re-admissions, reduce reliance on care and support, improve wellbeing and 

help maintain independence in the home.  One of the ways of doing this is by 

providing financial assistance to support those choices or adapt the homes of 

disabled and vulnerable people enabling them to live safely.  

The population of South Kesteven is increasing, with the number of older 

people expected to increase dramatically over the next 15 years.  The 

prevalence of disability increases with age and as the District has an ageing 

population demand for adaptations is likely to increase. The majority of 

housing is not designed with elderly and disabled people in mind, and whilst 

some people have disabilities from a young age, most do not become aware 

of problems with their home until their circumstances change through illness, 

accident or growing frailty in older life.   

This policy explains how South Kesteven District Council will use its resources 

to assist residents in need of support to maintain independence in the home, 

reduce the need for support from social care and health services and/or 

prevent further deterioration in their conditions.   The assistance may be in the 

form of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants or discretionary assistance, 

which  enables the Council to deal with immediate health and safety concerns 

swiftly and appropriately.   With the exception of Mandatory Disabled Facilities 

Grants, all of the assistance provided under this policy is at the discretion of 

the Council and subject to available resources.  If demand for discretionary 

assistance exceeds the available budget the assistance will be suspended.  In 

these instances the Council does not undertake to maintain a waiting list.  

This policy will be reviewed as necessary to take into account changes to 

legislation and policies at local and national level, but in any case, will be 

reviewed every 4 years in line with the time period of the Council’s Housing 

Strategy.  

 

 

 

2.0 Legal Framework 

204



 

3 
 

The main legislation governing the provision of Disabled Facilities Grants 

(DFGs) is the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  This 

places a statutory duty on local housing authorities to provide grant 

assistance to qualifying disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations 

to their homes which are deemed “necessary and appropriate” to meet their 

needs and it is “reasonable and practicable” to undertake the adaptations 

having regard to the age and condition of the dwelling.   The grant is subject 

to a means test (except in the case of children) and works must be eligible as 

defined by the Act and Regulations.  The maximum grant available is 

£30,000. 

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 

2002 (“the RRO”) gives local authorities the power to provide assistance 

(either directly or indirectly) to any person for the purpose of improving living 

conditions in the local authority area provided this is given in accordance with 

a published policy. 

 

In accordance with the RRO, this policy has been adopted by South Kesteven 

District Council and includes details of: 

 

a. The types of assistance the Council may make available 

b. The eligibility conditions for the assistance 

c. The amount of assistance available  

d. The conditions that will apply to the provision of the assistance 

e. The circumstances when repayment may be required 

 

 

3.0 Strategic Context 

 

In April 2015 the Government made significant changes to the funding 

mechanism for disabled facilities grants by making the allocation part of the 

Better Care Fund (BCF);  a pooled budget between the NHS and upper tier 

councils.  The aim of the fund is to provide more joined-up and customer 

focused services to reduce hospital and care admissions and enable people 

to return from hospital more quickly.   

 

The Care Act 2014 established a requirement that a needs assessment must 

be carried out where it appears to the social care authority that a person for 

whom they may provide or arrange community care services, may be in need 

of such services.  The associated guidance states that the care and support 

system must actively promote wellbeing and independence and aim to 

prevent need, not just wait to respond when people reach a crisis point. 

205



 

4 
 

Aligned to this, the NHS 5 Year Forward View (2014) noted that a key 

condition for transformation across local health economies is a strong primary 

and out-of-hospital care system, with well-developed planning about how to 

provide care in people’s own homes, with a focus on prevention, promoting 

independence and support to stay well.  

Home adaptations and essential repairs for disabled and vulnerable people 

support these requirements as they can:  

• Enable independence at home 

• Speed up hospital discharge/reduce readmission 

• Prevent escalation of need e.g. accidents and falls 

• Support maintenance of physical and mental well-being 

It is clear that home adaptations can contribute to meeting a range of Public 

Health, NHS and Social Care outcomes.  While the housing law relating to the 

provision of grants for disabled adaptations has not changed, there is scope 

for local innovation in delivery and opportunities to consider how home 

adaptations can better support housing, health and social care to achieve 

improved health and wellbeing outcomes for those with care and support 

needs.    

 

4.0 Priority Areas and Evidence  

 

This policy aligns with the South Kesteven District Council Housing Strategy 

outcome to enable independent living, by supporting those whose 

independence may be at risk to access housing (including their current home) 

which meets their needs.    

 

The focus on prevention, with the suitability of the home being a core 

component of health and wellbeing is central to supporting an integrated 

approach.      

Nationally, almost ⅓ of people aged 65 and over, and ½ of people aged 80 

and over fall each year, with the home being the most common place for a 

fall.   Falls account for between 10 and 25% of ambulance call outs for the 

over 65s, costing around £115 per call out.   Older people who fall are likely to 

suffer a repeat fall and in most cases require recurrent use of health and 

social care services. Recurrent fallers are also more prone to have a fall-

related fracture; the health cost associated with hip fractures alone is 

estimated at £6 million per day or £2.3 billion per year.  

In addition, falls are one of the major reasons for people to move from their 

own home to residential care, again increasing social care costs and 

206



 

5 
 

impacting on independence.  The overall effect of increasing personal 

wellbeing, preventing accidents and reducing strain on carers means that the 

cost savings to health and social care of preventing falls are potentially 

extremely high.  A package of relatively low cost adaptations could reduce 

falls and may delay hospital admissions. 

Many chronic health conditions experienced by people, particularly older 

people, have a causal link to, or are exacerbated by poor housing. Frail and 

older people experience poorer physical and mental health and higher risk of 

mortality, while babies and young children have an increased risk of 

respiratory problems.  The annual cost to the NHS of treating disease due to 

cold private housing has been estimated at over £850 million (at 2009 costs). 

This does not include additional spending by social services, or economic 

losses through absences from work.  Health risks associated with cold homes 

include; increased respiratory illness, worsening of asthma, chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease, worsening of arthritis, increased blood 

pressure and risk of heart attacks and stroke.   A cold home also increases 

the risk of falls and accidents as strength and dexterity decreases at lower 

temperatures.  Making homes weather safe, wind and weather proof, 

alongside ensuring suitable indoor temperatures can be maintained could 

reduce symptoms or instances of illness.  

 

5.0 Types of Assistance 

 

The provision of assistance other than Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants is 

subject to the availability of funding.  Housing options advice will be provided 

in all cases to ensure that the right option for the household is being 

considered. This may include information about entitlement to benefits, third 

party funding options e.g. charities, energy efficiency and signposting to other 

services and agencies.  

A summary of the available assistance is provided below.  Full details of each 

type of assistance and associated conditions are in Appendix A.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

207



 

6 
 

Type of 
assistance 

M
ea

n
s 

Te
st

 

Lo
ca

l 
La

n
d

 
C

h
ar

ge
 

Mandatory/ 
Discretionary 

Key Outcome Max. 
Funding 

Disabled 
Facilities 
Grant (DFG) 

Y Y Mandatory 

Adaptations to 
enable 
independent 
living 

£30,000 

DFG top-up Y Y Discretionary 

Top up of 
mandatory DFG 
which exceeds 
grant limit 

£10,000 

Disabled 
Adaptation 
Assistance 

N Y Discretionary 

Minor 
adaptations for 
those eligible for 
a DFG without 
means testing 

£7,000 

Moving on 
Assistance 

Y Y Discretionary 

Financial 
assistance to 
move to more 
suitable 
accommodation 

£10,000 

Hospital 
Discharge 
Assistance 

N Y Discretionary 

Prevent Delayed 
Transfers of Care 
associated with 
housing disrepair 
or access issues 

£10,000 

Safe, Warm 
and Well 

Y Y Discretionary 

Minor essential 
repairs to make 
homes safe for 
vulnerable owner 
occupiers 

£8,000 

Dementia 
Aids and 
Adaptations 

N N Discretionary 

Enable people 
with a diagnosis 
of dementia to 
manage their 
surroundings and 
retain their 
independence. 

£750 

Stair Lifts and 
Modular 
Ramps 

N N Discretionary 

Provision of a 
stair lift and/or 
modular ramp for 
those who meet 
DFG criteria 
without means 
testing 

£7,000  

208



 

7 
 

 

5.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

The Council will continue to provide assistance to those who qualify for a DFG 

as laid down in legislation.  The adaptations funded will be considered as 

being the most appropriate, reasonable and cost effective way of meeting the 

assessed needs of the disabled person up to the maximum grant of £30,000.  

Where the applicant/ disabled person  wishes to carry out works to the 

property which are over and above those assessed by the Occupational 

Therapist (OT), the Council may, in circumstances where the alternative is 

considered appropriate and will meet the assessed needs of the disabled 

person,  offer financial assistance up to the  value of the assessed need.   

5.2 Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

This assistance of up to £10,000 may be available in conjunction with a 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant where the cost of the eligible works 

exceeds the current mandatory limit of £30,000. 

The applicant’s ability to afford the excess over the mandatory grant amount 

will be assessed by carrying out a means test of their resources.  This will 

include a means test of the resources of parents/guardians of disabled 

children applying for discretionary DFG top-up funding. 

5.3 Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

This provides non means tested financial assistance for disabled people for 

minor works with a value up to £7,000 that would be eligible for a mandatory 

disabled facilities grant.   

5.4 Moving on Assistance 

This assistance enables disabled people who would be eligible for a 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant to move to more suitable accommodation 

where it is considered more appropriate than providing funding through a 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant to adapt their existing home.    This 

funding of up to £10,000 may be used in conjunction with a Mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant to undertake eligible works to the new property. 

This may include circumstances where the existing accommodation is not 

reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet the needs of the 

disabled person. 

 

 

209



 

8 
 

5.5 Hospital Discharge Assistance 

This assistance is for people in hospital awaiting discharge back to their 

home, and provides up to £10,000 to fund urgent adaptations that allow 

access in and around the person’s home.  Other minor works which are 

needed to facilitate their discharge from hospital will also be considered e.g. 

one off clearance of hoarded properties and works to heating systems.  

5.6  Safe, Warm and Well 

This assistance is for owner occupiers over the age of 65, or those with 

chronic or severe health conditions affected by poor housing conditions 

(verified by a GP or medical professional), who need to undertake essential 

repairs to their home in order to remain safe and healthy.  Essential repairs 

are determined as a Category 1 (serious) or significant Category 2 (other) 

hazards as determined by the Housing Act 2004.  The maximum available 

funding is £8,000. 

Applicants must be in receipt of a qualifying benefit or have an annual 

household income after tax of below £23,250 

5.7 Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

This assistance provides aids and minor adaptations to the home which are 

designed to enable people diagnosed with dementia to manage their 

surroundings and maintain their independence.  The assistance is limited to 

£750 and not subject to a means test. 

5.8 Stair lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

Provides non means tested assistance for the installation of a stair lift and / or 

modular ramp where the person that meets the non-financial eligibility criteria 

for a mandatory disabled facilities grant.  The assistance is limited to a 

maximum of £7,000 per item.  

 

6.0 Eligibility Criteria and Conditions 

6.1 In this policy the term “assistance” means any form of financial assistance 

approved for the purpose of housing renewal, maintenance, improvement or 

adaptation.  “Condition” means any condition attached to any such 

assistance.   Any reference to “owner” or “person responsible” is taken to 

mean any owner or other person who is responsible for the relevant 

conditions either singly or jointly.  This includes the original person who 

applied for or received the assistance, as well as any other person who has 

subsequently become responsible for any condition as a result of acquiring 

the property or an interest in it. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

210



 

9 
 

6.2 The specific criteria for each form of assistance are detailed in appendix A.   

However, the following conditions will apply in all cases: 

a. Where stated, any financial assistance and related conditions will be 

secured as a legal charge against the property. A breach of conditions 

requires the repayment of all or part of the assistance.  This charge will 

not be removed until either the conditions expire or until the assistance 

is re-paid together with any interest or additional charges that may 

apply.   

b. A charge against the property is binding on any person who is for the 

time being an owner of the premises concerned.  Where a condition is 

broken, the Council has the usual powers and remedies in law to 

enforce the charge and secure payment of any amount due. 

c. Where any condition is in force, the Council may require the 

responsible person to provide any information to satisfy the Council 

that the condition is being complied with.  The Council can require this 

information in writing or in other reasonable form.  It is a condition that 

this information is provided in the form required within a reasonable 

timescale as specified by the Council and as fully, accurately and 

honestly as reasonably practicable.  Failure to comply with this 

requirement is a breach of conditions in itself and the assistance, or 

part of the assistance where specified, must be re-paid to the Council. 

d. It is for the person responsible for complying with any condition to 

demonstrate to the Council’s satisfaction that the condition is being 

complied with. Failure to do so will be treated as failure to comply with 

the condition.  The Council does not have the burden of having to 

prove that the condition is not being complied with.  

e. Conditions will generally be enforced in all cases.  Money repaid or 

recovered will be recycled back into the housing renewal capital 

programme. 

f. The approval of assistance does not give or imply the Council’s 

approval of any other consent that may be required, such as planning 

permission or building regulation consent.  It is the responsibility of the 

applicant to obtain any such consent as may be required.     

6.3   Any person making an application for assistance must: 

a. Be over the age of 18 years on the date of application 

b. Live in the dwelling which is subject to the application as their sole 

main residence 

c. Live within the district of South Kesteven.  

 

211



 

10 
 

 

6.4   Persons will not be eligible for assistance in the following circumstances: 

a. Where ownership of the dwelling is disputed 

b. Where the owner of the property has a statutory duty to undertake the 

necessary works to the dwelling and it is reasonable for them to do so. 

c. Where the proposed works would normally be covered by buildings 

insurance.  If before a grant is approved it is found that the applicant 

has submitted an insurance claim, the insurance company will be 

asked to confirm in writing the extent of the claim and their liability, if 

any.  The value of any housing assistance will be reduced by the 

amount equivalent to the insurance company’s liability. 

d. Where works have started before the formal approval of an application, 

except where in exceptional circumstances a defect may present a 

serious risk to health and safety. 

e. Where the proposed works are to repair any shed, outbuildings or 

appurtenances. 

f. Incomplete applications or applications lacking sufficient information 

will be refused. 

6.5 All cases will be considered on a case by case basis.  Incomplete applications 

or applications lacking sufficient information will be refused.  

6.6 Enquiries about how the policy is operated should be referred to the Head of 

Environmental in the first instance.  Appeals must be made in writing and 

detail the specific grounds on which the appeal is based.  

 

7.0  Making an Application and Payment of Assistance  

Applications must be made in writing on the appropriate form and must 

include original documentation where requested.   An application will only be 

considered complete once all of the relevant documentation has been 

provided.  

 

The Council may charge a fee for any professional services or charges 

incurred relating to the work for which the assistance is being sought e.g. 

obtaining proof of ownership, drawing of plans etc. This fee will be 

incorporated into the total assistance amount.   

The Council will make arrangements for contractors to undertake works, 

however, the contract agreement is between the applicant and contractor; the 

Council will not be liable for disputes arising between the parties. If the 

applicant elects to use their own contractor they must submit at least 2 written 

quotations from different contractors.   

Deleted: Health Service 
Manager 

212



 

11 
 

In the event of any disputes between the applicant and the contractor the 

Council will help to resolve these, however should this not be possible it may 

be necessary for the applicant to seek legal advice to remedy any dispute.      

 

The Council will normally arrange for grant payments to be made directly to 

contractors upon completion of works.  

 

 

8.0   Maintenance and Repair  

 

The quality of work undertaken by contractors appointed by the Council is 

guaranteed for a period of 12 months.  Some of the individual items may have 

their own extended warranties that are provided by the manufacturer.  It is the 

applicant’s responsibility to ensure that any extended warranties are applied 

for in accordance with the manufacturer’s guarantee.  Copies of 

guarantees/warranties will be provided to the applicant after completion of the 

works.    

 

The Council is not responsible for the ongoing maintenance or repair of any 

items.   

 

9.0 Data Protection 

All data will be held in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

The Council may investigate or formally verify any of the information provided 

in connection with any application for assistance. 

In order to progress an application it may be necessary to share information 

provided with other organisations that may assist with the grant process. 

These may include: 

Lincolnshire County Council – Adult Social Care or Children’s Services 
Lincolnshire Home Independence Agency or other Agencies appointed by 
applicants 
Relevant Government Departments 

 
The Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use the 

information provided for the prevention and detection of fraud.  It may also 

share this information with other bodies administering public funds solely for 

these purposes.  

 

 

 

213



 

12 
 

APPENDIX 1 – Details and Conditions of Assistance 

 

1. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

2. Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

3. Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

4. Moving on Assistance 

5. Hospital Discharge Assistance 

6. Safe, Warm and Well 

7. Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

8. Stair Lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

214



 

13 
 

1. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

 

Purpose:   Local housing authorities have a statutory duty to provide grant 

aid to disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations to 

their homes.   

 

Mandatory disabled facilities grants will be administered in 

accordance with the provisions of the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.   The following 

provides a summary of these provisions, but should be read in 

conjunction with the full Act.  

 

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £30,000. 

 

Applicant eligibility: All applicants must be eligible under the Act.   Applications must 

be supported by a referral from an Occupational Therapist 

confirming that the person is disabled for the purposes of the Act 

and that the proposed works are necessary and appropriate to 

meet the needs of the disabled person.    

 

Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet 

the needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable 

and practicable to carry out the works having regard to the age 

and condition of the property. The purposes for which a grant 

must be give are detailed in section 23 of the Housing Grants 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. 

 

Financial  

assessment: The grant is subject to a means test in accordance with the 

Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996, to determine the 

customer’s contribution towards the cost of the works.  The 

maximum grant including any contribution must not exceed 

£30,000. 

 

Application: Applications must be made on the relevant form and supported 

by a referral from an Occupational Therapist.   The Council will 

consult the Social Services Authority on all applications.  

 

 Applications may be made by owner occupiers, private tenants 

and Registered Social Landlord Tenants.  In the case of tenants, 

the landlord may make an application on their behalf.    

  

215



 

14 
 

 The Council will normally appoint a contractor, however, where 

the applicant chooses to use their own contractor, a minimum of 

two estimates must be submitted with the application.  

 

 Works must not commence until formal approval of the grant 

has been received by the applicant.  

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.    In 

some instances payments may be made in instalments and the 

balance (no less than 10% of the total cost of the eligible works) 

paid on satisfactory completion.  

The applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality 

of the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the 

Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently 

good standard the payment will be made.     

 

Conditions: The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular 

ramps and stair lifts from the property for re-use when they are 

no longer required by the disabled person.  This will be 

considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and 

condition of the item.  Where the items are not considered 

appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility of the 

householder/property owner to remove any items at their own 

cost. 

 

 Where the Council provides funding in excess of £5,000 that 

creates additional living space e.g. an extension or conversion 

of a garage or outbuilding, and where the applicant has an 

owner’s interest in the property, this will be registered as a local 

land charge against the adapted property, subject to a maximum 

of £10,000.  If the property is disposed of within 10 years of the 

completion of the works (as determined by the Council), re-

payment of the amount will be required.  

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

 All works must be completed within 12 months of approval.  

 

 

 

216



 

15 
 

 

2. Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance to a disabled 

person who qualifies for a mandatory disabled facilities grant 

where the cost of the eligible works exceeds the mandatory 

grant maximum of £30,000.    

 

Maximum amount: The maximum top up is £10,000. 

  

Applicant eligibility: Applicants must have an owner’s interest in the property and the 

disabled person (if different) must qualify for a mandatory 

disabled facilities grant where the value of the eligible works 

(including the client contribution and any fees if applicable) 

exceeds the mandatory grant maximum.   

 

Eligible works: Works funded by the top up must be eligible works which are 

necessary and appropriate to meet the disabled person’s needs 

as defined by the Housing Grants Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996. 

 

Financial  

assessment: The top up will be means tested using the prescribed test of 

resources applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants. 

Where the disabled person is a child, the parents/guardians will 

be means tested. 

 

Applications: Applications will be considered alongside an application for a 

mandatory disabled facilities grant.  

 

Payment: The discretionary top up will be paid as an additional amount to 

the mandatory disabled facilities grant under the same payment 

conditions. 

 

Conditions: The amount of the discretionary top up will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the 

property is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the 

works (as determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount 

will be required. 

 

Works must not commence until formal approval of the 

discretionary assistance and mandatory grant have been 

received by the applicant. 

217



 

16 
 

 

 

3. Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance for disabled 

occupants who do not have the financial resources to pay for 

necessary adaptations to help support them to remain 

independent in their home.  The discretionary assistance will 

fund minor works for those eligible for a mandatory disabled 

facilities grant. 

     

Maximum amount: The maximum amount of assistance is £7,000.  

 

Applicant eligibility: The disabled occupant must be eligible under the provisions of 

the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Applications must be supported by a referral from a Lincolnshire 

County Council Occupational Therapist.  

 

Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet 

the needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable 

and practicable to carry out the works having regard to the age 

and condition of the property. The purposes for which a grant 

may be given are those detailed in section 23 of the Housing 

Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. Any 

associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc 

will be included in the total assistance amount.   

 

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of 

the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council 

will inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good 

standard the payment will be made.    

 
Conditions: The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular 

ramps and stair lifts from the property when they are no longer 

required by the disabled person for re-use.  This will be 

considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and 

condition of the item.  Where the items are not considered 

218



 

17 
 

appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility of the 

householder/property owner to remove any such items at their 

own cost. 

 

 Only one application for discretionary assistance will be 

considered in any 12 month period (taken from date of 

approval).  

 

 Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by attaching 

a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the property is 

disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the works (as 

determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required.  This will be reduced by 10% for each complete year.  

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

Where the discretionary funding is no longer available, 

applications will be considered under the provisions of a 

mandatory disabled facilities grant.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

219



 

18 
 

 

 

4. Moving on Assistance 

 

Purpose: This discretionary assistance enables disabled people who 

would be eligible for a mandatory disabled facilities grant to 

move to more suitable accommodation, where it is considered 

more appropriate than providing funding through a mandatory 

disabled facilities grant to adapt their existing home. 

     

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £10,000 and may be used in 

conjunction with a mandatory disabled facilities grant to 

undertake eligible works to the new property. 

 

Applicant eligibility: Any disabled person who would be eligible for adaptation works 

under a mandatory disabled facilities grant 

Qualifying criteria: A referral for adaptation of the existing property must have been 

received from an Occupational Therapist. 

In the Council’s opinion, the existing property must be unsuitable 

for adaptation, in that it is not reasonably and practicably 

capable of being adapted to meet the needs of the disabled 

person. 

The applicant must have or propose to have an owner’s interest 

in new property.  The existing and new properties must be within 

South Kesteven District Council’s area, and be the permanent, 

main residence of the disabled occupant.    

In the opinion of the Council and in conjunction with the 

Occupational Therapist, the new property must be considered 

suitable for the needs of the disabled person or must be 

reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet 

the needs of the disabled person.   

The assistance can be used for the following eligible costs: 

 Legal and ancillary fees 

 Estate agent fees 

 Removal costs 

 

Financial  

220



 

19 
 

assessment: The assistance is subject to the prescribed test of resources 

applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants. Where the 

disabled person is a child, the parents/legal guardians will be 

means tested.  

 

Payment: Payment will be made to the applicant’s solicitor on exchange of 

contract so that funding is available for completion.   Evidence of 

the fees will be required prior to payment.  

 

Conditions:  This discretionary assistance may only be awarded once. 

Where an award has been made under this policy and prior to 

the exchange of contacts and the disabled person is no longer 

able to relocate to the new property e.g. they have moved into 

permanent care or deceased, the Council may decide to pay all, 

some or none of the assistance.  

The amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the new property.  If the 

property is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the 

purchase (as determined by the Council), re-payment of the 

amount will be required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

221



 

20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Hospital Discharge Assistance 

Purpose: This assistance is for people in hospital whose discharge is 

delayed due to the condition of their home.  The assistance may 

fund urgent adaptations that allow access in and around the 

person’s home by providing stair lifts or ramps.  Other minor 

works which are needed to facilitate their discharge from 

hospital will also be considered e.g. one off clearance of 

hoarded properties and works to heating systems.  

Maximum amount: The maximum grant is £10,000 

 

Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be in hospital and their discharge delayed.  

  

The application must be accompanied by a referral from a 

hospital Occupational Therapist or other suitably qualified 

professional confirming the urgent works that are required to the 

home to enable discharge. 

 

The property subject to the application must normally be 

occupied by the applicant on a permanent basis.   

 

Eligible works:  Eligible works include: 

 Stair lifts 

 Ramps and door widening to the essential doorways 

 Heating repairs or improvements 

 Clearance and one off deep clean of hoarded goods 

Other works will be considered which will facilitate the hospital 

discharge on a case by case basis.  

   

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint contractors to undertake the work and 

will pay them directly on production of satisfactory invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of 

the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council 

222



 

21 
 

will inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good 

standard the payment will be made.    

 
Conditions: If the cost of the works exceeds the maximum financial 

assistance the Council will liaise with the Occupational Therapist 

and/or relevant professionals to determine the priority works.   

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by attaching 

a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the property is 

disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the works (as 

determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required.  This will be reduced by 10% for each complete year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

223



 

22 
 

 

 

 

6. Safe, Warm and Well 

Purpose:  This assistance is for owner occupiers over the age of 65, or 

those with chronic or severe health conditions affected by poor 

housing conditions who need to undertake essential repairs to 

their home in order to remain safe and healthy.   

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £8,000. 

 

Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an owner occupier or private tenant with 

a full repairing responsibility. 

  

 The applicant must be over the age of 65 or have a chronic or 

severe condition exacerbated by the cold or poor housing 

conditions.  Evidence of the condition will be required e.g. 

letter/referral from a General Practitioner or other relevant health 

professional.  Examples of relevant conditions include: 

 

 Arthritis (osteo and rheumatoid, requiring regular 

treatment and review) 

 Cardiovascular disease (for example heart disease or 

stroke) 

 Respiratory disease (for example chronic bronchitis, 

severe asthma, emphysema or chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease)  

 

Eligible works: Essential repairs are determined as a Category 1 (serious) or 

significant Category 2 (other) hazards as determined by the 

Housing Act 2004, which affects the ability of the property to be 

safe, wind and weather proof.  Examples of works may include: 

 

 Heating repairs or replacement 

 Works to prevent falls  

 Roof repairs 

Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of 

title etc will be included in the total assistance amount.  

All properties will be subject to inspection and assessment by 

the Council or its agent. 

 

224



 

23 
 

 

 

Financial  
assessment: Applicants must or have an annual household income after tax 

of below £23,250 or be in receipt of one of the following 

Benefits: 

 
 Income Support  

 Income-based Employment and Support Allowance (not 

contribution-based ESA)  

 Income-based Jobseeker's Allowance (not contribution-

based JSA)  

 Guarantee Pension Credit (not Savings Pension Credit 

alone)  

 Housing Benefit  

 Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit provided 

that the annual income for the purposes of assessing 

entitlement to the tax credit is less than £16,010 (or any 

other subsequent threshold set as part of Working/Child 

Tax Credit)  

 Universal Credit  

 Attendance Allowance (with an income of the applicant 

and their partner [if applicable] after tax, below £23,250) 

 Disability Living Allowance  (with an income of the 

applicant and their partner [if applicable] after tax, below 

£23,250) 

 Carers Allowance  (with an income of the applicant and 

their partner [if applicable] after tax, below £23,250) 

 Personal Independence Payment (with an income of the 

applicant and their partner [if applicable] after tax,  below 

£23,250) 

 War Disablement Pension (which must include a mobility 

supplement or constant attendance allowance) 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor to undertake the eligible 

works. Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon 

satisfactory completion of the eligible works and approval of 

invoices.  The applicant must agree that they are satisfied with 

the quality of the work prior to payment.   If the applicant 

refuses, the Council will inspect the work and it we believes it is 

of sufficiently good standard the payment will be made.   

 

225



 

24 
 

Conditions: The applicant must have lived in the property for a minimum of 

12 months as their main residence. 

 

 Only one application for assistance will be considered within any 

3 year period (further applications may be considered at the 

discretion of the Service Manager, Environmental Health in 

exceptional circumstances). 

 

 The Council will not consider applications in respect of dwellings 

which have been built or converted less than 10 years from the 

date of application.  

 

Where works beyond the maximum assistance value are 

identified, the assistance will be prioritised based upon the 

hazard score and circumstances of the applicant.  Works must 

be reasonable and practicable having regard to the age and 

condition of the property.  

 

The amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the new property.  If the 

property is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the 

works (as determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount 

will be required. 

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

226



 

25 
 

 

 

 

7. Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

 

Purpose: This assistance will provide aids and adaptations in the home 

designed to enable people with a diagnosis of dementia to 

manage their surroundings and retain their independence.  

 

Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £750 

 

Applicant eligibility: Applicants must be owner occupiers or private tenants with a 

clinical diagnosis of dementia and referred by a General 

Practitioner, Dementia Support worker or other relevant health 

professional, confirming the works which are necessary and 

appropriate to support them to retain their independence.  

 

Eligible works: The Council will work with the relevant health professional to 

determine appropriate works on a case by case basis. This may 

include: contrasting coloured hand rails, thermostatic taps, 

lighting and door signage etc.  

  

Financial  

assessment:  This assistance is not subject to a means test 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor or work with a third party to 

undertake the eligible works. Payment will be made directly to 

the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the eligible works 

and approval of invoices.   

 

Conditions:  It must be reasonable and practicable to undertake the works. 

  

All works must relate to the applicants dementia needs and 

assist them to remain in their home independently for a longer 

period. 

 

   Only one application will be considered within any 3 year period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

227



 

26 
 

 

 

 

 

8. Stair Lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary non-means tested funding for disabled 

people who meet the non-financial criteria for a Mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant to install a stair lift and / or modular 

access ramp. 

 

Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £7000 per item. 

 

Applicant eligibility: The disabled occupant must be eligible under the provisions of 

the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Applications must be supported by a referral from a Lincolnshire 

County Council Occupational Therapist. 

 

Eligible works: The provision of a stair lift or modular access ramp (the “relevant 

works”) must be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs 

of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and 

practicable to carry out the works having regard to the age and 

condition of the property. The purposes for which a grant may 

be given are those detailed in section 23 of the Housing Grants 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. Any associated fees 

e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc will be included 

in the total assistance amount.   

 

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of 

the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council 

will inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good 

standard the payment will be made. 

 

Conditions: The Council may remove the items when they are no longer 

required by the disabled person for re-use.  This will be 

considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and 

condition of the item.  Where the items are not considered 

appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility of the 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,

Hanging:  3.81 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12

pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,

Hanging:  3.81 cm

228



 

27 
 

householder/property owner to remove any such items at their 

own cost. 

 

 Only one stair lift and / or modular access ramp will be provided 

per property in any 12 month period (taken from the date of 

approval of the assistance)   

The Council will not pay for any additional works associated with 

the installation without prior approval. 

Applications for this funding must be approved by 31 March 

2019.  Approval will be subject to available funding.  Where this 

discretionary funding is no longer available, applications will be 

considered under the provisions of a mandatory disabled 

facilities grant or other discretionary funding that may be 

available.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: First

line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12

pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12

pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  3.81 cm

229



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy – Independent Living to be temporarily revised until 1 April 
2019 to remove the means test and local land charge in respect or 
applications for stair lifts and modular access ramps.

(1) Details of Decision

The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living sets out 
how the Council will use its resources to assist residents in need of support to 
maintain independence in the home, reduce the need for support from social 
care and health services and/or prevent further deterioration in their 
conditions. 

The policy was approved by Cabinet on 12 October 2017 and delegated 
authority was given to the Cabinet Member for Housing to make any minor 
amendments to the policy that may be required to support its continued 
effectiveness.

As the policy has been in place for 1 year a review of its effectiveness has 
been undertaken. Currently, where a disabled person does not qualify for a 
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant as they have “failed” the financial means 
test to qualify, they can apply for discretionary disabled adaptations 
assistance of up to £7,000 for eligible works. However, a local land charge for 
the cost of the adaption, repayable upon sale of the property is levied. 

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The review proposes that the policy is temporarily revised in respect of stair 
lifts and modular access ramps (for applications approved prior to 1 April 
2019).  This will remove the financial means test and requirement for a local 
land charge to be attached to the property where the disabled person meets 
all other non-financial requirements for a mandatory disabled facilities grant 
and is supported by a recommendation from a Lincolnshire County Council 
Occupational Therapist. The policy with revisions highlighted is at Appendix 
1.

These relatively low cost adaptations, which can be quickly installed, do not 

231



add financial value to the home and in some instances the local land charge 
deters disabled people from making an application. Stair lifts and modular 
access ramps help to support independence, prevent falls and in turn can 
reduce avoidable hospital admissions or facilities a timely hospital discharge.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The funding for disabled facilities grants is provided through the 
Government’s Better Care Fund.  Alongside providing mandatory disabled 
facilities grants, the funding can be used to meet Better Care Fund 
Outcomes, namely that

 independence is supported and admission to residential care is 
minimised;

 funds are invested in out of hospital services to reduce avoidable 
admissions

 hospital discharge is timely and appropriate, reducing delays.
 

A temporary revision to the policy will enable the effectiveness of the revision 
to be assessed alongside the demand.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Nick Neilson 
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 05 November 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 06 November 2018

232



Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

14 November 2018

233



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: COUNCILLOR ADAM STOKES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE

REPORT AUTHOR: R WYLES, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 
FOR RESOURCES

REPORT NO. CFM479

DATE: 20 NOVEMER 2018

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

FUNDING PROPOSALS FOLLOWING THE CHANGES TO 
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE (CFM479)

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

COUNCILLOR ADAM STOKES, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

N/A

Full impact assessment 
required?

N/A
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

20 MARCH 2018 
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MI
d=3582&Ver=4 
19 APRIL 2018
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MI
d=3588&Ver=4
4 JUNE 2018 
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MI
d=3607&Ver=4

235

Appendix 4

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3582&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3582&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3588&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3588&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3607&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3607&Ver=4


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

The recent changes to the senior management structure have now been finalised and 
the new team has been fully introduced in order to drive forward the Council’s 
ambitions as set out in the newly adopted Corporate Strategy.  This process has 
inevitably occurred one-off costs during the year and the Employment committee has 
been kept fully informed of the cost implications as a result of introducing the necessary 
changes.  However, going forward, the new structure will provide the Council with an 
annual saving of circa £300K per annum when comparing the costs of the new senior 
team with the previous team arrangements.  Therefore the return on investment is less 
than 3 years and represents an overall positive return.

The costs incurred in the restructuring are £710K and it is proposed to fund this cost 
directly from the service improvement reserve which was established for this purpose. 

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

The Cabinet Member for Finance is asked to approve the funding of the changes to 
the senior management structure be financed from the service improvement reserve. 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

The proposed funding proposal detailed in this report ensures that the one-of costs 
have no impact on the General Fund expenditure and the proposal can be funded 
from the service improvement reserve. 

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

These are included in the report.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The report confirms that the use of the earmarked reserve is in accordance with the 
purposes for which the reserve was established.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Richard Wyles - Assistant Director – Resources
Tel: 01476 406210
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Monday 26th November date effective will be 
Wednesday 5th December 2019.

236

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the funding of the changes to the 
senior management structure be financed from the service 
improvement reserve.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for funding due to changes in the senior management 
structure to be funded from the service improvement reserve.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The recent changes to the senior management structure have now been 
finalised and the new team has been fully introduced in order to drive forward 
the Council’s ambitions as set out in the newly adopted Corporate Strategy.  
This process has inevitably occurred one-off costs during the year and the 
Employment committee has been kept fully informed of the cost implications 
as a result of introducing the necessary changes.  However, going forward, 
the new structure will provide the Council with an annual saving of circa 
£300K per annum when comparing the costs of the new senior team with the 
previous team arrangements.  Therefore, the return on investment is less 
than 3 years and represents an overall positive return.

The costs incurred in the restructuring are £710K and it is proposed to fund 
this cost directly from the service improvement reserve which was 
established for this purpose

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The proposed funding proposal ensures that the one-of costs have no impact 
on the General Fund expenditure and the proposal can be funded from the 
service improvement reserve. 

237



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Date of Decision: 26 November 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 27 November 2018

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

05 December 2018

238



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20 November 2018

Representations received from non-Cabinet Members 
(LDS335)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 29 November 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15    
Email: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 30 November 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk    
Date: 3 December 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
E-mail: matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 December 2018

SUMMARY

This report highlights any representations received from non-Cabinet Members since 
the Cabinet met on 1 November 2018.

239

Agenda Item 9

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

1. The Cabinet notes that prior to the publication of this agenda, no representation 
had been received from non-Cabinet Members since the last meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 1 November 2018

2. The Cabinet considers any representations received from non-Cabinet Members 
following publication of the agenda for this meeting.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council’s Constitution provides a facility for Councillors who are not 
Cabinet Members to make representations to the Cabinet. While it is not 
necessary for these Councillors to give notice that they intend to make a 
representation to the Cabinet, notice may be given as a courtesy. When notice 
has been given, details will be captured in this report.

1.2 Members will be updated on any representations received following the 
publication of the agenda and prior to the Cabinet’s meeting through an update 
report.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 No analysis has been completed. This report captures requests made by non-
Cabinet Members to make representations.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

240



8.1 The agenda for Cabinet meetings provides an opportunity for Councillors who 
are not Cabinet Members to make representations to the Cabinet. There is no 
requirement for any Member of the Council who wishes to make a 
representation to the Cabinet to give notice of their intentions.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

241



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

20 December 2018

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 December 2018 
to 30 November 2019 (LDS336)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 29 November 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15    
Email: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 30 November 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk    
Date: 3 December 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
E-mail: matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 December 2018

SUMMARY

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s forward plan for the period 1 December 
2018 to 30 November 2019 for decision or recommendation.

243

Agenda Item 10

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum requirements for 
publicity in connection with key decisions. The Council meets these legislative 
requirements through the monthly publication of its Forward Plan on the 
Council’s website.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make 
recommendations to Council or review the contents and take any necessary 
actions. While it is not a requirement to publish this information in the Forward 
Plan, it is the Council’s practice to do so.

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, 
items for consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s forward plan 
(attached as Appendix 1 to this report). The forward plan also includes details 
of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the 
plan period.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be 
undertaking. Where appropriate, analyses relevant to its decisions will be 
presented to Cabinet with reports as individual issues come forward.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

244



8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements to 
which Councils must adhere. Councils may use their discretion to publish 
information that exceeds the minimum requirements.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet Forward Plan: 1 December 2018 to 20 November 2019

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/regulation/9/made)

245

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/regulation/9/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 December 2018 to 30 November 2019

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

247

A
ppendix 1



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet - 20 December 2018

Council Tax Base 2019/20 (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2019/20, which will 
form the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year

20 Dec 
2018

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2019/20 budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire (Key Decision)
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Environment

Partnership working to 
deliver waste management 
services

20 Dec 
2018

To agree to sign-up to the 
Joint Municipal Waste Strategy 
for Lincolnshire

Environment
20 November 2018

Keith Rowe
Tel: 01476 40 63 70
E-mail: k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk

Financial Management 2018/19: Mid-year update (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Consideration of the mid-
year financial position for 
2018/19

20 Dec 
2018

To recommend in-year 
proposals to Council

Growth

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 17 January 2019

Draft Budget proposals 2019/20 
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Draft Budget 
Proposals for 2019/20

17 Jan 
2019

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for  2019/20  for 
consultation

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

248

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy

17 Jan 
2019

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Growth

Jane McDaid
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Proposed development brief for land at Stamford North (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Communications

To consider a draft 
development brief for land at 
Stamford North for 
consultation

17 Jan 
2019

To agree a draft development 
brief for land at Stamford North 
for consultation

Growth

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 31 January 2019

Financial Management 2018/19: Mid-year update
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Consideration of the mid-
year financial position for 
2018/19

31 Jan 
2019

To agree any in year proposals 
in respect of the Council’s 
budget

Growth

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet - 7 February 2019

Budget proposals 2019/20 (Budget framework - recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Final Budget 
Proposals for 2019/20

7 Feb 
2019

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

249

mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Council – 1 March 2019

Budget 2019/20 and Council Tax Setting (Budget and Policy Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the draft Budget 
for 2019/20 proposed by the 
Cabinet

1 Mar 
2019

To set Council Tax and agree 
a Budget for 2019/20

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Treasury Management Strategy (Policy Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the draft 
Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2019/20

1 Mar 
2019

To approve the Council’s 
Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2019/20

N/A – Governance & 
Audit Committee

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Pay Policy Statement (Policy Framework)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Pay 
Policy Statement for 2019/20

1 Mar 
2019

To approve the Council’s Pay 
Policy Statement for 2018/19

N/A – Employment 
Committee

Elaine Pepper
Tel: 01476 40 61 32
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 7 March 2019

Statement of Community Involvement (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Communications

Consideration of the draft 
Statement of Community 
Involvement in the context of 
feedback received during the 
public consultation period

7 
March 
2019

To adopt a Statement of 
Community Involvement 

Growth

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

250

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Communications

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

7 Mar 
2019

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm

Growth

Kevin Cartwright
Tel: 01476 40 63 90
E-mail: k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk
 

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling  (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider proposals for the 
refurbishment of the offices 
at St. Peter’s Hill, following 
the first phase of works to 
provide high quality public 
realm through to the new 
cinema 

Not 
before 
1 Jan 
2019

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Growth

Jane McDaid
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

Information relating to this 
decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it 
contains information which 
relates to the financial or 
business affairs of an 
individual or organisation

 

Not 
before 
1 Jan 
2019

Growth

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  

251

mailto:k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Leisure Centres
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council

The provision of new and 
enhanced leisure centres 
across South Kesteven

This report may include 
information that is exempt 
under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Not 
before 
1 Jan 
2019

To consider provision of new 
and enhanced leisure centres 
across South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Street lighting
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet 
Member for Environment

To consider 
recommendations made by 
the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
regarding the adoption of a 
street lighting policy for 
South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 Jan 
2019

To adopt a street lighting 
policy for South Kesteven

Environment
24 April 2018

Paul Stokes
Tel: 01476 40 64 10
E-mail: p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 Jan 
2019

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Local Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Communications

Consideration of the revised 
South Kesteven Local Plan 
following examination and 
notice of modifications

Council 
Not 
before 
1 May 
2019

To adopt the revised Local 
Plan for South Kesteven

Growth

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

252

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes from 1 November 2018
	4 Financial Management 2018/19: Mid-year update (Recommendation to Council)
	5 Council Tax Base 2019/20 (Recommendation to Council)
	6 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire (Key Decision)
	ENV710 - Appendix 1

	7 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	8 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	NKD - PD0094
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	KC PD00094 19.11.18
	Non Key Decision relating to mid-lent fairs in Grantham and Stamford 24t...
	Appendix 1 report outlining the results of the consultation on extending...
	Appendix 2 report outlining the results of the consultation on extending...
	NR SDG001a 31.10.18
	ENV707 revision PSH assistance policy
	appendix 1
	NN ENV707 05.11.18
	CFM479 NKD report
	AS CFM479 26.11.18

	9 Representations received from Non Cabinet Members
	10 Cabinet Forward Plan
	1 Dec 2018 to 30 Nov 2019 (2)


